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General information

Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) engage principally
in satellite television broadcasting and provision of internet and
outdoor media services.

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in
the Cayman Islands and domiciled in Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region of The People's Republic of China (“PRC").
The address of its registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive, PO. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands.

The Company is listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars
("HK$"), unless otherwise stated. These financial statements
were approved for issue by the Board of Directors on 15 March
2024.

Summary of material accounting policies

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation of
these consolidated financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years
presented, unless otherwise stated.

(a) Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have
been prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS") issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA"). They have been prepared under the historical
cost convention, except for the revaluation of investment
properties and financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with HKFRS requires use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise
its judgement in the process of applying the Group's
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial
statements, are disclosed in Note 4.
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2 Summary of material accounting policies
(Continued)

(b) Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures

HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRS that
are first effective for the current accounting period of the
Group.

(i)

Effect of adopting new standards and
amendments to standards effective in 2023

HKAS 1 (Revised) Disclosure of Accounting
(Amendments) Policies
HKAS 8 (Amendments) Definition of Accounting
Estimates
HKAS 12 (Amendments) Deferred Tax related to Assets

and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

Except for the impact mentioned below, the
adoption of the other new or revised standards and
amendments of HKFRS stated above did not have
any material impact to the Group’s consolidated
financial statements in the current and prior periods.
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2 Summary of material accounting policies 2 EXRSTHBERBIE (&)
(Continued)
(b) Changes in accounting policies and (b) SETBREIFEES)
disclosures (Continued) (&)
(i) Effect of adopting new standards and (i) MR 2023 FERZ2H

amendments to standards effective in 2023
(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 12 “Deferred Tax related
to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction”

The amendments clarify that the initial recognition
exemption of deferred tax in HKAS 12 “Income
Taxes” does not apply to transactions that give
rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences, such as lease contracts that give
rise to the recognition of a lease liability and the
corresponding right-of-use assets and contracts
that give rise to the recognition of decommissioning
obligations and corresponding amounts recognised
as assets. Instead, entities are required to recognise
the related deferred income tax assets and liabilities
on initial recognition, with the recognition of any
deferred income tax assets being subject to the
recoverability criteria in HKAS 12 “Income Taxes"

The Group adopted the amendments from 1 January
2023 and are required to recognise the associated
deferred income tax assets and liabilities from
leases that occurred on or after 1 January 2022 from
the beginning of the earliest comparative period
presented, with any cumulative effect recognised as
an adjustment to retained earnings at that date.
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2 Summary of material accounting policies 2 EXRSTHBERBIE (&)
(Continued)
(b) Changes in accounting policies and (b) SETBREIFEED
disclosures (Continued) (%)

(i) Effect of adopting new standards and (i) MR 2023 FERZ2H
amendments to standards effective in 2023 ZAIREABITHNZE
(Continued) (#&)

Amendments to HKAS 12 “Deferred Tax related BB EETEAE 1255 (15
to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single FIAR) B G EER
Transaction” (Continued) BE R A B B89
(%)
Prior to the application of the amendments, TEFERZZEETAR - A
the Group had recognised the deferred income SERFRELEEAEE
tax assets and liabilities arising from leases on HIELEMSMEERS
a net basis. Following the requirements of the & - RFEZFIEEI AN
amendments, the Group has recognised deferred RE AEBEDRERHE
income tax liabilities in relation to its right-of-use 20221 A1 BEFAEE
assets as at 1 January 2022 and has only recognised EHANELERSHAE
deferred income tax assets to the extent that it is & » WEPFERT & A1 7]
probable that taxable profit will be available against EhiSie e ok
which the deductible temporary difference can be RrERER - HEERRE
utilised. The impact of the retrospective adjustments FTSTEE - AEBIREKR
of the changes in accounting policies on the BB ERIFTRR
items and amounts in the consolidated financial ML EHAR AR & B TSR
statements for the comparative period, which WIHE R eRBHMEETHUR
were prepared by the Company in accordance with SEREPARNTZEN
HKFRSs, is as follows: s 8
Consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December R20214#F 12431 H
2021/1 January 2022 S 2022F 1 A1 H A A
BREREX

Carrying Restafed

amounts canving

as at amounts as

31 December at 1 January

2021 Impact of 2022 (after the

(beforethe  amendments amendments)

amendments) to HKAS 12 %2022 F

N20215128 BEEER 1188

M AMEREE $12% (BT KEIREE

ltems EH (1B:TRI) &) % (B:T#)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FAT FHIT FTAT

Deferred income tax assets EREFREREAE 120,125 11,670 131,795
Total equity ks (5,414,427) (11,670) (5,426,097)
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2 Summary of material accounting policies 2 EXRSTHBERBIE (&)
(Continued)
(b) Changes in accounting policies and (b) SETBREIFEES)
disclosures (Continued) (&)

(i) Effect of adopting new standards and (i) MR 2023 FERZ2H
amendments to standards effective in 2023 R R EASET S &
(Continued) (%)

Amendments to HKAS 12 “Deferred Tax related BEEEERE 125 (15
to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single FIAR) B G EER
Transaction” (Continued) BER B EIE R ELH
IH[(#)
Consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December M2022412 A31 B /2023
2022/1 January 2023 F1A1 BN EEAR
=
Carrying Restated
amounts carrying
as at amounts as at
31 December 31 December
2022 Impact of 2022
(before the amendments (after the

amendments) to HKAS 12 amendments)

R2022% FEEER n2022 5

12A31H $12%% 128318

HEREE (BEA) KEFREE

ltems EH CHED opZ CCHES)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TET T TET

Deferred income tax assets BRFEHERE 104,719 11,208 115,927
Total equity B (4,429,894) (11,208) (4,441,102)
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2 Summary of material accounting policies
(Continued)

(b) Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures (Continued)

(i)

Effect of adopting new standards and
amendments to standards effective in 2023

(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 12 “Deferred Tax related
to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single

Transaction” (Continued)

Consolidated income statement for the year ended

31 December 2022

Items

Income tax expenses
Loss for the year

Loss attributable to the owners
of the Company for the year

Basic and diluted loss per share,

Hong Kong cents
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2 EXRSTEERESE (&)

(b) =FTBEERIFFELE
(%)
(i) MR 2023 FERZ2H
R R EASTHE
(&)
BEEEERE 125 (15
AR E—X G EER
BER B EIE R ELH
IH[(#)
EE 20224 12 531 A1
FERARE W
Amounts Amounts
for the for the
year ended year ended
31 December 31 December
2022 2022
(before the Impact of (after the
amendments) amendments amendments)
HZ  toHKAS 12 8%
2022 EHBETEL 2022 %
12A31H B12% 12A31H
LHFEENFE (BFTAR)  LLFEMRIE
(53T A1) HEE (85T #)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FHT FHT
29,820 (758) 29,062
(447633) 758 (446,875)
(382,500) (840) (383,340)
(76.60) (0.16) (76.76)
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2 Summary of material accounting policies 2
(Continued)

(b) Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures (Continued)

(ii) Amendments to standards and interpretations
not yet effective for the Group and have not been
early adopted by the Group

The following Amendments to standards and
interpretations have been issued but are not yet
effective for the financial year ended 31 December
2023 and have not been early adopted by the Group:

HKAS 1 (Amendments) Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current

HKAS 1 (Amendments) Non-current Liabilities with Covenants "
HKAS 7 (Amendments) Cashflow Statement
HKAS 21 (Amendments)  The Effects of Changes in Foreign

Exchange Rates ?

HKFRS 7 (Amendments)  Financial Instruments
HKFRS 16 (Amendments)  Leases "

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial Statements
(2020) - Classification by the Borrower of a
Term Loan that Contains a Repayment
on Demand Clause "

HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between

(Amendments) an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture ©
(i Effective for annual periods beginning on 1 January
2024
@ Effective for annual periods beginning on 1 January
2025
&) Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a

date to be determined

These amendments to standards and interpretation
are not expected to have a material impact on the
Group in the current or future reporting periods.
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2 Summary of material accounting policies

(Continued)

(c) Subsidiaries

(i)

Consolidation

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured
entity) over which the Group has control. The Group
controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or
has rights to, variable returns from its involvement
with the entity and has the ability to affect
those returns through its power over the entity.
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on
which control is transferred to the Group. They are
deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

(a)

Business combinations

The Group applies the acquisition method
to account for business combinations. The
consideration transferred for the acquisition
of subsidiaries is the fair values of the
assets transferred, the liabilities incurred to
the former owners of the acquiree and the
equity interests issued by the Group. The
consideration transferred includes the fair
value of any asset or liability resulting from
a contingent consideration arrangement.
Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination are measured initially at their fair
values at the acquisition date.
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2 Summary of material accounting policies
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(Continued)

(c) Subsidia

ries (Continued)

(i) Consolidation (Continued)

(a)

Business combinations (Continued)

The Group recognises any non-controlling
interest in the acquiree on an acquisition-by
acquisition basis. Non-controlling interests
in the acquiree that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of the entity’s net assets in
the event of liquidation are measured at either
fair value or the present ownership interests’
proportionate share in the recognised amounts
of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All
other components of non-controlling interests
are measured at their acquisition date fair
value, unless another measurement basis is
required by HKFRS.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred.

If the business combination is achieved in
stages, the acquisition date carrying value of
the acquirer’s previously held equity interest
in the acquiree is re-measured to fair value at
the acquisition date; any gains or losses arising
from such re-measurement are recognised in
profit or loss.
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2 Summary of material accounting policies

(Continued)

(c) Subsidiaries (Continued)

(i) Consolidation (Continued)

(a)

Business combinations (Continued)

Any contingent consideration to be transferred
by the Group is recognised at fair value at
the acquisition date. Subsequent changes to
the fair value of the contingent consideration
that is deemed to be an asset or liability
is recognised in accordance with HKAS
39 either in profit or loss or as a change to
other comprehensive income. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is no
remeasured, and its subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity.

The excess of the consideration transferred,
the amount of any non-controlling interest in
the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value
of any previous equity interest in the acquiree
over the fair value of the identifiable net assets
acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the total
of consideration transferred, non-controlling
interest recognised and previously held
interest measured is less than the fair value of
the net assets of the subsidiary acquired in the
case of a bargain purchase, the difference is
recognised directly in the consolidated income
statement.
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(Continued)

(c) Subsidia

ries (Continued)

(i) Consolidation (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Business combinations (Continued)

Intra-group transactions, balances and
unrealised gains on transactions between
group companies are eliminated. Unrealised
losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the transferred asset. When
necessary, amounts reported by subsidiaries
have been adjusted to conform with the
Group's accounting policies.

Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries
without change of control

Transactions with non-controlling interests that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted
for as equity transactions — that is, as
transactions with the owners of the subsidiary
in their capacity as owners. The difference
between fair value of any consideration paid
and the relevant share acquired of the carrying
amount of net assets of the subsidiary
is recorded in equity. Gains or losses on
disposals to non-controlling interests are also
recorded in equity.
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2 Summary of material accounting policies

(Continued)

(c) Subsidiaries (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Consolidation (Continued)

(c)

Disposal of subsidiaries

When the Group ceases to have control, any
retained interest in the entity is re-measured
to its fair value at the date when control is
lost, with the change in carrying amount
recognised in profit or loss. The fair value is
the initial carrying amount for the purposes
of subsequently accounting for the retained
interest as an associate, joint venture or
financial asset. In addition, any amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in respect of that entity are accounted
for as if the Group had directly disposed of
the related assets or liabilities. This may mean
that amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to
profit or loss.

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost
less impairment. Cost includes direct attributable
costs of investment. The results of subsidiaries
are accounted for by the Company on the basis of
dividend received and receivable.
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2 Summary of material accounting policies
(Continued)

(d)

236

Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group
has significant influence but not control, generally
accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and
50% of the voting rights. Investments in associates are
accounted for using the equity method of accounting.
Under the equity method, the investment is initially
recognised at cost, and the carrying amount is increased
or decreased to recognise the investor’'s share of the
profit or loss of the investee after the date of acquisition.

If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but
significant influence is retained, only a proportionate
share of the amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss
where appropriate.

The Group's share of post-acquisition profit or loss
is recognised in the consolidated income statement,
and its share of post-acquisition movements in
other comprehensive income is recognised in other
comprehensive income with a corresponding adjustment
to the carrying amount of the investment. When the
Group's share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds
its interest in the associate, including any other unsecured
receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses,
unless it has incurred legal or constructive obligations or
made payments on behalf of the associate.

The Group determines at each reporting date whether
there is any objective evidence that the investment in
the associate is impaired. If this is the case, the Group
calculates the amount of impairment as the difference
between the recoverable amount of the associate and
its carrying value and recognises the amount in the
consolidated income statement.

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

EXSTHBRME (&)

NG

BERREAEEHEFEKR
FEONMEZHENER B
B B 20% £50% 1% F
HSCHE o Bt R RO E DARE
BEFDEAR - REEE G
& RENBIAKAETER - M
AR TEI B 75 152 508 7 3 SRR DA HE 2R
KREERIGERREECEWER
HiR B -

ANESE & A Bl B 1 A AR R
BNRBEATZEN RE
12t 5 i 2 AT AE Ho At 2 T W s
FRANSEEEN S EEER
(IEE ) °

755 [ FE A U S 12 10 ) 3K S
BREZEA Wa R AR - e
1R 12 At 2 T M E A
AR B 2 W st N RERR -
HEREWEREEFELAES
B MAKEEE—HBERQ
AN ERS N BB EE L
EREINER  BREEAMEMD
BEWERHIR  AEEI S
BERE—TER  RIFREE
HE 2 NP D ELERAMETE
BEERE REE QR HRA
AtERG ©

AEBERBHRE B HE TN B
ERAZRERBAEMEE
BIEER © WP ERERE -
AEESRBERFTREE
REHREE ZRAERE
TR YRR WaERERE
BAEHER -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 Summary of material accounting policies
(Continued)

(d)

(e)

Associates (Continued)

Profits and losses resulting from upstream and
downstream transactions between the Group and
its associates are recognised in the Group's financial
statements only to the extent of unrelated investor’s
interests in the associates. Unrealised losses are
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies
of associates have been changed where necessary to
ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the
Group.

Gains or losses on dilution of equity interest in associates
are recognised in the consolidated income statement.

Joint ventures

The Group has applied HKFRS 11 to all joint arrangements.
Under HKFRS 11 investments in joint arrangements
are classified as either joint operations or joint ventures
depending on the contractual rights and obligations each
investor. The Group has assessed the nature of its joint
arrangements and determined them to be joint ventures.
Joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method.

Under the equity method of accounting, interests in joint
ventures are initially recognised at cost and adjusted
thereafter to recognise the Group's share of the post
— acquisition profits or losses and movements in other
comprehensive income. \WWhen the Group's share of losses
in a joint venture equals or exceeds its interests in the
joint ventures (which includes any long-term interests that,
in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment
in the joint ventures), the Group does not recognize
further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made
payments on behalf of the joint ventures.
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(e)

Joint ventures (Continued)

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group
and its joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the
Group's interest in the joint ventures. Unrealised losses
are also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Accounting policies of the joint ventures have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who
is responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments, has been
identified as the executive directors that make strategic
decisions.

Foreign currency translation
(i) Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each
of the Group's entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements
are presented in HK$, which is the Company'’s
functional and the Group's presentation currency.
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2 Summary of material accounting policies
(Continued)

(g) Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(ii)

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into
the functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions or
valuation where items are remeasured. Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the
translation at yearend exchange rates of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in the consolidated
income statement.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate
to borrowings, cash and cash equivalents and
other assets and liabilities are presented in the
consolidated income statement within “Other gains/
(losses), net”

Translation differences on non-monetary financial
assets and liabilities such as equities held at fair
value through profit or loss are recognised in the
consolidated income statement as part of the
fair value gain or loss. Translation differences on
nonmonetary financial assets such as equities
classified as fair value through other comprehensive
income are included in other comprehensive
income.
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(Continued)

(g) Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(iii)

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the Group
entities (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency
are translated into the presentation currency as
follows:

(a)

assets and liabilities for each balance sheet
presented are translated at the closing rate at
the date of that balance sheet;

income and expenses for each income
statement are translated at average exchange
rates (unless this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of
the rates prevailing on the transaction dates,
in which case income and expenses are
translated at the dates of the transactions);
and

all resulting exchange differences are recognised
in other comprehensive income.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at

the ¢

losing rate. Exchange differences arising are

recognised in other comprehensive income.
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2 Summary of material accounting policies
(Continued)

(9)

(h)

Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(iv) Disposal of foreign operation and partial disposal
On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a
disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign
operation, or a disposal involving loss of control
over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation,
a disposal involving loss of joint control over a joint
venture entity that includes a foreign operation, or a
disposal involving loss of significant influence over
an associate that includes a foreign operation), all of
the exchange differences accumulated in equity in
respect of that operation attributable to the equity
holders of the Company are reclassified to profit or
loss.

In the case of a partial disposal that does not result
in the Group losing control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation, the proportionate
share of accumulated exchange differences are
re-attributed to non-controlling interests and
are not recognised in profit or loss. For all other
partial disposals (that is, reductions in the Group’s
ownership interest in associates or joint ventures
that do not result in the Group losing significant
influence or joint control) the proportionate share of
the accumulated exchange difference is reclassified
to profit or loss.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical
cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly
attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other
repairs and maintenance are charged in the consolidated
income statement during the financial period in which
they are incurred.
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(Continued)

(h) Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

No depreciation is provided on assets under construction
until they are completed and are available for use. No
depreciation is provided on freehold land. Depreciation
of property, plant and equipment is calculated using the
straight-line method to allocate their cost to their residual
values over their estimated useful lives at annual rates, as
follows:

2.05-3.33%
shorter of 6.67% — 33.3% or
over the terms of the leases

Buildings
Leasehold improvements

15% - 20%
10% - 33.3%

Furniture and fixtures
Broadcast operations and

other equipment
Motor vehicles 20% - 25%
LED panels 10% - 11.1%
Aircraft 71%

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset’'s carrying amount
is greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note
2(m)).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and
are recognised within “Other gains/(losses), net” in the
consolidated income statement.
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(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 Summary of material accounting policies
(Continued)

(i)

Investment properties

Investment property, principally comprising leasehold
land and buildings, is held for long-term rental yields or
for capital appreciation or both, and that is not occupied
by the Group. It also includes properties that are being
constructed or developed for future use as investment
properties. Land held under operating leases are
accounted for as investment property when the rest of
the definition of an investment property is met. In such
cases, the operating leases concerned are accounted
for as if they were finance leases. Investment property
is initially measured at cost, including related transaction
costs and where applicable borrowing costs. After initial
recognition, investment properties are carried at fair
value, representing open market value determined at
each reporting date by external valuers. Fair value is
based on active market prices, adjusted, if necessary,
for any difference in the nature, location or condition of
the specific asset. If the information is not available, the
Group uses alternative valuation methods such as recent
prices on less active markets or discounted cash flow
projections. Changes in fair values are recorded in the
consolidated income statement as part of a valuation gain
or loss in “Other gains/(losses), net"
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())

Intangible assets

(i)

(ii)

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an
acquisition over the fair value of the Group's share of
the net identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities of the acquiree and the fair value of the
non-controlling interest in the acquiree at the date of
acquisition. Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries
is included in “intangible assets” Goodwill is tested
annually for impairment and carried at cost less
accumulated impairment losses. Impairment losses
on goodwill are not subsequently reversed. Gains
and losses on the disposal of an entity include the
carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity
sold.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for
the purpose of impairment testing. The allocation is
made to those cash-generating units or groups of
cash-generating units that are expected to benefit
from the business combination in which the goodwill
arose identified according to operating segment.

Licences

Separately acquired licences are shown at historical
cost. Licences acquired in a business combination
are recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
Licences have a finite useful life and are carried at
cost less accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate
the cost of licences over their estimated useful lives
of two to ten years.

Acquired computer software licences are capitalized
on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and
bring to use the specific software. These costs are
amortised over their estimated useful lives of two to
four years.
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2 Summary of material accounting policies
(Continued)

() Intangible assets (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

Contractual customer relationships

Contractual customer relationships acquired in a
business combination are recognised at fair value
at the acquisition date. The contractual customer
relations have a finite useful life and are carried at
cost less accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is
calculated using the straight-line method over the
expected life of the customer relationship of three
years.

Club debentures

Acquired club debentures are intangible assets with
an indefinite useful life. They are therefore shown
at historical cost and are not amortised. Impairment
assessments on club debentures are carried out
by comparing their recoverable amounts with their
carrying amounts annually and whenever there
is an indication that the intangible assets may be
impaired.

Computer software

Costs associated with maintaining computer
software programmes are recognised as an expense
as incurred.

Directly attributable costs that are capitalised as
part of the software product include the software
development employee costs and an appropriate
portion of relevant overheads.

Other development expenditures that do not meet
these criteria are recognised as an expense as
incurred. Development costs previously recognized
as an expense are not recognised as an asset in a
subsequent period.

Computer software development costs recognized
as assets are amortised over their estimated useful
lives, which do not exceed three years.
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(k)

Purchased programme and film rights

Purchased programme and film rights are recorded at cost
less accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses.
Cost of film rights is expensed in the consolidated income
statement on the first and second showing and cost of
purchased programme is expensed in the consolidated
income statement by amortising the cost over the licence
period on a straight line basis.

Purchased programme with licence period of 12 months
or less and film rights with economic lives of 12 months
or less are classified as current assets.

Self-produced programmes

Self-produced programmes are stated at cost less any
impairment losses. Cost comprises direct production
expenditures and an appropriate portion of production
overheads. Programmes in production that are abandoned
are written off in the consolidated income statement
immediately, or when the revenue to be generated
by these programmes is determined to be lower than
cost, the cost is written down to recoverable amount.
Completed programmes will be broadcast over a short
period of time and their costs are expensed in the
consolidated income statement in accordance with a
formula computed to write off the cost over the broadcast
period.
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2 Summary of material accounting policies 2 EXRSTHBERBIE (&)
(Continued)

(m) Impairment of investments in subsidiaries, m RMTBAA - BEEAQ

associates, joint ventures and non-financial
assets

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are
not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for
impairment. Assets that are subject to amortisation are
reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not
be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the
amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds
its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the
higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value
in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets
are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are
separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units).
Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered
an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the
impairment at each reporting date.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries,
associates or joint ventures is required upon receiving
dividends from these investments if the dividend exceeds
the total comprehensive income of the subsidiary,
associate or joint venture in the period the dividend is
declared or if the carrying amount of the investment in
the separate financial statements exceeds the carrying
amount in the consolidated financial statements of the
investee's net assets including goodwill.
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(n)

Financial instruments

(i)

Financial assets
Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the
following measurement categories:

° those to be measured subsequently at fair
value (either through other comprehensive
income (“OCI") or through profit or loss); and

° those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity's business
model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses
will either be recorded in profit or loss or OCI. For
investments in equity instruments that are not held
for trading, this will depend on whether the Group
has made an irrevocable election at the time of initial
recognition to account for the equity investment
at fair value through other comprehensive income
("FVOCI").

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and
only when its business model for managing those
assets changes.
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2 Summary of material accounting policies
(Continued)

(n) Financial instruments (Continued)

(i)

Financial assets (Continued)
Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on trade-date, the date on which the
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.

The Group derecognises a financial asset only
when the contractual rights to the cash flows from
the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial
asset and substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the
Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to
control the transferred asset, the Group continues
to recognise the asset to the extent of its continuing
involvement and recognises an associated liability.
If the Group retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial
asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial
asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing
for the proceeds received.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial
asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL"),
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs
of financial assets carried at FVPL are expensed in
profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are
considered in their entirety when determining
whether their cash flows are solely payment of
principal and interest.
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2 Summary of material accounting policies

(Continued)

(n) Financial instruments (Continued)

(i) Financial assets (Continued)

Measurement (Continued)

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group's business model for
managing the asset and the cash flow characteristics
of the asset. There are three measurement
categories into which the Group classifies its debt

250

instruments:

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for
collection of contractual cash flows where
those cash flows represent solely payments
of principal and interest are measured at
amortised cost, which include trade and
other receivables, amounts due from related
companies and bank balances. Interest income
from these financial assets is included in
finance income using the effective interest
rate method. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition is recognised directly in profit
or loss and presented in “Other gains/(losses),
net” together with foreign exchange gains and
losses.

2

BEASTHEME (&)

(n)

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

MBI A (&)
() EBEE ()
52 ()

ERBITE

B TAMBEFZEVR
RALEEEIEEENER

BAREBEENSR

B AEEREEHKTA
DRB=EFTERH :

B AWK
RAENHEREN
FEMNEENRE
MEEREEZRHM
BENR(BEES
Ko EL A PR MURROR
FEd B RAE X B
T8 N SRAT A ER)
AlZSEEREH
ARG 8 o ZEH
BEENF B KA
RABERRA RIAGT
ABTEWN o 48 1E
T AR EE A ORI
SRBEREENE
PR - A SN
W K EE R
[HEflas, (&
18) FEI5IR



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e TR M EE

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (BRIEHFRIEER - @ BB ITSIE)

2 Summary of material accounting policies 2 EXRSTHBERBIE (&)
(Continued)
(n) Financial instruments (Continued) (n) BA%TA (&)
(i) Financial assets (Continued) (i) HKEE (&)
Measurement (Continued) irZ (&)

Debt instruments (Continued) B TH (B)

FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows and for selling the
financial assets, where the assets’ cash
flows represent solely payments of principal
and interest, are measured at FVOCI.
Movements in the carrying amount are taken
through OCI, except for the recognition of
impairment gains or losses, interest income
and foreign exchange gains and losses which
are recognised in profit or loss. When the
financial asset is derecognised, the cumulative
gain or loss previously recognised in OCl is
reclassified from equity to profit or loss and
recognised in “Other gains/(losses), net”
Interest income from these financial assets is
included in finance income using the effective
interest rate method. Foreign exchange gains
and losses are presented in “Other gains/
(losses), net”
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2 Summary of material accounting policies
(Continued)
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(n)

Financial instruments (Continued)

(i)

Financial assets (Continued)
Measurement (Continued)
Debt instruments (Continued)

° FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria
for amortised cost or FVOCI| are measured
at FVPL. A gain or loss on a debt investment
that is subsequently measured at FVPL is
recognised in profit or loss and presented net
within “Other gains/(losses), net” in the period
in which it arises.

Equity investments

The Group subsequently measures all equity
investments at fair value. Where the Group's
management has elected to present fair value gains
and losses on equity investments in OCI, there is no
subsequent reclassification of fair value gains and
losses to profit or loss following the derecognition
of the investment. Dividends from such investments
continue to be recognised in profit or loss as “Other
gains/(losses), net” when the Group’s right to
receive payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVPL
are recognised in “Other gains/(losses), net” in
the consolidated income statement as applicable.
Impairment losses (and reversal of impairment
losses) on equity investments measured at FVOCI
are not reported separately from other changes in
fair value.
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e TR M EE

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 Summary of material accounting policies
(Continued)

(n)

Financial instruments (Continued)

(i)

Financial assets (Continued)
Measurement (Continued)
Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis
the expected credit losses associated with its
debt instruments carried at amortised cost. The
impairment methodology applied depends on
whether there has been a significant increase in
credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the
simplified approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which
requires expected lifetime losses to be recognized
from initial recognition of the receivables.

Impairment on financial assets measured at
amortised cost other than trade receivables is
measured as either 12-month expected credit losses
or lifetime expected credit losses, depending on
whether there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition. If a significant
increase in credit risk of a receivable has occurred
since initial recognition, then impairment is
measured as lifetime expected credit loss.

When there is a significant increase in credit
risk or the proceeds receivables are not settled
in accordance with the terms stipulated in the
agreements, management considers these
receivables as underperforming or nonperforming
and impairment is measured as lifetime expected
credit loss.

When management considers that there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery, the financial
assets measured at amortised cost will be written
off.
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2 Summary of material accounting policies
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(n)

(0)

Financial instruments (Continued)
(ii) Derivatives

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on
the date a derivative contract is entered into and
are subsequently remeasured to their fair value at
the end of each reporting period. Changes in the
fair value of derivative instruments are recognized
immediately in profit or loss.

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net
amount reported in the balance sheet when there is a
legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts
and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The legally
enforceable right must not be contingent on future events
and must be enforceable in the normal course of business
and in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of
the Group or the counterparty.

Inventories

Inventories, comprising decoder devices, satellite
receivers and merchandised goods, are stated at the lower
of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined using
the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method. The cost of inventories
comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and
other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their
present location and condition. Net realisable value is the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business,
less applicable variable selling expenses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e TR M EE

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (BRIEHFRIEER - @ BB ITSIE)

2 Summary of material accounting policies 2 EXRSTHBERBIE (&)
(Continued)
(@) Accounts and other receivables () FEURERE X N E th fE U 7%

Accounts receivable are amounts due from customers for
goods sold or services performed in the ordinary course
of business. If collection of accounts and other receivables
is expected in one year or less (or in the normal operating
cycle of the business if longer), they are classified as
current assets. If not, they are presented as non-current
assets.

Accounts and other receivables are recognised initially
at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method, less provision
for impairment. The Group assesses on a forward looking
basis the expected credit losses associated with its
financial assets. The impairment methodology applied
depends on whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified
approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which requires expected
lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition of
the receivables.

The Group's other financial assets carried at amortised
cost include other receivables and amounts due from
related companies. The impairment loss of other financial
assets carried at amortised cost is measured based on
the twelve months expected credit loss. The twelve
months expected credit loss is the portion of lifetime
expected credit loss that results from default events on
a financial instrument that are possible within twelve
months after the reporting date. However, when there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since origination,
the allowance will be based on the lifetime expected
credit loss. See Notes 21 and 22 for further information
about the Group's accounting for accounts and other
receivables and Note 3(a)(ii) for a description of the
Group's impairment policies.
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()

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits
held at call with banks, and other short-term highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months or
less.

Deferred income

Deferred income represents contract liabilities in relation
to advertising revenue, subscription revenue and
promotion service revenue received in advance from third
party customers while the underlying services are yet to
be provided under HKFRS 15.

Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new
shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net
of tax, from the proceeds.

When the Company reacquires its own equity instruments,
the amount of the consideration paid, which includes directly
attributable costs, is recognised as a deduction from equity.
Repurchased shares are classified as treasury shares and are
presented in the treasury share reserve. No gain or loss shall
be recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or
cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments. Such
treasury shares may be acquired and held by the Group.
Consideration paid or received shall be recognised directly in
equity.

Accounts payable, other payables and
accruals

Accounts payable, other payables and accruals are
recognised initially at fair value and subsequently
measured of amortised cost using effective interest
method.
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(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 Summary of material accounting policies
(Continued)

(V)

(w)

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
carried at amortised cost; any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
value is recognised in the consolidated income statement
over the period of the borrowings using the effective
interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the
reporting period.

Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and
deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the consolidated income
statement, except to the extent that it relates to items
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity. In this case the tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis
of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the
balance sheet date in the countries where the Company,
its subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures operate
and generate taxable income. Management periodically
evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to
situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to
interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate
on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax
authorities.
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(w

) Current and deferred income tax

(Continued)

Deferred income tax is recognised using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts
in the consolidated financial statements. However, the
deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises from
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction
other than a business combination that at the time of the
transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or
loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates
(and laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted
by the balance sheet date and are expected to apply when
the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the
deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences can be
utilised.

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided on temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, except where the timing of
the reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by
the Group and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred
income taxes assets and liabilities relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority on either the taxable
entity or different taxable entities where there is an
intention to settle the balances on a net basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 Summary of material accounting policies
(Continued)

(x) Employee benefits

(i)

Pension obligations

The Group operates defined contribution retirement
schemes for the Hong Kong employees based on
local laws and regulations. Contributions to the
schemes by the Group and employees are calculated
as a percentage of employees’ basic salaries.
The retirement benefit schemes’ costs expensed
in the consolidated income statement represent
contributions paid or payable by the Group to the
funds.

The Group's contributions to the defined contribution
retirement schemes are expensed as incurred and
are reduced by contributions forfeited by those
employees who leave the schemes prior to vesting
fully in the contributions. The assets of the schemes
are held separately from those of the Group in
independently administered funds. The Group has no
further payment obligations once the contributions
have been paid.

Pursuant to the relevant local regulations of the
countries where the overseas subsidiaries of the
Group are located, these subsidiaries participate in
respective government retirement benefit schemes
and/or set up their own retirement benefit schemes
(the “Schemes"”) whereby they are required to
contribute to the Schemes to fund the retirement
benefits of the eligible employees. Contributions
made to the Schemes are calculated either based on
certain percentages of the applicable payroll costs
or fixed sums for each employee with reference to a
salary scale, as stipulated under the requirements in
the respective countries. The Group has no further
obligation beyond the required contributions. The
contributions under the Schemes are expensed in
the consolidated income statement as incurred.
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(x) Employee benefits (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Bonus plans

The expected bonus payments are recognized
as a liability when the Group has a present legal
or constructive obligation as a result of services
rendered by employees and a reliable estimate of
the obligation can be made.

Liabilities for bonus plans are expected to be settled
within 12 months and are measured at the amounts
expected to be paid when they are settled.

Share-based compensation

The Group operates a number of equity-settled,
share-based compensation plans, under which
the entity receives services from employees as
consideration for equity instruments (options) of
the Group. The fair value of the employee services
received in exchange for the grant of the options
is recognised as an expense with a corresponding
credit to the employee share-based payment
reserve. The total amount to be expensed is
determined by reference to the fair value of the
options granted:

° including any market performance conditions;

° excluding the impact of any service and
nonmarket performance vesting conditions (for
example, profitability, sales growth targets and
remaining an employee of the entity over a
specified time period); and

° including the impact of any non-vesting
conditions.

2

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

EXSTHBRME (&)

(x) EE®EF (&)

(ii)

(iii)

TEALET &

B RFEAL TN A S
7R AE R R 8 iR (AR
BMELMREEESHE
FEURE - WEATS B
FHEREEN SRR
RAME-

TEATEH Bl B TR
1218 8PS LR
EENBESE S S
S -

LARR 7 32 3 B9 6 18

REBHEITE T AR
BRI AN S {E R
g B AEEBEE
ERRBE /AN R E RS
TA (Bt mRE-
7R 5= B A% B s 7 B
SE R B IR A TR ToHE
BIEER - WHEB AR
DAV BIREFHALA
MRREHERRTR © STIHAAR
BH2EZER L BAED
NFEMERE :

. BEEABERE
et

o PEREMRE R
MEERRER
B0 (Bl 4n 2 7 ge
h o HERERR
Ko FE B E B
NNERERER
ZREEB) mEE:
)53

. HBAEAEBEE
f -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e TR M EE

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 Summary of material accounting policies
(Continued)

(x)

(iii)

Employee benefits (Continued)

Share-based compensation (Continued)

The fair value of options, at the time of grant is
expensed over the vesting period of these share-
based awards based on an accelerated graded
attribution approach. Under the accelerated graded
attribution approach, each vesting installment of
a graded vesting award is treated as a separate
share-based award, which means that each
vesting installment will be separately measured
and attributed to expense, resulting in accelerated
recognition of share-based compensation expense.

Cancellation of share options accompanied by the
grant of replacement share options is accounted for
as a modification of the terms of the cancelled share
options. The compensation costs associated with
the modification are recognised if either the original
vesting condition or the new vesting condition has
been achieved. Such compensation costs cannot
be less than the grant-date fair value of the original
share options. The incremental compensation cost
is measured as the excess of the fair value of the
replacement share options over the fair value of
the cancelled share options at the cancellation
date. Therefore, in relation to the modification, the
Group recognises share-based compensation over
the new vesting periods, which comprises (i) the
amortisation of the incremental portion of share-
based compensation over the remaining vesting
term and (ii) any unrecognised compensation cost
of original share option, using either the original
term or the new term, whichever is higher for each
reporting period.
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2 Summary of material accounting policies
(Continued)

262

(x)

(y)

Employee benefits (Continued)
(iii) Share-based compensation (Continued)

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
revises its estimates of the number of options that
are expected to vest based on the non-marketing
performance and service conditions. It recognises
the impact of the revision to original estimates, if
any, in the consolidated income statement, with a
corresponding adjustment to equity.

When the options are exercised, the Company
issues new shares. The proceeds received net of any
directly attributable transaction costs are credited to
share capital.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when: the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events;
it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required
to settle the obligation; and the amount has been reliably
estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future
operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement
is determined by considering the class of obligations as a
whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of
an outflow with respect to any one item included in the
same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the
provision due to passage of time is recognised as interest
expense.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 Summary of material accounting policies
(Continued)

(2)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable, and represents amounts receivable
for goods supplied and services rendered, stated for the
sale net of discounts and after eliminating sales within the
Group.

The Group recognises revenue when the performance
obligations are satisfied by transferring control of a
promised good or service to customer.

(i)

(i)

Advertising revenue

Advertising revenue is recognised upon the
broadcast or posting of advertisements. The Group
primarily delivers advertisements through telecast
on television, its website and outdoor LED panels.
This performance obligation is satisfied over time
as the advertisers receive and consume benefits
simultaneously provided by the Group when the
advertisements are broadcasted or posted. The
Group applies output method to measure the
revenue. To apply the output method, the transaction
price specified in each contract is allocated into
different advertising timeslots. Each timeslot has its
value determined in the rate cards.

The Group provides other advertising services
allowing customer to post media contents on
the integrated media operating platform. This
performance obligation is satisfied at a point in time
when the media contents are posted.

Mobile, video and wireless value added services
income

Mobile, video and wireless value added services
income are recognised in the period in which the
performance obligation is satisfied by transferring
control of a promised service or recognised evenly
in the subscription period.
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2 Summary of material accounting policies
(Continued)

(2)

264

Revenue recognition (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

Subscription revenue

Subscription revenue received or receivable from
the cable distributors or agents is amortised on a
time proportion basis to the consolidated income
statement. The unamortised portion is classified as
deferred income.

Magazine advertising revenue

Magazine advertising revenue is recognised when
the advertisements are posted in accordance with
the contract advertising period. The Group applies
output method to recognise revenue.

Magazine subscription/circulation revenue

Magazine subscription or circulation revenue
represents subscription or circulation money received
or receivable from customers and is recognised
when the respective magazine is sold.

Sales of decoder devices and satellite receivers

Revenue from sales of decoder devices and satellite
receivers is recognised on the transfer of control on
the goods, which generally coincides with the time
when the goods are delivered to customers and the
title has passed.

Barter revenue

Barter revenue is recognised at the fair value of
goods or services received or receivable in the
transaction upon the broadcast of advertisements,
the publishing of the magazine or the provision of
promotion services to be provided by the Group in
the barter transaction.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e TR M EE

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 Summary of material accounting policies
(Continued)

(2)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

(viii) Rental income

(ix)

(x)

(xi)

Rental income from investment property is
recognised in the consolidated income statement on
a straight- line basis over the term of the lease.

Tuition revenue

Tuition revenue for educational programs and
services is recognised when the performance
obligation is satisfied by transferring control of
promised services.

IT consultancy service revenue

The Group provides business IT management,
design, implementation and support services under
fixed-price contracts. Revenue from providing
services is recognised in the accounting period in
which the services are rendered. The revenue is
recognised based on the actual service provided to
the end of the reporting period as a proportion of the
total services to be provided because the customer
receives and uses the benefits simultaneously. This
is determined based on the actual labour hours
spent relative to the total expected labour hours.

Financing components

The Group does not expect to have any contracts
where the period between the transfer of the
promised goods or services to the customer and
payment by the customer exceeds one year. As a
consequence, the Group does not adjust any of the
transaction prices for the time value of money.
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2 Summary of material accounting policies

266

(Continued)

(aa) Leases

The Group as lessee

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding liability at the date at which the leased
asset is available for use by the Group.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease
components. The Group allocates the consideration in the
contract to the lease and non-lease components based on
their relative stand-alone prices.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities
include the net present value of the following lease
payments:

° fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

° variable lease payment that are based on an index or
a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as
at the commencement date;

° amounts expected to be payable by the Group under
residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group
is reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

° payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if
the lease term reflects the Group exercising that
option.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e TR M EE

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (BRIEHFRIEER - @ BB ITSIE)

2 Summary of material accounting policies 2 EXRSTHBERBIE (&)
(Continued)

(aa) Leases (Continued) (aa) HHE (&)

The Group as lessee (Continued)

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain
extension options are also included in the measurement
of the liability. The lease payments are discounted using
the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be
readily determined, which is generally the case for leases
in the Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate
is used, being the rate that the individual lessee would
have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an
asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar
economic environment with similar terms, security and
conditions.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
following:

° the amount of the initial measurement of lease
liability;

° any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives
received,;

° any initial direct costs; and
o restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the
shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on
a straight-line basis. If the Group is reasonably certain
to exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use asset is
depreciated over the underlying asset'’s useful life.

Payments associated with short-term leases of equipment
and vehicles and all leases of low-value assets are
recognised on a straight-line basis as an expense in
profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a lease
term of 12 months or less. Low-value assets comprise T
equipment and small items of office equipment.
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2 Summary of material accounting policies 2
(Continued)

(ab) Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable
to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets, which are assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended
use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until
such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale. Investment income earned on the
temporary investment of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from
the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they are incurred.

(ac) Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company's shareholders is
recognised as a liability in the Group’s and the Company'’s
financial statements in the period in which the dividends
are approved by the Company’s shareholders or directors,
where appropriate.

3 Financial risk management 3

(a) Financial risk factors

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: market risk (including foreign exchange risk, PRC
regulatory risk, cash flow and fair value interest rate
risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The
Group's overall risk management programme focuses
on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to
minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial
performance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

3 Financial risk management (Continued)

(a)

Financial risk factors (Continued)

Risk management is mainly carried out by the finance
department (the “Finance Department”) headed by the
Chief Financial Officer (“CFQ") of the Group. The Finance
Department identifies and evaluates financial risks in close
co-operation with the Group’s operating units to cope with
overall risk management, as well as specific areas, such
as foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk,
use of derivative financial instruments and non-derivative
financial instruments, and investing excess liquidity.

(i) Market risk
(a)  Foreign exchange risk

The Group operates internationally and is
exposed to foreign exchange risk arising
from various currency exposures, primarily
with respect to the Renminbi (“RMB") and
U.S. dollar ("US$"). Foreign exchange risk
arises from future commercial transactions,
recognised assets and liabilities and net
investments in foreign operations.
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3 Financial risk management (Continued)

(a) Financial risk factors (Continued)

(i) Market risk (Continued)

(a)

270

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

To manage their foreign exchange risk arising
from future commercial transactions and
recognised assets and liabilities, entities in
the Group engage in transactions mainly in
HK$, RMB and US$ to the extent possible. The
Group currently does not hedge transactions
undertaken in foreign currencies but manages
its exposure through constant monitoring
to limit as much as possible the amount of
its foreign currencies exposures. Foreign
exchange risk arises when future commercial
transactions and recognised assets and
liabilities are denominated in a currency
that is not the entity's functional currency.
The Finance Department is responsible for
monitoring and managing the net position in
each foreign currency.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

3 Financial risk management (Continued)

(a) Financial risk factors (Continued)

(i) Market risk (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

The Group has certain investments in foreign
operations, whose net assets are exposed
to foreign currency translation risk. Currency
exposure arising from the net assets of the
Group's operations, such as those in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"), the
United Kingdom and the United States is
managed primarily through operating liabilities
denominated in the relevant foreign currencies.

If the functional currency of the group entities
had weakened/strengthened by 5% (2022:
5%) against the foreign currency of the net
monetary assets of corresponding group
entities, with all other variables held constant,
aftertax profit for the year would have been
HK$155,274,000 (2022: HK$122,975,000)
higher or lower.

Price risk

The Group is exposed to listed securities
price risk because certain investments held by
the Group are classified on the consolidated
balance sheet as financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss. The Group has
investment in the equity of a publicly traded
entity. For further details of price risk exposed
by the Group, please refer to Note 25.
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3 Financial risk management (Continued)

(a) Financial risk factors (Continued)

(i) Market risk (Continued)

(c)

272

PRC regulations

The Group is exposed to certain macroeconomic
and regulatory risks and uncertainties in the
Chinese market. These uncertainties affect the
ability of the Group to provide online advertising,
mobile and Internet related services, and
educational programs and services through
contractual arrangements in the PRC since
these industries remain highly regulated. The
Chinese government may issue from time to
time new laws or new interpretations on existing
laws to regulate this industry. Regulatory risk
also encompasses the interpretation by the
tax authorities of current tax law, the status of
properties leased for the Group’s operations
and legal structure and scope of operations
in the PRC, which could be subject to further
restrictions resulting in limitations on the Group's
ability to conduct business in the PRC. The PRC
government may also require the Group to
restructure its operation entirely if it finds that
the Group's contractual arrangements do not
comply with applicable laws and regulation. It
is unclear how a restructuring could impact the
Group's business and operating results, as the
PRC government has not yet found any such
contractual arrangements to be non-compliant.
However, any such restructuring may cause
significant disruption to the Group’s business
operations.
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(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

3 Financial risk management (Continued)

(a) Financial risk factors (Continued)

(i) Market risk (Continued)

(d)

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risks

The Group's cash flow and fair value interest
rate risks primarily arise from bank deposits
(Note 26), receivable from Shenzhou (Note
22), and bank borrowings (Note 32(a)). Bank
deposits placed, bank borrowings and amounts
due from Shenzhou issued at variable rates
expose the Group to cash flow interest-rate
risk whereas bank deposits placed at fixed
rates expose the Group to fair value interest-
rate risk. The Finance Department’s policy is to
maintain an appropriate level between fixed-
rate and floating-rate deposits and use interest
rate swap contract to manage certain cash
flow interest rate risks.

At 31 December 2023, with all other variables
held constant, if the interest rates of interest
bearing assets had increased/decreased by
1%, after-tax profit for the year would have
been HK$7946,000 (2022: HK$11,426,000)
higher or lower.

At 31 December 2023, with all other variables
held constant, if the interest rates of interest
bearing liabilities had increased/decreased by
1%, aftertax profit for the year would have
been HK$458,000 (2022: HK$69,000) lower or
higher.

3 MBEREE (&)

(@) FBRAREE (&)

() TEEE ()

(d)

B mE R FE
T

AEBHBRESRE
KA FEF R R R
FTERBITIER
(FIE26) - rEU 1S
M IE (M 7E22)
KIRITEE (M
320) EE A
TRFIEHRITIE
oo RITEERE
W FRIA 1S A
SEAERHRESR
SR ER R -
EEEFERRTT
GRESAEEZA
E¥ A FEFER
% o B TS ERFT A9 BR
RBHEFEEKE
Y [E] & Fl 2 I 0% B
FRFF - W IAF]
RIFHENE RS
TR & REFER

B o

20234 12 A 31
B EFAEME
HHIETE BN
T Wt BREEZ
MEgEH T
F$1% @ B ANFEE
R 5 1% S 13 358 0
3k & 4 7946,000
B T (20224 :
11,426,000/67T) ©

720234 12 A 31
B EFAHEME
BHERFTE BN
T Mzt BBaEz
MERFT EH /T
1% + BN F E K
T 18 8 F 5 Rk A sk
# H1458,000 7 JT
(20224 : 69,000
BIT) °
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3

274

Financial risk management (Continued)

(a)

Financial risk factors (Continued)

(ii)

Credit risk

The Group's credit risk arises from cash and cash
equivalents, amounts due from related companies,
deposits with banks and financial institutions, as
well as credit exposures to advertising agents
and customers, including outstanding receivables
and committed transactions. The Group has a
receivable from an advertising agent, Shenzhou,
in the PRC amounting to HK$329,504,000 (2022:
HK$217,864,000) representing approximately 4.9%
(2022: 3.0%) of the total assets of the Group as
of 31 December 2023. The Group manages its
exposure to credit risk through continual monitoring
of the credit quality of its customers and advertising
agents, taking into account their current and
expected financial positions, business environment
and industry performance, current and forward
looking economic factors, collection history, past
experience and subsequent settlements of debtors
and Shenzhou. For banks, financial institutions and
issuers of derivative financial instruments, only
reputable well established banks and financial
institutions are accepted.

The Group has put in place policies to ensure that
the sales are made to customers with an appropriate
credit history and the Group performs periodic credit
evaluations of its customers.

3

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

BHERERE (&)

(a)

R RE = (8)

(ii)

FERR

AEBREERBRIRER
ReERBFLEFMEEE - &
e B RAE A RIFUE ~ 3B
TR ERTT R A TS # A Y
BH - AREERER
EEMEARR (B1EX
1838 B U FRE R 1T
BEEGERIRS) o 12023
F12A318  REERE
W rp B R X A A
A 329,504,000 7% 7T
(2022 % : 217,864,000
B A K E A
& B #494.9% (20224 -
3.0%) - NEBEFEBFFE
ERHEPRESRERN
EREX  TEREEN
e R TEHAR ASARR -~ A
EIRBERITERI - B
RATHE A ERE = ~ GR
FEE - BAELBREBA
RN EZEE BT -
EEEEHNEERR
FLERTT « ITSHEIE R HTAE
W TAMNEITEMS
REBEEEFEHARTESE
HIAI B ER1T I B TS Mg o

AEE BRI EBER A
BRAAFEEEEESL
MEPEITHE - MAE
BT e HEERPET
SE R -
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3 Financial risk management (Continued)

(a) Financial risk factors (Continued)

(ii)

Credit risk (Continued)

Most of the payment terms for advertising revenue
are agreed between the Group and the customers
at the beginning of year. Customers make payments
in accordance with the contract terms. The Group
generally requires its advertising customers in the
television broadcasting segment to pay in advance.
Customers of other business segments are given
credit terms of 30 to 180 days.

To measure the expected credit losses, accounts
receivable are grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics and the days past due. The expected
loss rates are based on the historical payment
profiles and the corresponding historical credit
losses. The historical loss rates are adjusted to
reflect current and forward-looking information on
macroeconomic factors and industry trends affecting
the ability of the debtors to settle the outstanding
balance. The Group has assessed the expected
credit losses for these trade receivables.

Except for certain trade debtors, management
considered the credit risk of trade receivables, other
receivables and amount due from related companies
as low as counterparties have a strong capacity to
meet their contractual cash flow obligations in the
near term. The Group has assessed the expected
credit losses for these other receivables and amount
due from related companies under 12 months
expected losses.

See Note 20 for further disclosure on credit risk.

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

3 MBEREE (&)

(@) FBRAREE (&)

(ii)

FERR ()

AEMA ZEESRARS
SR EIRASEE
LEFHE - BPBRIE
FIEFHETTEAT - N5
EEFERTCHEEERED
HrESEPEEMNK
HEBOENRFES
F30E180 HHZEH] -

EUBRARERIERREE
RS E N B By
B URERBEES
18- BHEEERERES
FFREIUA S AR FE R 52
EEEE -BELEREE
HITHE  URBEER
FHEBREEFRENNE
BOBERZWEATMATIE
HER - AEE AL
ERUESNEREERS

8o

BET B S RERIRN
EEERREEER &
1t & KUK IR e 8 LA e
REAFBEAEEERR -
RS F BTz E
NERERERFEMNEE
He REBHDRE12(E
AEHERE - FELE
HAt 8 UK IR e e WA
BRERFENEREREES
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BRAEERERE — T
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3 Financial risk management (Continued)

(a) Financial risk factors (Continued)

(iii)

276

Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies
maintaining sufficient cash and cash equivalents, the
availability of funding through an adequate amount
of committed banking facilities and the ability to
close out market positions. Due to the dynamic
nature of the underlying businesses, the Finance
Department aims to maintain flexibility in funding
by keeping committed banking facilities available.
Details of cash and cash equivalents and banking
facilities are set out in Notes 28 and 32 respectively.

The table below analyses the Group’s non-derivative
financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings
based on the remaining period at the balance
sheet date to the contractual maturity date. The
amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual
undiscounted cash flows.

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

BHERERE (&)

(@) FBRAREE (&)

(iii)

REBEEEM

RERPECRERERE
wRrENREAEE
EIHE @ LRTEGSER
HERTTEEREME TS
BRTEMEET - AN
REXBHREIEE - 875
HRPYE BB T B ARTT
EERFESZORDIE -
RekReFEBRBAR
RITEEFHE D RIEHT
FT28 %32 -

TRIEEMIHEAES S
FAREERIENTEN B R
& DIRERGEERESR
#BH B et T B E
8o ZRARENSEY
REHRBRASRE -

More than More than
one year two years
but not but not
Within exceeding exceeding More than
one year two years five years five years
—F%E MEHRR
—FR TRBWE TRBRE BBRE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR THET THET THAT
Group s
At 31 December 2023 R2023%12A31A8
Accounts payable, other SRR - EffER
payables and accruals SR RFERT T 1,038,489 - - -
Bank borrowings BITEE 54,905 - - -
Loans from non-controlling [HEINGE 2GS
shareholders of subsidiaries REER 140,362 1,144 - -
Lease liabilities HEaE 183,337 161,914 285,515 198,192
At 31 December 2022 R2022%€12831H
Accounts payable, other FESBRSR - EffEft 1,195,736 = = =
payables and accruals HE R e TR
Bank borrowings BITEE 6,534 = - 2,371
Loans from non-controlling Pt 2 Al AR AR R
shareholders of subsidiaries ~ JEHEH 144,606 10,491 - 21,780
Lease liabilities HERE 209,442 160,726 386,845 160,498
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3 Financial risk management (Continued)

(b) Capital management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and
to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost
of capital. Total capital is calculated as “equity” as shown
in the consolidated balance sheet plus borrowings.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, adjust the
amounts of borrowings or issue new shares.

Fair value estimation

The table below analyses financial instruments carried at
fair value, by valuation method. The different levels have
been defined as follows:

° Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities (level 1).

° Inputs other than quoted prices included within level
1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly or indirectly (level 2).

° Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based
on observable market data (that is, unobservable
inputs) (level 3).

The Finance Department reviews the valuations of the
Group's financial instruments. The Finance Department
holds discussion with the independent valuers on the
valuation assumptions and valuation results when
the valuation is performed at each interim and annual
reporting dates.

e B HRRME

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

3 MBEREE (&)

(b)

(c)

BEARER

AEENEAEEBRRRRE
AEBOFELLEEN - U@
IRERRE O - W HERFREER
RIEBABDEARHKA - 48
BRAERGEAREERBRMAD
Z [#ez | I EEEmMETE -

REFXRARERRE A%
B aE & AR E T FACRE
BEe®E REBEARTER:
HEEEZ SBNBEITHRLD ©

AT
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MHZHE CREFHE)
(FB14R) »
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3 Financial risk management (Continued) 3 HRERERERE ()
(c) Fair value estimation (Continued) ) AFEE (8)

278

The following table presents the Group’s financial assets

that are measured at fair value at 31 December 2023.

T&R27%)7M 2023612 A31 8
BAFEFENEAEBIBEE
E °

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E14R F28 #3R st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEx TET TEx TEx
Financial assets BREE
Financial assets at fair value through ~ RAFEZEBERTE
profit or loss Wt EE
—Trading equity securities - HEENRAES 19,232 - - 19,232
- Convertible redeemable preferred - ARAER
shares BER - - 339 339
- Other investments - EftiRE - - 66,157 66,157
- Structured deposits - BEEER - 461,498 - 461,498
19,232 461,498 66,496 547226

The following table presents the Group'’s financial assets
that are measured at fair value at 31 December 2022.

T&RE25)M 2022412 A31 8
BEAFEFENAEBPEE
§ °

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F1R Fo F3IR @zt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T TEL FHL T
Financial assets BKEE
Financial assets at fair value through R AP EEREZE
profit or loss TRNBEE
~Trading equity securities - HEERRA 14,821 = = 14,821
i
- Convertible redeemable preferred — AR AT EE ]
shares B - - 331 331
- Other investments - Hiig & - - 72,419 72,419
- Structured deposits — BB IETE R = 927603 = 927603
14,821 927603 72,750 1,015,174

During the year ended 31 December 2023, there were no
transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers into or
out of Level 3 (2022: Same).

REZE2023F 12 A31HIEF
& WS AR 24 2
o A2 3 4% (2022
F :FHR) e
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3 Financial risk management (Continued)

(c) Fair value estimation (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Financial instruments in level 1

The fair value of financial instruments traded in
active markets is based on quoted market prices
at the balance sheet date. A market is regarded
as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly
available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry
group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, and
those prices represent actual and regularly occurring
market transactions on an arm's length basis. The
quoted market price used for financial assets held by
the Group is the current bid price. These instruments
are included in level 1. As at 31 December 2023,
instruments included in level 1 comprise shares
of HSBC Holdings PLC (“HSBC"), an entity
listed on the Stock Exchange, of approximately
HK$19,232,000 (2022: HK$14,821,000) (Note 25).

Financial instruments in level 2

The fair values of structured deposits are determined
by valuation techniques that use observable inputs
such as the price of gold in London Gold Market and
London Interbank Offered Rate that are observable
at commonly quoted intervals.

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

3 MBEREE (&)
() AFEM[E (&)

(i)

(ii)

E1RANEBETR

EERMISH R F K
TEMAFERENGEE
He S mESE - R
B LAR S s E H
HRHWE - LEiHmE -
KA EXEE- K
BRI BB AT
S THELREBE
EREERAFETIER S
PR - ZmisAIER A
TEIR o ANEE AR
BEFANMSHRELE
THE - ZBATEABNE
14% o 7220234 12 A 31
B MAFIHFPEHT
B BEELIERERA
Al (DEL ] —BEREER
FrEmeEeE) kM
{8 {H #719,232,00078 7T
(2022 % : 14,821,000
70) (BisE25) °

F2RANMBE TR

RBIETF R A FHER A
HERMERE - AR
ERREEETSNES
BI% - mBRITRAERE
FARE RORERRHEM
EERNABRG AR
iz e
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3 Financial risk management (Continued)

(1)

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

BHERERE (&)

(c) Fair value estimation (Continued) (c) DAFEHET (B)

(iii) Financial instruments in level 3 (iii) FEIZ/ANHBIA
Quantitative information about fair value (1)  BEEHT A&
measurements using significant unobservable ) F Za A ZIRA
inputs (Level 3) nFEEE (3

R) BEZER
Value of Relationship of
Fair value at Valuation Unobservable  unobservable unobservable
Description 31 December 2023 technique(s) inputs inputs inputs to fair value
R2N23E FIRE AUEEN
12A318 FUE% DN ] BABES
it HATE B HEAgE MHE ATEMNBR
HK$'000
T
Other investments 66,157 Market approach and N/A N/A N/A
HitRg price derived from NaR il NaR
observable market
transactions
5 EREEE
AR ARHHER
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3 Financial risk management (Continued)

(c) Fair value estimation (Continued)

(iii) Financial instruments in level 3 (Continued)

(1) Quantitative information about fair value

e ISR

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

3 MBEREE (&)
(c) RFEfLE (B)

(iii) FE3PANHMKETE ()

(1)  BREEATATEER

measurements using significant unobservable OEE-T 0N ¢ 3
inputs (Level 3) (Continued) BN FlEEE (£
3R) B EEEH
(#&)
Value of Relationship of
Fair value at Vialuation Unobservable ~ unobservable unobservable
Description 31 December 2022 techniquels) inputs inputs inputs to fair value
R22%F AIEE AERH
128318 FIBR MEAZE WAZEE
il MATE EIE IEPN 4 HIEH(E NHEMEE
HKS'000
ThL
Convertible 331 Market approach Lack of marketability 20% The lower the DLOM
redeemable ik discount [“DLOM") the higher the fair value
preferred shares BHENTE B HERTRGE
TARTREELR T
\olatility 50%  The lower the volatility, the
it higher the fair value
RIEE - ATEER
Other investments 72419 Market approach and N/A N/A N/A
HitiRg price derived from i NaR NaR
observable market
transactions
aEREAHE
MER A RHHER
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3 Financial risk management (Continued) 3 HRERERERE ()
(c) Fair value estimation (Continued) (c) RY¥EMET (8)
(iii) Financial instruments in level 3 (Continued) (iii) SFE3IFAMNFKEITE (H)
(1) Quantitative information about fair value (1)  BEEHT A&
measurements using significant unobservable B+ ZAE
inputs (Level 3) (Continued) BN FlEEE (£
3K) HIEZEEH
(#%)
As at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2023412 A 31
2022, the Preferred Shares represent HX%2022%F 128
investments in Series D1-2 convertible 31 H - EERREK
redeemable preferred shares of Particle Inc. ZNEE B Particle Inc.
(“Particle”) by the Group. ([Particle]) 2z D1-2
I AR AR AT fE )
BEREL 21K
An independent professional valuer adopted B EEMERE
the market approach to first estimate the HRAMSENE S
equity value of Particle, which was then & 5T Particle 2 A%
allocated to Particle’s common shares and ANEE: #imKH
Preferred Shares using the option pricing and 2022 FLAHAREE(B
binomial models in 2022. RZEARNXEZ

2 B2 Z Particle Z
LR B TR o
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3 Financial risk management (Continued)

(c)

Fair value estimation (Continued)

(iii)

Financial instruments in level 3 (Continued)

3 MBEREE (&)
(c) RFEfLE (B)

(iii)

E3RMANMB IR (8)

(1) Quantitative information about fair value (1)  BEEHT A&
measurements using significant unobservable OEE-T 0N ¢ 3
inputs (Level 3) (Continued) BN FlEEE (£

3R FIEEER
(#&)
The following table presents the changes in TREIEIRT
level 3 instruments during the year ended 31 AR B £2023F
December 2023. 12A318 L& E
B -
Convertible
redeemable
preferred Other
shares  investments Total
AR
Bl HEREY A Hiti& st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
FHET FHT FHExT
(Note 25)
(BfzE25)
Opening balance on R2023F1A1H
1 January 2023 ZFEAEERR 331 72,419 72,750
Fair value loss recognised RErERERPERZ AT
in consolidated income BEE
statement - (6,574) (6,574)
Currency translation EHsE =R
differences 8 312 320
Closing balance on M2023F 12 A31H
31 December 2023 2 ER GRS 339 66,157 66,496
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3 Financial risk management (Continued)

(c)

Fair value estimation (Continued)

(iii)

Financial instruments in level 3 (Continued)

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

3 MBEREE (&)

(c)

(iii)

~NHEGE (8)

E3RMANMB IR (8)

(1) Quantitative information about fair value (1)  BEEHFTAT#E
measurements using significant unobservable OEE-T 0N ¢ 3
inputs (Level 3) (Continued) BN FlEEE (£

3K) HIEZEEH
(#%)
Convertible
redeemable
preferred Other
shares investments Total
G
AJfE B A% HiR & Fob
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHAT FHAT FAT
(Note 25)
(Mt 25)
Opening balance on 2022561 H1H
1 January 2022 2 EEER 28,5637 67,754 96,291
Additions NE - 15,246 15,246
Fair value loss recognised RERB WS RPERZ AT
in consolidated income BEE
statement (28,376) (3,899) (32,275)
Currency translation B =g
differences 170 (6,682) (6,512)
Closing balance on 12022612 A31H
31 December 2022 2 F IR AEER 331 72,419 72,750

(2)  Quantitative sensitivity analysis 2) TEEHZEEST
No sensitivity analysis for other investments W25 2023 F
and convertible redeemable preferred shares 12 A 31 B EMKZ
amounting to HK$66,157000 and HK$339,000 B R AR AT R [

as at 31 December 2023 (as at 31 December
2022: HK$72,419,000 and HK$331,000) is
presented as a reasonably possible change
in key assumptions used in the sensitivity
analysis would not result in any significant
potential financial impact.
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18 4t 1% 66,157,000
7 7T &%339,00078
7T (72022412 A
318 : 72,419,000
7 7T }.331,0007%8
o) ZHERE D
W REASSKE
DR FTANEER
BREZEIET feit
b T EEER
BENBENBE
428 5
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3 Financial risk management (Continued) 3

(d) Offsetting financial assets and financial

liabilities

The following financial assets are subject to offsetting,
enforceable master netting arrangements and similar

e ISR

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

BHERERE (&)
(d) EHEMBEELETBE

&

AT B EESLIEE - 7585
HITHR—FRAEE L REL

agreements. R AR o
Gross amounts Related amounts
of recognized ~ Netamounts of  not set off in the
Gross amounts financial liabilities financial assets balance sheet
of recognized setoffinthe  presented in the cash collateral
financial assets balance sheet balance sheet received Net amount
R
BESERM
REE REE ik oA
BERAER BERNES 8
ERRHE LEBRZEH LHHEE EhEe
BEER B4R it il #E
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
ThR T T THR T
As at 31 December 2023 R2023F12 8318
Accounts receivable, net G
- Subject to master netting -RE—FREERIRR
arangement (Note i (Rti) 326,753 - 326,753 (11,426) 315,327
-Not subject tomasternettng - TARE—FREERH
amangement R 323932 - 323932 - 323,932
650,685 - 650,685 (11,426) 639,259
As at 31 December 2022 R2022%12A318
Accounts receivable, net ENERFE
- Subject to master netting -RE-FBEETHRR
arrangement (Note | (RtzE1) 466,359 - 466,359 (13,562) 452,797
-Not subject tomasternetting - UAREA—FBLEERH
amangement R 433423 - 433423 - 433423
899,782 - 899,782 (13,562) 886,220
Notes: Fi%E
(i) Internet advertising customers have provided cash collateral (i HEEBESEPERANEE

to the Group of HK$11,426,000 (2022: HK$13,562,000) as
protection for payment and contractual obligations under
the terms of advertising sale agreements. The Group has
the right to invoke the collateral if a customer has failed to
settle outstanding payments or full contractual obligations.

2 111,426,000 7T (2022
4F 1 13,562,00078 7T) 23
SHEAR - FAESHER
FEFBEBTHONRRENE
EZRE - B REELEE
MRRBREBENEE
NEE B EE R G BRI

o
om °
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4 Critical accounting estimates and
judgements

286

(a)

Critical accounting estimates and
assumptions

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning
the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The
estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
discussed below.

(i)

(ii)

Fair values of financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

The fair values of financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss that are not traded in an
active market are determined by using valuation
techniques. The Group uses its judgement to select
a variety of methods and make assumptions that
are mainly based on market conditions existing at
the end of each reporting period. For details, refer to
Note 3(c)(iii).

Provision for impairment of receivables

Significant judgement is exercised in the
assessment of the collectability of accounts
receivable, other receivables, amounts due from
related companies and the receivable from an
advertising agent, Shenzhou. In making such
judgement, management considers a number of
factors including but not limited to the debtors’
current and expected financial positions, business
environment and industry performance, current and
forward looking economic factors, collection history,
past experience and subsequent settlements of
debtors and Shenzhou.

4

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)
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(a)

ER R RER

HRER  AEESEL G
NRER - BT S - FRELN
SEHEFTELBBARNERE
REEMEA - BERRKRME
BTV RFEEERREN
BREEFIEARERT NG R
RERFE N X amal

(i) BRLAFPEEBEZBTCKRLN
MBEE 2D FE

WERNRERRTISEE
MR A HEEBBSLR
TS B ER R FERIA
HERMNERE - NEEE
i HER DA AR 73 0E e
EHEREREHREHR
BETSRTHRER - &
TBER 2B EE 3(c)iii) °

(ii) MEWFRRERE

AT {8 W BR 3K~ EL Al B UK
T8 BB BE R R R R E
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BEZE BEETRREBA
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4 Critical accounting estimates and
judgements (Continued)

(a)

Critical accounting estimates and

assumptions (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in numerous
jurisdictions, including Hong Kong and the PRC.
Significant judgement is required in determining
the worldwide provision for income taxes. There are
many transactions and calculations for which the
ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the
ordinary course of business. The Group recognizes
liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on
estimates of whether additional taxes will be due.
Where the final tax outcome of these matters
is different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, such differences will impact the current
and deferred income tax assets and liabilities in the
period in which such determination is made. For the
Group's tax exposure in the PRC, please refer to
Note 10.

Fair value of investment properties

The fair value of investment properties is determined
by using valuation technique. Details of the
judgement and assumptions have been disclosed in
Note 15.

Recognition of share-based compensation
expense

The Group adopts the Black-Scholes option pricing
model to determine the fair value of share options
at the grant date. Significant estimates and
assumptions are required to be made in determining
the parameters for applying the Black-Scholes
model, including estimates and assumptions
regarding the risk-free interest rate, expected
dividend vyield and volatility of the underlying shares
and the expected life of the share options. Changes
in these estimates and assumptions could affect the
determination of the fair value of the options, and
the amount of such share-based awards expected
to become vested, which may in turn impact the
determination of the share-based compensation
expense.

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

4 EESTHEFTRAE (&)

(a)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

ER @G RER
)

=
=]

FRE8

AN 55 B 78 1 BUE Rl A R
E (BEEBRHBE) &
MFTEH - REELEE
H A E 2 EREE AR
FriSHifE - RETE%ED
F o BERSHRETERE
KEBET ST - A%E
EREETREIIMATEE S
AT R TR AR S B A T8
BEWARE - EREFIEE
RE )L SR B T KRR
GHEEZRE  ZEBBY
e Pl AR E
MBS HEERA
& o BRAANSEE AP B
T - B2 EMEE10 -

REMENDFE

WEMEN N TEZER
(HERMTETE - HEHE
RBREAFBED R
158z o

BEARG KA E
X

AEBRBBIR-FA
HHEEEEA AEER
PR X B AT
B - EETEABIR -
HFRATRA N2 80
FEELEENMENR
& BREEARERRF
X EHR R Y R AR
AR 1) B0 R DA B g A e
FEHRFHM G ARER -
SR MRRAE AT
EETERRENATE
EENARERSTHREN
Aefn 2RV RE - MU RIRE
B F B ARAD IR EN
ERXMETE
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4 Critical accounting estimates and

288

judgements (Continued)

(b) Critical judgements in applying the Group'’s

accounting policies

Control over Phoenix Metropolis Media Technology
Company Limited (“PMM Beijing”)

Management considers that the Group has de facto
control of PMM Beijing even though it has less than
50% of the voting rights up to 26 December 2022.
Management has exercised its critical judgement when
determining whether the Group has de facto control
over PMM Beijing by considering the following, amongst
others: (i) the Group has obtained effective control over
majority of the board of PMM Beijing; (ii) the Group has
the ability to direct the relevant activities of PMM Beijing,
i.e. the activities that significantly affect PMM Beijing;
and (iii) PMM Beijing and other shareholders highly rely
on the Group’s industry expertise, brand, network, and
reputation.

Revenue and segment information

The Group is principally engaged in satellite television

broadcasting and the provision of internet and outdoor media
services. An analysis of the Group's revenue by nature is as

4

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

ERERT AT R A (F&)

(b)

NEAARERH TR
Pt B 2

HREERTEENEROER
A7 ([Et=BEET ) #ZH
L

EEERE BEALEER
202212 26 HpiEF B 4L =
[BLEEBTH 2 RIAEENB0% -
BEAEEEILABESmHES
EREHE e TEEREEAR
SEHIEREESHTESE
EREHER  ZRTIEE
(8 ((ANEEEELL
REERESMATHEEESNE
BRPEGIRE : (D ANEEpeEEL
REEE TR ER (BNE
ItRBEESBMEERFTE NN
71%5) 0 Kt mEREBH &
HEMBRREERBAEENTT
XN M BErEE -

WARZEER

ARENERXBERBEERERER

REEBEANRPINERRS - RIEE
DEHAREERADHTAT

follows:
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Advertising sales BEHE
Television broadcasting BRERE 828,730 978,833
Internet media B A8 RS 690,400 809,420
Outdoor media FoNEES 598,055 785,341
Mobile, video and wireless ME) ~ RIE R EARIEE R URA
value added services income 88,397 123,825
Subscription sales WR B A 49,839 59,020
Magazine advertising and MRS KT T
subscription or circulation 41,750 32,280
Rental income HeUA 26,382 38,879
Others HApth 144,404 176,135
2,467,957 3,003,733
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(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

5

Revenue and segment information
(Continued)

The operating segments have been based on the reports
reviewed by executive directors that are used to make strategic
decisions. The executive directors consider the business from a
product perspective.

The Group has five main operating segments including:

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Television broadcasting — broadcasting of television
programmes and commercials and provision of promotion
services;

(@)  Primary channels, including Phoenix Chinese
Channel and Phoenix InfoNews Channel.

(b)  Others, including Phoenix Movies Channel, Phoenix
North America Chinese Channel, Phoenix Chinese
News and Entertainment Channel, Phoenix Hong
Kong Channel, integrated media operating platform
and others.

Internet media — provision of website portal and value-
added telecommunication services;

Outdoor media — provision of outdoor advertising services;

Real estate — property development and investment
(mainly Phoenix International Media Centre in Beijing); and

Other activities — programme production and ancillary
services, merchandising services, magazine publication
and circulation, and other related services.

5

e B HRRME

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

WARDEER (&)

REDBIRBEBAPTESTENITA
REBORRNMEMETE - BITES
eEMBEOMEES -

AEESREIBRTIERENDHE B
&

() BREE-EBRHERESE
BUARREHEER

(a) E2IEE  BREEEER
PXERBRRHRER

A o

(b Hft - BEERGREY
& BEFRENE - B
BAAREON S - BEER
BHL  BEBEETA
ETE

) ERHERE - REAPIERR
BAMERT :

(i) PoINEEE - RHPINES IR
7

(iv) BHE-MEERRERE (X
ZRURIERNEEBERER
i) K

(v)  EAER - 8 E R EREER

% BRI - MRS AR K 3
17 AREMAERIRTS o
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5 Revenue and segment information
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WARDEER (&)

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

(Continued)
Year ended 31 December 2023
EEABENANALEE
Television broadcasting
L Inter
Primary Intemet ~ Outdoor Real Other  segment
channels Others  Sub-total media media estate activities  elimination Group
IZRE At Nt EREER  FHEE EiE  HfEE  AERHH A58
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
T Thn TEn TEn T TEn TEn T T
Revenue BA
External sales HHHE 580858 336712 9UEI0 7TI8IT 598055 638 IR - 246797
Intersegment sales (Notec) ~~ DERHHE (Hiikc) - 61474 61,474 3018 3432 35,259 6175 [109,358) -
Total revenue apA 580,858 398,186 979,044 781,815 601,487 61,641 153,328 (109,358 2,467957
Timing of revenue recognition W ATESRE
At pointn time FERTHE - 42586 42586 75,186 - - - - mm
Over time BEER 580,858 294,126 874,984 703,011 598,055 6,222 147153 - 2309425
Revenue from other source HfRREMA - - - - - 20,160 - - 20,160
580,858 336,712 917570 718,791 598,055 26,382 147153 - 2467957
Segment results Nt (5,153) 51,035 45,882 (97361) 29,281 (34,060) 65,397) - (121,655)
Unalocated income Note )~~~ &AM (Hita) 25,949
Unallocated expenses Noteb) AR (Ffith) (209,564)
Loss before share of results Blhaehs/me
of joint ventures/associates, RAEE  HEH
income tax and nonontroling  RIEIAMIEH
interests BE (305,270)
Share of profits less losses BhAE0EE
of joint ventures R (457)
Share of profis ess losses BERENTEH
of associates R (12,610)
Income tax expense HEHER (16,357)
Loss for the year EEEE (334,694)
Non-contraling interests FERER 75,105
Loss attributable to owners LN L
of the Company BE (268,989)
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5 Revenue and segment information

e B RRME

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

5 WARZTEEFR (&)

(Continued)
Year ended 31 December 2023
EEABENANALEE
Television broadcasting
EREE Inter
Primary Intemet ~ Outdoor Real Other  segment
channels Others  Sub-total media media estate activities  elimination Group
ITRE A Mt EBERR  FARE BHE  EER  AEMHE A58
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tin Tn TR Thn Tn Thn TR ThR TR
Depreciation il (10,619) 16,862) (27481) (35,411)  (163,988) (26,542) (13,046) - (266,468)
Unallocated depreciation AOTIE (22,961)
(289,429)
Interest income FIBHA 3 9,403 9,406 38,353 6,074 200 485 - 54518
Unallocated interest income FTRIERA A
55,246
Interest expenses ikl - (79) (79) (4,545) (30,152) - (1,709) - (36,485)
Undllocated intorestexpenses — RARFIEES (629
(37174)
Fairvalue loss on investment AWM ATEEE
properties - - - - - (34,285) - - (34,285)
Provision for impaiment U ERE
of accounts receivable - - - (17572) - - (500) - (18,072)
Reversal of provision for YR ERERE
impairment of accounts
receivable kil - n - - - - - kil
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WARDEER (&)

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

(Continued)
Year ended 31 December 2022
EENNENANALER
Television broadcasting
SRR Inter
Primary Internet Qutdoor Real Other ~ segment
channels Others Subotal media media estate activities  elimination Group
B Hff DG EEEEE O POMEE BME  AMEE  AREEH 55E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Fin T T AT T T T Thn T
Revenue BA
External sales HHHE 698,853 39Mm 1077964 933245 785,341 38879 168,304 - 3,003,733
Intersegment sales (Note o)~ B4 (Ffckc) - 86,940 86,940 14,721 206 3,745 4606 (142217) -
Total revenue 10N 698,853 466,051 1,164,904 947966 785,547 74,624 172,909 (142217) 3,003,733
Timing of revenue recognition ~ WAEZEE
At point in ime REERE - 600m 60078 9,507 - - - - 15658
Over time BEkE 698,863 319,033 1017886 836,738 785,341 3,796 168,304 - 2812068
Revenue from other source HfREAMA - - - - - 3,083 - - 3,083
698,853 319111 1,077964 933,245 785,341 38879 168,304 - 3003733
Segment results Py (155,493) 106,252 (49.241) (183407) 115,955 8,228 (83841) - (192,306)
Unallocated income (Note &)~~~ &AM (Hita) 45,205
Unallocated expenses (Notebl & AHF (Hith) (263,086
Loss before share of results FABRE /BA
of joint venturesfassociates, R A$E  fEH
income tax andnon-controlling ~ RFEARRiERAl
interests BA (410,187)
Share of profits less losses BEoerERiE
of joint ventures i 1430
Share of profis ess losses BIEREQTEHR
of associates BA (9,066)
Income tax expense (restated)  FrEHR (£E5) 29062
Loss for the year (restated] EREE (me5)) (446,875)
Non-contraling interests IHERER (RE7)
[restated) 63,53
Loss attributable to owners KARERAER
of the Company (restated) BB (7)) (383,340)
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e B HRRME

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (BRIEHFRIEER - @ BB ITSIE)
5 Revenue and segment information 5 WARZEEFR (&)
(Continued)

Year ended 31 December 2022
EEANENANALFE

Television broadcasting
B Inter
Primary Internet Qutdoor Real Other ~ segment
channels Others Sub-total media media estate activities  elimination Group
TR At NG EREEE  PARE BHE  EttXE  HERHE 158

HK§000  HKS000  HKS00  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HK§000  HKS'000  HKS'000
ThL TEn ThL THL Tin Thn ThL THL Tin

Depreciation e (9,239 (15,432) (24671) (44332) (190,981) (28441) 29.825) = (318,250)
Unallocated depreciation AOTIE (25,369)
(343,619)

Interest income FEMA 1 3,740 3 37264 11,650 432 375 - 53,462
Unallocated interest income RARRISHA 2798
56,260

Interest expenses fERR - (%) (%) 3985 (36,566) - (2,720) - (W%
Unallocated interest expenses  AAEAIEHR 2,009
(44,39%)

Fairvalue loss on ivestment R ANENATEER

properties - - - - - (6,276) - = (6,276)
Provision for impaiment EUEERE
of accounts receivable - (42) (42) (36,247) - - (2178) - (38.467)
Reversalof provision for EUEHERRRD
impairment of accounts
receivable - 212 212 63,99 2,1 - - - 66,919
Notes: Ff3E
(@) Unallocated income represents exchange gain, interest income, @ AOBUBAIEEN K F K
fair value gain on financial assets (realised and unrealised), gain A MBEEZ2 A AFERZ (B2
on bargain purchase and investment income. R ARER) - BEWEARZER
A o
(b)  Unallocated expenses represent primarily: (b) RABAZEER:
- corporate staff costs; - ANRIBIRHRA :
= office rental; - WAEHESE
- general administrative expenses; - —RITEREA :
- marketing and advertising expenses related to the Group - ERE E G AN TISH
as a whole; BEREEER ;
- exchange loss; and - EHEE &
- fair value losses on financial assets. - M EENATEES -
(c) Sales between segments are carried out based on terms ©0 HDEEHEEDNKREREELEMSE
determined by management with reference to market prices. &I TE 2 GFETT ©
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Revenue and segment information
(Continued)

Revenue from external customers by country/region, based on
the destination of the customer:

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

WARDEER (&)

KEIATFPHRARBER &
(REpEFPZBimE) 25080

2023 2022

2023 F 2022 %

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHET

The PRC =n 2,371,616 2,896,777
Hong Kong BE 55,943 61,319
Others Hih 40,398 45,637
2,467,957 3,003,733

Non-current assets, other than deferred income tax assets, by
country/region:

FRBDEE CREMSHEERIN)

BEER MREHAT

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 4

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FAET

The PRC = 2,655,986 2,800,075
Hong Kong B 256,819 285,095
Others Hit 34,213 32,792
2,947,018 3,117962
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(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

6 Other gains/(losses), net 6 Hftkz  (EE) B8
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FBT FAT
Fair value loss on investment REMFENAFEBE (MiiE15)
properties (Note 15) (34,285) (6,276)
Exchange loss, net bE 5B R F R (4,868) (113,011)
Investment income BERA 1,387 2,917
Fair value gains/(losses) on BEATEEBESCENVBEEN
financial assets at fair value AHEWE (B18) F58
through profit or loss, net 4,291 (29,063)
Impairment of investment REEE R R IR ERIE
in associates - (8,031)
Gain on disposal of property, HEMZE - BEMEENRE
plant and equipment 4,741 18,602
Gain on bargain purchase EZElE 12,947 -
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries S B A R s 3,610 =
Gain on disposal of joint venture, HE&&PEMIKESFEE
net 441 =
Gain on disposal of intangible HEELEEN K
asset 680 -
Reversal of tax provision for BRI HERE A EEBIESLEN
the disposal of financial assets MBS EERB BN TES
and liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss - 74,185
Government subsidy AT 4 RG 15,226 18,375
Others, net HAthFEE 6,923 (1,130)
11,003 (43,432)

295



Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited BEIEHRIZE () BRAT

Annual Report 2023

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e T ERR MR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

7

296

Loss before income tax

The following items have been (credited)/charged to the loss

before income tax during the year:

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

BRATS BRI &S 18

THIBRD EARFEE RS HAT

BER GtA) /Hk

2023 2022
2023 2022 F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T FHET
Crediting A
Reversal of provision for FEUSBR FORL (B Bt ]
impairment of accounts
receivable (311) (66,919)
Gain on disposal of property, HEME - BEMKEENRE
plant and equipment (4,741) (18,602)
Charging B
Production costs of self-produced & £4£5 B ZU/ER 2K
programmes 172,186 203,833
Commission expenses HeZi 93,918 185,590
Bandwidth costs R 33,775 54,776
Provision for impairment of FENBR BB (B 1
account receivable 18,072 38,467
Provision for impairment of other — E.{th ‘& E i {E B4
assets 28,694 11,739
Employee benefit expenses EERNER (BIEESME)
(including Directors’
emoluments) 1,203,854 1,316,844
Operating lease rental in T EEERE
respect of
— Land and buildings - E=ENTHRET
of third parties 15,604 15,429
— LED panels - LED# R~ 5F 2,903 7,265
Loss on disposal of property, HEME - RE KEHENEIR
plant and equipment 1,424 5,374
Depreciation of property, Y% - REREEITE
plant and equipment 109,229 118,470
Depreciation of right-of-use FREEENE
assets 180,200 225,149
Amortisation of purchased BAR B kB hRERH
programme and film rights 10,136 10,457
Amortisation of intangible assets & FE#E 15,539 20,241
Impairment of intangible assets M EERE - 1,204
Auditor's remuneration ZEETE &
- Audit services - ZE AR 14,681 13,826
— Non-audit services - ERHARTS 932 925
Outgoings for investment KEMEZ T
properties 2,137 2,749
Termination fee of HBIEREAKHER
a lease contract - 14,880
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8 Employee benefit expenses

e B HRRME

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

8 REEEMNEH

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 %
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Wages, salaries and other TE& - e kEMER
allowances 1,176,950 1,284,493
Unutilised annual leave AEAFR 1,115 2,154
Pension costs — defined BRREBAR - ARG S
contribution plan, net (FOBR BRI EER) (FisEa)
of forfeited contributions
(Note a) 21,652 21,023
Share-based compensation LARHD S SR A 1B
expense 4,137 9,174
1,203,854 1,316,844

Pensions — defined contribution plans

The Group operates a number of defined contribution
pension schemes in accordance with the respective
subsidiaries’ local practices and regulations. The Group is
obligated to contribute funding to these plans based on
various percentages of the employees’ salaries or a fixed
sum per employee with reference to their salary level. The
assets of these schemes are generally held in separate
trustee administered funds.

Employees in Hong Kong are provided with a defined
contribution provident fund scheme and the Group is
required to make monthly contribution to the scheme
based on 10% of the employees’ basic salaries. Forfeited
contributions are used to offset the employer’s future
contributions. For the year ended 31 December 2023, the
aggregate amount of the employer’s contributions was
approximately HK$13,614,000 (2022: HK$14,799,000)
and the total amount of forfeited contributions was
approximately HK$585,000 (2022: HK$1,383,000).

Since 1 December 2000, the employees in Hong Kong
can elect to join the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(the “MPF Scheme”). The MPF Scheme was introduced
pursuant to the Mandatory Provident Fund legislation
introduced in 2000. Under the MPF Scheme, the Group
and each of the employees make monthly contributions to
the scheme at 5% of the employees’ relevant income as
defined under the Mandatory Provident Fund legislation.

(a)

BT - TG

AEBIZREHE QB MEN
EHMENMERREZHER
HHRRAKREEE - AEBEAR
BEFEN TR XL SBH
RRBREERRERENEEEHE
MZETERTEER - ZF5
EMEE—RABEABYLE
BHNESHEA -

EAEREREERBETHEMER
ARESFE MAEEZA
BAEREEALAF SN
10% M) #% &F 2] 18 & 4 3o
WS W T A R I E =
By SR 2R 4 ko B 220234
12 A31 BIEFE @ BRI
% 5 4913,614,000% 7T (2022
£ 114,799,000 7T) © MiR2
U 4 3K 48 58 /5 49585,000 7 7T
(20224 : 1,383,000787T) °

E2000F 12 A1 B » &&E
BREEINAGEH AR5
2l ([aEesTEll) - 8BS
23R 2000 FE B AR Y 38
MRESAPIHEL - BIFRE
¢ 8 AEERBHEES
RizEBHBRABS% (F&
RoanlE REBEESEN) MZE
SIVEH R -
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8 Employee benefit expenses (Continued) 8 EERMNEA (&)
(a) Pensions — defined contribution plans (a) BT - EREENRETE
(Continued) (%)
Both the employer’'s and the employees’ contributions E2014F6H1HE  EEXx X
are subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of EENEHRIHEXESREES
HK$30,000 from 1 June 2014 onwards for each employee. A #8R3UZ A 30,0007 7T ER
For those employees with monthly relevant income less FriiBR - 2R & AEBEKRA D
than HK$7100, since 1 November 2013, the employees'’ R7100B LW E B © 82013
contributions are voluntary. F1NMA1BR  ZEEERNH
FEVEEHER o
In June 2022, the Hong Kong Government enacted 120226 H + BARTEM
the Employment and Retirement Schemes Legislation <2022 F & 1% R R T EE A
(Offsetting Arrangement) (Amendment) Ordinance 2022. (RS HE) (BRT) 1RBID - 5%
The amendment will come into effect prospectively from BRI BREBKRTIEER B H
a date to be appointed by the Hong Kong Government (MBERE]) BAERK  ZIERT
(“Transition Date”). The amendment results in: a) Change B KT HEHIRES
in the offsetting arrangement, such that the accrued FREEERBIEATER TH®E
benefits attributable to the employers’ mandatory B R R E o B E R R
contributions under the Mandatory Provident Fund and Rt B THEFFTEENRE
certain employers’ contributions under the Occupational BT EREEREHEAB
Retirement Schemes would no longer be eligible to offset EHHEBRAMERBENTI R
against the severance payment and long service payment REIRBE S Kkb)iBE B EBA]
accrued from the Transition Date; and b) Change of the ZENRIBRG DR
calculation basis of last monthly wages for the portion of REBATEMFTEREERR
the long service payment accrued before the Transition #H) o
Date.
For the year ended 31 December 2023, the aggregate HZE2023F12A31HILFE -
amount of employer’s contributions made by the Group to REEMBESFEELME
the MPF Scheme was approximately HK$5,311,000 (2022: FHFEFRR45,311,00087T
HK$5,052,000) and there was no forfeited contributions (2022 % : 5,052,000/ 7T) °
(2022: Nil). I 48 4R W R (2022 & -
) .
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8 Employee benefit expenses (Continued) 8

(b)

Five highest paid individuals and senior
managements’ emoluments

The five highest paid individuals in the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2023 included two directors (2022:
no director) and one member of senior management
(2022: three). The aggregate emoluments paid/payable
to the five highest paid individuals during the year are as

e B HRRME

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

EBEEMNER (&)

(b)

hEmmFmALTRER
BEAR e

NEBE £2023F12 31 H
tFEZRERRHFALTTE
A ESE (20224  BEES)
—aaHEEAE (2022
F: =) FRNEREH

follows: FhREZ &SI ALTHARE I
B

2023 2022

2023 F 2022 4

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FAT

Salaries e 14,320 13,164

Discretionary bonus BYIB B P FEAL 1,248 6,365

Housing allowance B EZERL 2,017 1,547

Pension costs RIRE AR 939 925

18,524 22,001

The emoluments of the five highest paid individuals (2022:
five highest paid individuals) fall within the following

bands:

hE&xm#F AL (2022 &
HEEEBHAL) BEE N TN
TEE :

Number of individuals

HK$3,000,001 — HK$3,500,000
HK$3,500,001 — HK$4,000,000
HK$4,500,001 — HK$5,000,000
HK$6,000,001 — HK$6,500,000

3,000,001 7T - 3,500,000 % 7T
3,500,001 7T — 4,000,000 % 7T
4,500,001 7T - 5,000,000 % 7T
6,000,001 /&7t — 6,500,000 7T

During the year, no incentive payments were paid or payable
to the five highest paid individuals as an inducement
to join the Group, and only one of the five highest paid
individuals was paid an additional payment in the amount
of HK$431,000 as compensation for loss of office (2022:

Nil).

AE
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 4
3 2
1 1
1 1
- 1
5 5

FRTERNREREFALTE
ek FE AT B2 B R (8« DAE
RMAKREEKEE  MAE
BRREgALTFEE —BESM
A INFRIFA31,0008 7T 0 1B A
BERLAH(E (20224F « £E) o
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B IS ERARMIRE

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

9

10
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(BRIERFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

Interest expense 9 FEMX
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET Tt
Bank borrowings RITEE 753 2,240
Loans from non-controlling B A R SEIE AR AR SRR E X
shareholders of subsidiaries 570 703
Lease liabilities (Note 34) HEARE (MizE34) 35,851 41,452
37174 44,395
Income tax expense 10 FIBHER
Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% BEBFER IR FE (T ERTR

(2022: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profit for the year.
Taxation on PRC and overseas profits has been calculated on
the estimated assessable profit for the year at the rates of
taxation prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

F LA16.5% (2022 £ : 16.5%) %t =
B o B RF SN R BIE TR R A
FEMGTERFRS - IEASEEE
BAEBRRORITHERE -

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 %
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
(restated)
(sE5)

Current income tax & HIFT1S
— Hong Kong profits tax - BBNIFH - -
— PRC and overseas taxation — R R EINE IR 8,865 32,329
Deferred income tax (Note 33) BIEFTSH (M97E33) 7492 (3,267)
16,357 29,062

On 20 January 1998, the PRC State Administration of Taxation
granted a Tax Ruling of Business Tax and Foreign Enterprise
Income Tax on certain of the Group's advertising fees collected
from an advertising agent, Shenzhou in the PRC (the “Ruling”).
The Group has dealt with the aforementioned taxes according
to the Ruling in the consolidated financial statements. However,
PRC tax laws and regulations and the interpretations thereof
may change in the future so that the Group would be subject to
PRC taxation on certain income deemed to be sourced in the
PRC other than Hong Kong. The Group will continue to monitor
developments in the PRC tax regime in order to assess the
ongoing applicability and validity of the Ruling.

19984 1 B 208 » A B R i 1%
BRAREE P EES BN
BETRESEH L EERRKINGIRE
EMRSHRBBHE ([ZHED) -
REEEREZHTERERE PEHRE
NEREE EMFiIE - SR ¢Iﬁ%ﬁ
Wk MR R R RER G AL
At A EE R EHRE ?ﬁﬁﬁm¢
B (FAKRIN) BSE U A B4+ E
I - AEBEBEES R HTEE
R E AT G ZR T EA AR
M o
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e TR M EE

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (BRIEHFRIEER - @ BB ITSIE)

10 FiSHiER (&)

REBRIRRR TS B AT B R R BT
18 - EERAAR RS T R HY A

10 Income tax expense (Continued)

The tax on the Group's loss before income tax differs from the
theoretical amount that would arise using the tax rate of the

location in which the Company operates as follows:

RimELRIERNRNZRIOT

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 %
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET FAT
(restated)
(Fe=751))
Loss before income tax BRETS BRI E 1B (318,337) (417813)
Calculated at a taxation rate IRABEFLEE 16.5% 5T & (20224 : 16.5%)
of 16.5% (2022: 16.5%) (52,526) (68,939)
Income not subject to taxation BERRIA (29,546) (24,418)
Expenses not deductible A h AR R A 2
for taxation purposes 39,038 32,312
Tax losses not recognised REERTHIE R 85,345 126,506
Effect of different tax rate HBERHREENTE
in other countries (11,230) (9,837)
Effect of tax exemptions BT BB AR IEER R KRR e
and concessions granted
to PRC subsidiaries (5,174) (10,107)
Utilisation of previously R SR A RER B T 518
unrecognised tax losses (9,550) (16,455)
Income tax expense 8t &R 16,357 29,062
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Loss per share

On 20 February 2024, every ten issued and unissued then
existing shares of par value HK$0.10 each in the share
capital of the Company were consolidated into one share of
par value HK$1.00 each (“Consolidated Share(s)”) (“Share
Consolidation”).

Comparative figures of the weighted average number of shares
for calculating basic earnings per share and diluted earnings
per share have been adjusted on the assumption that Share
Consolidation have been effective in the prior year.

(a) Basic

Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the loss
attributable to owners of the Company by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares in issue during the

1"

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

BRER

R 2024F2 4208 » KA FRRAA
BI0ORERMECIOBTZERE
BOIRRBITEERNDEHA1RE
BYEE 1.00 8L 2 &A% ([& HHR
B D ’RAE]) °

R Et E G REAR B H) JIHEF 5 ik
BN LEBRBEFERRROEHR
- FEEARMIERR

(a)

R

BREABERDREARRHE
BAREEEBRAFAND #1T
BB INEF OGS -

year.
2023 2022
2023 2022 4
(restated)
(#e&E51)
Loss attributable to owners AAEHEA AELERE (FT)
of the Company ($'000) (258,989) (383,340)
Weighted average number BEITERRAMET S (TR
of ordinary shares in issue
('000) 499,366 499,366
Basic loss per share SRREAREE (BIL)
(Hong Kong cents) (51.86) (76.76)

(b) Diluted

Diluted loss per share is calculated by adjusting the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding
to assume conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary
shares. The Group has dilutive potential ordinary shares
which comprise share options of the Company and a
subsidiary in both years.

There was no impact of the dilutive instruments during
the year ended 31 December 2023 as the share options
of the Company and a subsidiary were anti-dilutive (2022:
Nil).

(b)

BE

BEREEERVERRMEH
SHBEEEERE LBRERT -
BB HBETEINE BRI
I BETE - REBN R E
FEREHEEEAR  EE
BARA K —EHE QRS
Pt o

REZE2023F12A31HILF
E  ARARA R —RW B
NAIMEREEREEER
(20224 - f&) - Eutr i B
HYEZTH-
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e B HRRME

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

13

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

12 Dividends 12 BRE
No dividend had been paid or declared during the year. FRABB/KEHEIRIRE - NRAFIE
The Board of Directors of the Company (“Board”) did not Eg ([EFg)) TEZRARRIRE
recommend the payment of final dividend to shareholders for #HZE2023F12 A31 HIEFER KA
the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil). fE B (20224 : £&) -
Purchased programme and film rights, net 13 BAGEREXRERE
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FHTT
Balance, beginning of year FEER 14,512 13,641
Additions NE 8,847 12,372
Amortisation By (10,136) (10,457)
Others Hth 345 (1,044)
Balance, end of year FUREER 13,568 14,512
Less: Purchased programme R BEAEN B & E kR
and film rights
— current portion - BIERER (D (139) (305)
13,429 14,207
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(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (BRIERE AR - RABTTINE)
14 Property, plant and equipment, net 14 Y% BERREFHE
Broadcast
Fumiture  operations
Freehold Leasehold and  and other Motor LED  Construction
land  Buildings improvements fixtures  equipment  vehicles panels  in progress Total
XA HE  HHR  EEEER

L S8 g7 nREE 5B EMRR RE LEDETR  ERIR it
HKS000  HKS'000 HKSO00  HKS000  HKSO00  HKS000  HKSO00  HKS000  HKS'000
tén  TER tén  TEn tén  TEn TR TEn  TEn

(Note a) (Note b)
(Kita) (Hth)
Year ended BEARE12R
31 December 2023 NALEE
Opening net book amount ENETEE 11,632 394,477 68,520 175 113,569 3,028 29215 17607 638,823
Additions HE - 75 8,024 25 21925 - 198 27431 63,878
Disposals hE (1312 (.47 (191) (40) (1,20) m (663) - (4799)
Depreciation iE - () (22,124) (387) (39008 (1214 (19,064 - (109,229)
Transfer &5 - - - - - - 45,360 (45,360) -
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 42) ~ WEEHBAA
(Hst42) - 1335 - - 455 - - - 138
Disposal of subsidiares HENBAR - - (390) " (8,292) - - - (86%9)
Currency translation differences ghagEE 2%7 2,646 102 5 190 P (132) kv/) 344
Closing net hook amount ERESE 10,527 381,965 53941 5N 93,540 1,761 54914 - 597219
At 31 December 2023 R2023E12A318
Cost iR 10527 700542 524,215 21821 861,093 31804 180577 - 2,336,645
Accumulated depreciation and ZHTERNE
impairment - (31857) (470,334)  (27,256) (767593) (30,043  (125,663) - (1,739,426)
Net book amount FHEE 1052 381,965 53,941 5N 93,540 1761 54914 - 597219
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14 Property, plant and equipment, net

e B RRME

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

14 Y% - BERRERHE

(Continued) (#&)
Broadcast
Furniture operations
Freehold Leasehold and and other Motor LED Construction
land  Buildings  improvements fixtures ~ equipment  vehicles pangls Aircraft  in progress Total
XA B KRR EREER
FETH EF 23 X Al AE LEDETRE i EEIE &3t
HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$000  HK§000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
Thr  Tén Tér  Thn Thr  TAr T TR Thr  TEn
Note a) (Note b
(Kiita) (hizt)
Year ended HEANE
3 December 2022 1231EIHEE
Opening net book ENGEEE
amount 12066 455,766 80,067 1123 131,975 4302 40,656 1,622 - 737587
Additions HE - - 10,766 176 49838 402 83 - 29,09 90,363
Disposals i3 - - - (16) (12957) (%9) (1,69) (8,581) - (B39
Depreciation il = (27427) (19.842) (450) (49,042) (1330 (17131 (3,041) - (118470
Transfer 73 - - - - - - 10921 - (10921) -
Curency translation ~ EMAZEE
differences (434 (33862 (2,461) (58) (6,045) (260) (3618) = (670 (47308)
Closing net book amount  FAERFE 11632 394477 68,520 775 113,569 3028 29215 - 17607 638,823
At31 December 2022 R202E12A31A
Cost A 11632 67520 518,656 871 910,745 34755 149,04 - 17607 2,346,366
Accumulated ZHERAE
depreciation and
impaiment - (80729 (4601360 (27946) (197176 @B1727) (119,829 = - (1707543
Net book amount EHSE 11632 394477 68,520 775 113,569 3028 29215 - 17607 638,823
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e B HRRME

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

14 Property, plant and equipment, net
(Continued)

Depreciation expense of approximately HK$58,162,000 (2022:
HK$69,414,000) has been charged in “Operating expenses’ and
approximately HK$51,067,000 (2022: HK$49,056,000) has been
charged in “Selling, general and administrative expenses'

(@) Included in the net book value as of 31 December 2023 is
an amount of HK$19,186,000 (as at 31 December 2022:
HK$19,885,000) which relates to the Group's entitlement
to use 10,000 square metres in the Shenzhen Building.
As at 31 December 2023, the cost was HK$30,848,000
(as at 31 December 2022: HK$30,848,000) with a net
book value of HK$19,186,000 (as at 31 December 2022:
HK$19,885,000). As at 31 December 2023, the Group
was still in the process of obtaining the title certificate to
the 8,500 square metres of the entitled areas through the
payment of land premium and taxes.

(b) As of 31 December 2023, the Group was still in the
process of renewing and obtaining certain licences of
LED panels. The Directors are of the opinion that the
licences will be obtained in the near future and the risk of
noncompliance with laws and regulations is remote.

306

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

14 9% BERRERHE

(&)

T € & A 458,162,000 JT (2022
F 169,414,000 Jt) B & A &
L EM] A 451,067,000 7T
(2022 % : 49,056,000/ 7t) Jh&F A
[fH% - —MERITERERIA -

(a) F2023F12 A31 HHE@EmF
BEREASEAEERRIIE
10,000 F 752K FTi# & K SR RE
19,186,000/ 7T (72022 £F 12
A31H :19,885,000/87T) °
M 2023F 12 A31H ' KA
/30,848,000 7t (72022
#12 4318 : 30,848,000/
JT)  BREF{ERIA 19,186,000
BT (2022912 A318 :
19,885,000/ JT) ° #2023 F
12A318  AEEBATFH
B RFIE - LAFF#E #8500
Jo oK AT TR A AT o

(b) H2023F12A31H  K&EH
TR EDRE RN E
BT RENETA] c EERAK
RAARREEBREETA - M
ReEETERARNRR TS o
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(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

e B HRRME

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

15 Investment properties 15 REYE

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FAT
Balance, beginning of year FHEER 1,307,283 1,470,424

Fair value loss recognised in RiFE X R A EEE
consolidated income statement (34,285) (6,276)

Acquisition of a subsidiary Wi — KM B AR (FizE42)

(Note 42) 43,038 -
Currency translation differences &g =28 9,836 (156,865)
Balance, end of year FIEER 1,325,872 1,307,283

(a)

Fair value measurement of investment
properties

The Group applied the fair value model for the accounting
of investment properties. Independent valuations of the
investment properties were performed by the valuers,
Vigers Appraisal and Consulting Limited, Lambert Smith
Hampton and Kroll (HK) Limited, to determine the
fair value of the properties as at 31 December 2023.
Fair value loss of approximately HK$34,285,000 (2022:
HK$6,276,000) is included in the “Other gains/(losses),
net” in the consolidated income statement.

(a)

BREMEN L FERE

AEEHFARATFEENGER
BYEANR - REVERGE
MEEITEETGEEERA
Al * Lambert Smith Hampton
K Kroll (HK) Limited# 77 8
VIEE LETZEWER
202312 A31BH R FE-
#934,285,0007%8 7T (20224 :
6,276,000/ 7T) KA FEEE
Bt AGRABBERPH [ H
ek (K518) F5 -
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15 Investment properties (Continued)

308

Fair value measurement of investment
properties (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Fair value hierarchy

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

15 REWE (|)

@) BREMEHATE B

(#8)

i) AFESER

Fair value
measurements
at 31 December
2023 using
significant
unobservable

Fair value
measurements
at 31 December
2022 using
significant
unobservable

Description inputs (Level 3) inputs (Level 3)
FUEENEE TAERNEE
LIPNE ¢ 5 ASUE
TR FTER
2023 F 2022 &
12A318H 12 A31 BH)
AFE ~¥E
it (%E34) (FE3#)
HK$°000 HK$'000
FERT FAET
Recurring fair value REMENFESE
measurements
Investment properties wEYE
— Phoenix International — BEBEE A
Media Centre (The PRC) G 1,271,600 1,293,732
— Commercial (The PRC) e E A GED) 41,063 -
— Commercial (UK) — B (ER) 12,672 13,018
— Others (The PRC) — Efh (PER) 537 533
Valuation processes of the Group (i) AEEHHERRF
The Group's investment properties were valued AEENRKREMERE
at 31 December 2023 and 2022 by independent NHEXEEBERMERME
professionally qualified valuers who hold a 20234 }% 20224 12 A 31

recognised relevant professional qualification and
have experience in the locations and segments of
the investment properties valued. For all investment
properties, their current use equates to the highest

and best use.

BfEE - A ERR A
PR AT BRERS - WHA
RIERIRE Y A MR A
BEBERLR - AR
BY=E - HBAWERS
WE &S MEER
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15 Investment properties (Continued)

(a)

Fair value measurement of investment

properties (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Valuation processes of the Group (Continued)

The Finance Department, headed by CFO, reviews
the valuations performed by the independent valuers
for financial reporting purposes. Discussions of
valuation processes and results are held between
the Finance Department and valuers at least once
every six months, in line with the Group’s interim
and annual reporting dates.

At each financial year end, the Finance Department:

o Verifies all major inputs to the independent
valuation reports;

o Assess property valuations movements when
compared to the prior year valuation reports;
and

° Holds discussions with the independent
valuers.

Valuation techniques

For the investment property in UK with a carrying
amount of HK$12,672,000 (2022: HK$13,018,000),
the valuation of the investment property held directly
by the Group is made on the basis of the “Market
Value” adopted by The Royal Institution of Chartered
Surveyors (“RICS"”). It is performed in accordance
with the RICS Valuation Standards on Properties
published by RICS. The valuation is reviewed at least
once every six months by a qualified valuer using
income capitalisation approach.

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

15 REWE (&)

(a) WEMEHA

ﬁ'fﬁcﬁi

(%)

(ii)

(iii)

REENGERF (8)

Y AR B R G RO B 75 7

WES=§ 2 VAR )
WW%HWWWMH@L
TIRe - BESAEEDN
PEAMERE RS A - B
W%W@Eﬁ%?*iﬁ

BEARE—R - SwmbE

Efﬂﬁ%%%

EESEMBRFEFER

BT ERPI R =

s REHBIMAER
SRFMBEREA
5

o  HEMEMEREL
FEMEHRELR
THEE &

o EBVIHEMMETT
BE

fhER M

AR RERAER

12,672,000/ T (2022
4 113,018,000/ T) Z
REMEMS @ A5EEE
BEREZREYHE 2 hE
E@F%I%%%ud
2 ([HREERFR

m;%;a)%%%z
[M{E] &% RHEE

%%ﬁﬂ%%%aﬁﬁz
ERERFASMES
YIE(HELERHEST o [HE
& A REERERKRA
BN ERDENERAR

] /A°
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(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (BRIEHFRIEER - @ BB ITSIE)
15 Investment properties (Continued) 15 REYE (&)
(a) Fair value measurement of investment (a) WEMHEMRTEE
properties (Continued) (&)
(iii) Valuation techniques (Continued) (iii) fHEFM (&)
Income capitalisation approach is based upon D ONCEN D7 IBLIE ST
estimates of future results and a set of assumptions RIEMTRZIEYEZ —
specific to the property to reflect its tenancy and Z5I 45 R A R i E A
cash flow profile. The fair value of the investment ARREMEAMRIN © %
property reflects, among other things, rental income BEREMEZRATER
from current leases and assumptions about rental B (ERaiE RERE
income from future leases in light of current market HE B WA RIRE
conditions including open market rents, appropriate BRI (BREARTS
capitalisation rate and reversionary income potential. e BAZERNMEER
IR ARk 278 ) ¥k 8
RRMBE 2 B WA
For the investment property in the PRC, which NRAFRBEZREME (35
represents gross floor area of Phoenix International ARIDASWAMEE
Media Centre held for rental income, has a carrying 7 Bl B B B {5 A
value of HK$1,271,600,000 (as at 31 December MEEEE) NEREE
2022: HK$1,293,732,000). The fair value of this £1,271,600,00078 T
investment property is determined using the (R 2022%12A318 :
information from the valuation performed by external 1,293,732,000%7T) °
professional valuer using the direct comparison IR E SN A FENE
method. However, given the heterogeneous nature MR - RINEEZGE
of this property, appropriate adjustments are made Bl A B2 L BOA TR A 1h
to allow for any qualitative differences that may BEFTRMERIERL AT -
affect the price likely to be achieved. BRI IEYIZE 2 bt
B BRI AR R G
ERCERNERERE
For the investment property in the PRC with a R ZIEEMER
carrying value of HK$41,063,000, the fair value of BRM{E A 41,063,000 /&
this investment property is determined using the TC WWIREWEN A TE
information from the valuation performed by external METEMIE - BINSIEZE
professional valuer using the direct comparison HERMAEZ L EAED
method. R EEFTIRERE RS o
There were no changes in valuation techniques AN E G E R
during the year. &) o
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(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

15 Investment properties (Continued)

15 REWE (|)

(a) Fair value measurement of investment (a) EWMENLAFEF=E
properties (Continued) (8&)

(iv) Information about fair value measurements (iv)] ERFERATITBENEE

using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) WABEBNQFERE

(B34 MmER

Relationship

Fair value at of unobservable

31 December Valuation Unobservable inputs to

Description 2023 technique(s) inputs fair value

2023 F AABEN

12A31H TEUREN BAgBHE

i MAYE (B Rl BARE ATEMEE

(HK$'000)
(FEx)

Phoenix International 1,271,600 Direct comparison Adjusted average The higher the
Media Centre B price of RMB26,511 adjusted average
-The PRC per square metre price per square

B BB AL - A gREETY metre, the higher

BRABTEAA the fair value

ARB225M T  BTHRNERE

TR

ATERE

Commercial-The PRC 41,063 Direct comparison Adjusted average The higher the
EERE EEHE price of RMB29,491 adjusted average
per square metre price per square
KRETHERA metre, the higher

BERR the fair value

ARB29491 T BFAANEHE

HERES

ATEES

Commercial-UK 12,672  Income Capitalisation Estimated rental The higher the
H% - HE approach value of £407 rental value,
WAB AL per annum the higher

per square metre the fair value

At RER G T

SEIKEE ATESS

E§E407

Reversionary The higher the

yield of 8% reversionary yield,

W A i the lower the

Wiz 5 8% fair value

WA 2 Wz

BE - ATEYE
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15 Investment properties (Continued)

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

15 REWE (|)

(a) Fair value measurement of investment (a) IEWMENLAFEF=E
properties (Continued) (%)

(iv) Information about fair value measurements (ivi FEERATABRENTE
using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) WABEBNQFERE
(Continued) (B34 WES (&)

Relationship

Fair value at of unobservable

31 December Valuation Unobservable inputs to

Description 2022 technique(s) inputs fair value
122022 F AR

12A31H TAIERE BABRE

Hit HATE LB BAHE NS

(HK$'000)
(F&1)

Phoenix International 1,293,732 Direct comparison Adjusted average The higher the
Media Centre B price of RMB27198 adjusted average
-The PRC per square metre price per square

B BB R AR - A LRI, metre, the higher

BRATTAA the fair value
ARE2198 T BEARNERE
THEEER
AHEHES
Commercial-UK 13,018  Income Capitalisation Estimated rental The higher the
B - 5 approach value of £407 rental value,
WAB R per annum the higher
per square metre the fair value
At RER HE#R -
BYHRGE AHEHER
#§E407
Reversionary yield The higher the
of 8% reversionary yield,
WA the lower the
Wiz 5 8% fair value
WA 2 Wiz
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(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

15 Investment properties (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Fair value measurement of investment
properties (Continued)

(v) Quantitative sensitivity analysis

The major sources of estimation uncertainty of
investment properties are mainly contributed by
the Phoenix International Media Centre and the
quantitative sensitivity analysis is shown as below:

15

e B HRRME

(B IEARI99 - SEULBTEAIE)
REWE (&)

(a) WEMENRFEFE
(#&)

(v) ZEEHBREDINF

BREWF AT EEE L
Bl EEH L - EEHR
EDWNEZIT -

Adjusted
average

price per
square metre
5% increase
or decrease
BYEHKZ
KAEFIGER
EINRE 2 5%
HK$'000
FAT

At 31 December 2023 A2023F12H31H
At 31 December 2022 72022612 A31 H

Deferred tax

The Group's investment properties in the PRC are held
within a business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in
the investment properties through use. The Group has
measured the deferred tax relating to the temporary
differences of these investment properties using the
tax rates and the tax bases that are consistent with
the expected manner of recovery of these investment
properties (Note 33).

63,580
64,687

(b) IEFEFRIE

RNEERPENEENEZR
B—EEERXEE - Mz
EAVA=: 0F =S5 L R Di=b =4
B ) 2 T B3R 4B K SR 10 A8
Fik - AEEFEREFHE
V¥ E R =EE BRI
B T AR R KR A
FBHAUR B It S E R T R
—5 (fIFES33) °
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16 Intangible assets 16 EEEE
Contractual
customer Club
Goodwill Licences relationship debentures Software Total
ENEF
BE AR B EfifE% g @zt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TATL TAL TAL TAL TAR TATL
Year ended 31 December ~ EZ 20235124318
2023 LR
Opening net book amount ~ FAIREFE 11,983 7029 - 2,065 25,677 46,754
Addition HE - 732 - - 7505 8,237
Disposal e - (6,179) - (10) (3,085) (9,974)
Amortisation g - (808) - - (14,731) (15,539)
Currency translation BlAEZE
differences 10 (29) - - 526 507
Closing netbook amount ~ FAEEFE 11,993 745 - 1,355 15,892 29,985
At 31 December 2023 R2023512A31R
Cost R 11,993 43,661 1,924 1,355 66,939 125,872
Accumulated amortization  2&tBERRE
and impairment - (42,916) (1,924) - (51,047) (95,887)
Net book amount REFE 11,993 45 - 1,355 15,892 29,985
Year ended 31 December  HZE202%12A31H
2022 l:35
Opening net book amount ~ EAVRAEFE 12,120 13495 - 2,065 23,771 51,451
Addition NE - - - - 20,612 20,612
Amortisation £ - (5,561) - - (14,680) (20,241)
Impairment BE - - - - (1,204) (1,204)
Currency translation ERAEEE
differences (137) (905) - - (2,822) (3,864)
Closing net book amount ~ FAREFAE 11,983 7029 - 2,065 25,677 46,754
At 31 December 2022 R2022F12 8318
Cost AR 11,983 51,971 1924 2,065 61,644 129,587
Accumulated amortization Rt &R
and impairment - (44,942) (1,924) - (35,967) (82,833)
Net book amount REFE 11,983 7029 - 2,065 25677 46,754
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17

e B HRRME

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

16 Intangible assets (Continued) 16 EE&EE (&)
Amortisation of approximately HK$15,477,000 (2022: 7 4915,4770007% JT (2022 4 :
HK$20,148,000) is included in “Operating expenses’”, 20,148,000/ 7T) 2 #SHFT A 48 &
HK$62,000 (2022: HK$93,000) is included in “Selling, general & A M#62,000/8 T (20224 :
and administrative expenses” during the year. 93,0008 7T) Z#HET A [$HE - —
MRITERER] -
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired has FURERAMES - FIWERNZEE S
been allocated to individual cash-generating units (CGUs) ERBEEDBEANERNRSES
identified according to operating segment. The recoverable B GREELENMN) - AlKEESEE )
amount is based on a value in use calculation. Carrying amount RBFAEESE - R2023F12 A
of allocated goodwill as at 31 December 2023 are not material A ZE R EREEEENE
individually or in aggregate. There was no impairment charge BATBEKX - FAMEEERERM
recognised during the year (2022: There was no impairment ¥ (2022 F : FRWEEERRERH
charge recognised during the year). %) e
Certain of the Group's new media subsidiaries are in the AN 55 B T AR BB HT B8 2 B IE IR R
process of applying for certain licences for the operation of BREFAENTFE  UEAIEEHE
their businesses, including internet audio-visual program X7 BREEEPNEEGESHBET
transmission licence and internet news licence. AJRE R AARFERT AT AR o
Investments in joint ventures 17 REELENRE
2023 2022
2023 2022 F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Unlisted investments, net IE ETHIRE FEE 34,989 35,152

The Group's investments in joint ventures are analysed as
follows:

AEENARELENRENNMT

2023 2022

2023 2022 &

HK$'000 HK$'000

FTER FAT

Unlisted investments, at cost JEETRE @ WA 45,104 56,585

Dividend received BHARE (2,038) (2,038)

Provision for impairment REREE (5) (3,859)
Share of profits less losses B(hE S RFREE

of joint ventures (8,380) (15,490)

Currency translation differences ~ &#E =%E 308 (46)

Unlisted investments, net JEETMRE TR 34,989 35,152
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17 Investments in joint ventures (Continued) 17

Details of the joint ventures which are accounted for by the
equity method of accounting as at 31 December 2023 were as

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

REELEENRE (&)

M 2023F 12 A31 AR EHEA
IRMAEREMFBOT

follows:
Percentage of Issued and fully
Place and date of Place of equity interest paid share capital/
Name incorporation operation Principal activity held by the Group registered capital
FEEREN BRITRAR
A FMK L ER A BENY TEEE  RAEZASW B/ FMER
Beijing Simulcast Communication The PRC, 7 January 2005 The PRC  Advertising business in 45% RMB30,000,000
Co. Ltd. * HE - 20061 87R HE  radio broadcasting, and AR¥30,000,00070
FRRPEEERERAR media marketing industry
in the PRC
HEERERES
FBREREHEES
AmER UL ERERAR The PRC, 15 December 2010 The PRC Radio broadcasting 50% RMB10,000,000
HE 20106 12R 158 e in the PRC AR 10,000,000
TEESERER
Huabao Phoenix Beijing Cultural The PRC, 2 September 2013 The PRC  Provision of promotional 65% RMB2,000,000
Communication Co,, Ltd.* (Note) ~ El - 2013598 2H WE  and related consulting AR 2,000,000
IrEEREULERBRAR (i) Services
TR E LA RS
FRERRER AR RER AR The PRC, 27 July 2016 The PRC Technical consulting 30% RMB1,000,000
HE - 2016F7 A 27 R i RS AKE1,000,0007
QSR LB EXRRERARA The PRC, 9 October 2016 ThePRC  Cultural development 40% RMB60,000,000
HE 2016510898 e p¢idid AR 60,000,000
International Chinese Medicine Hong Kong, 11 January 2017 Hong Kong Cultural development 50% HK$10,000
Cultural Festival Company Limited &7 20171 A 11 B Bl LR 10,0007
BB ERAR
EERR I EEERAT The PRC, 26 September 2017 The PRC  Programme production 65% RMB10,000,000
BB 20179 A 268 e fERE AR 10,000,0007C
BRERE (M) BRAT The PRC, 31 August 2017 The PRC Big data 5.47% RMB11,111,112
& 201758A31R el REE AREN 11,127
EFBEERRE AR AR  The PRC, 11 September 2020 ThePRC  Cultural development 30.60% RMB2,000,000
HE - 202069A11H i p¢idiid AR#2,000,0007
Note: BiEE :

Huabao Phoenix Beijing Cultural Communication Co., Ltd.* in which
the Group previously held 65% equity interest was dissolved on 24

February 2023.

* For identification purpose only
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17

18

Investments in joint ventures (Continued)

e ISR

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

17 REELENRE (&)

(a)  Aggregate information of joint venture that are individually @) ERFFEEHNEEECENE
immaterial. FTER} o
The Group has interests in a number of individually NEBRZRENUEZRSEA
immaterial joint ventures that are accounted for using the RMER T EEZNEERE
equity method. B R o
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET FAT
The Group's share of profits ARE B R AR EE &
less losses and total 2mE (FAX) hasssE
comprehensive (expense)/
income (457) 1,430
Aggregate carrying amount AEEREEFEERE 2 Es
of the Group's interests in V& FTEREE
these joint ventures 34,989 35,152
(b)  As at 31 December 2023, there are no commitments and (b) 72023F 12 A31H @ AN&EE

contingent liabilities relating to the Group’s interests in
joint ventures (2022: Nil).

Investments in associates

The Group's investments in associates are analysed as follows:

EHEANAEDRMNES AR
AR KA B fE (20224 -
) o

A

18 MREEQNTNKRE

REBREERBNREDTMT

2023 2022

2023 F 2022 F

HK$'000 HK$'000

TER FAT

Unlisted investments, at cost JEETRE @ IR 157,087 155,337

Capital return BRI (1,157) =

Impairment of investment REE R R ERE

in associates (32,943) (32,943)
Share of profits less losses (BB SN R AR 18

of associates (51,396) (44,812)

Currency translation differences ~ &#itE =28 (8,690) (8,738)

Unlisted investments, net FEEMIREFEE 62,901 68,844
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18
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Investments in associates (Continued)

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

18 REtEQTNKRE (&)

Details of the principal associates which are accounted for by
the equity method of accounting as at 31 December 2023 are

R 2023%F12 A31 B EEHZ N A]
(NiEm 2 AAR) S8 ¢

as follows:

Percentage Issued

of equity and fully paid

Place and date of Place of interest held share capital/

Name incorporation operation  Principal activity by the Group registered capital
REEBEN EETRAR

£ AL 2% A BEWE TEER REAERZREAM BA/EMER

Fengxin Technology (Haikou) The PRC, 22 August 2014 The PRC Provision of 8.50% RMB10,652,456
Group Company Limited* HE 201458 522 H e financing ANER#10,652,456 70
(“Fengxin Technology”) (Note (c)) platforms

B (8R) EBERAH RftEE
(TR 1) (B3 (c)

BESE (LR HEREERAT The PRC, 6 May 2016 The PRC Education 24% RMB10,000,000
(Note (i)) HE 20165 F6H HE technology AR 10,000,000 7T
(PRZE) HERR

Phoenix FM (Beijing) Information The PRC, 24 January 2014 The PRC Internet media 10.93% RMB59,663,991
Technology Co. Ltd.* HE 20141 A 248 H B AR 59,663,991 1T

BEERE (IR) FERMERAT
(Note (i)

(Bif3E i)

Beijing Fengming Jiutian Network The PRC, 28 February 2014 The PRC Internet media 10.93% RMB1,000,000
Technology Co. Ltd.* HE - 201452 A 28R H Lzl AR#1,000,0007

FRBENARBERITERAR
(Note (ii))

(PiS3E i)
FFERR AR AR The PRC, 8 March 2017 The PRC Game product 19.80% RMB10,418,750
HE - 201753 A8H HE development AR 10,418,750 7T
BRERRZ
* For identification purpose only EHER
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(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

18 Investments in associates (Continued)

18 REtEQTINKRE (&)

Percentage Issued
of equity and fully paid
Place and date of Place of interest held share capital/
Name incorporation operation  Principal activity by the Group registered capital
REBEEH ERTRER
#18 HMAIEER B 2B TEEE RIAEREM R/ FRER
AEBERGRERHBR A The PRC, 4 December 2018 The PRC Technical 2187% RMB5,000,000
HE - 201851248 i consultation AE#5,000,0007

)

LBBELEERPL(BRER) The PRC, 12 June 2018 The PRC Business 2.93% RMB373,000,000
(Note (ii)) HE - 2018%F6 A 12H H management AK#373,000,0007T
(PF=E (i) consulting

TEERHA

REE—RERIERARROE The PRC, 11 November 2020 The PRC Investment 13.53% RMB161,600,000
(BBA#) HE 202011 A1 E HE holding AE%161,600,0007C
(Note (ii)) RERR
Ci))

Henan Zhongyu Phoenix Digital The PRC, 18 June 2021 The PRC Digital 31.16% RMB10,000,000

Technology Co., Limited* HE 2021466 18H HE technology AR%10,000,000 7

MEETBERSTREERAH TR

REBERHE R BB AR The PRC, 18 December 2018 The PRC Technical 3.50% RMB13,360,682

FE - 2018512 A 18 HE consultation AE#13,360,682 7
Biffrsa
ERBRER UL ERERAT The PRC, 4 September 2012 The PRC Advertising/ 49% RMB20,000,000
FE - 201269 A4H H Exhibition AE%20,000,0007
EL/RE
Notes: B 5E -

(i) On 6 September 2023, the Group ceased to have interest in [El/El

JB1E (ILUR) HERHEABRAE] as a result of share transfer.

(ii) Upon the expiry of implementation period of the PNM
Repurchase Program on 27 February 2024, the Group's equity
interest in Phoenix New Media Limited (“PNM") and its
investments in associates were further increased. For details,
please refer to Note 37(a).

* For identification purpose only

(i) K 2023960 @ ARESE EMm
BHAEETHEERERE (1L
R) HERHEAR R AR DR o

(i)  FEEEEEI RN BN 2024 F
2 A27 BE| 8% - REBREEZ
HeEaR AR ([BEHEE]) RE
FOHE &R R IR & KO AR AR AR —

S0 - 3

* (EHER

B2 BIE37(a)
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18 Investments in associates (Continued) 18 MEELNTNKRE (8)

320

Note: (Continued) sk« (48)
(@  Aggregate information of associates that are individually @ ERNFEEMNHERFNETE
immaterial. %l o
The Group has interests in a number of individually immaterial REERZHE ARG EARM
associates that are accounted for using the equity method. &R FE B B /B & N B P A HE
2023 2022
2023 F 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FHT
The Group's share of profits N B ESE R R
less losses and total
s k)
comprehensive expense R EA e (12,610) (9,056)
Aggregate carrying amount ANEE R RN ]
of the Group's interests s
% (| p3
(including goodwill Z*Efﬂ (BEEE)
in these associates VaRHREE 62,901 68,844
(b) As at 31 December 2023, there are no commitments and (o)  M2023F12A318 - AEEI &
contingent liabilities relating to the Group's interests in associates ERE AR = A R A B H A
(2022: Nil). FEERNEEE (20225 : &) -
(c)  The Group indirectly held approximately 8.50% effective equity (c) M2023%12H31H k20224

interest in Fengxin Technology as at 31 December 2023 and 31
December 2022. The directors of the Company considered that
the Group has significant influence over Fengxin Technology
through its representative on the board of directors of Fengxin
Technology, Fengxin Technology’s reliance on the branding of
Phoenix, and the relationship of the controlling shareholder of
Fengxin Technology with the Group. The total investment costs
in Fengxin Technology have been separated into (i) “investments
in associates” which are accounted for using the equity method
of accounting; and (i) “financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss” for the call options and put options. As at 31 December
2023 and 2022, the entire carrying value of investment costs in
Fengxin Technology and option for long-term investment were
HK$Nil.

12 A31 B AEERHEFERN
BHE#18.50% 2 B IkAE - N AR
EERAEAEBEBERBHEIHE
EFgRK - BFEEGERE
2 R 18 A % B 3 sk s 42 AR AR BR B R
SEEBAEMEBHEREERY
27 - REFEHE Z BIFERAE
BB REEARMRE] - Ty
RESEHAAR - K (i) SR B
BERAHEEE DA RATESE
BESCEMNMEEE] - 12023
F%2022F12 8318 * REFE
BRZERAZBREAERRBR
BHRERRT -
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e B HRRME

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

19 Subsidiaries

(a)

19 KEBAQE]

The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at 31 (@) M2023F12A3MBEMEEZN
December 2023: BARIFENAT
Percentage
of equity Issued and fully
Place of incorporation Place of Principal interest held paid share capital/
Name and kind of legal entity operation activity by the Group registered capital
AEER Y AEEREN  BRORBERE/
£ WHREEERER EENY IERE  RAEZEAIL afER
Phoenix Satellite Television Hong Kong, limited Hong Kong Provision of 100% HK$20
Company Limited liability company %  management and 20%7T
BEfRERAR & BERAELAR related services
RELERR
BB
Phoenix Satellite Television British Virgin Islands, Hong Kong Satellite 100% US$1
(Chinese Channel) Limited limited liability company Bk television E
BEGRRXAERAR* RERUES broadcasting
AREARH FEERES
Phoenix Satellite Television British Virgin Islands, Hong Kong Satellite 100% US$1
(Movies) Limited limited liability company B television E
BEGREYAERAR* FBRIEE broadcasting
AREALH FEERER
Phoenix Satellite Television British Virgin Islands, The PRC Trademark 100% US$1
Trademark Limited limited liability company i holding 0
EREREEERAR ERELES - BiREE
BRELAR
Phoenix Chinese News & The United Kingdom, The United Satellite 70% (GBP9,831,424
Entertainment Limited limited liability company Kingdom television 9,831,424 8%
&E - BREEAR 5E broadcasting
FEERER
Phoenix Satellite Television British Virgin Islands, The PRC Investment 54.68% US$1
Information Limited limited liability company i holding E
(Note a (xi) ERELES RERK
BEERBRAR BREFAR
(Mfzxa (xi)
* For identification purpose only * [EHE7
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19 Subsidiaries (Continued) 19 HBLTE (&)

(a) The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at 31 (a) H2023F 12831 B EZEK
December 2023: (Continued) BARFBNT : (8)
Percentage
of equity Issued and fully
Place of incorporation Place of Principal interest held paid share capital/
Name and kind of legal entity operation activity by the Group registered capital
i fzAvs REEREN  ERORBERE/
£ WHREEERER EEHE TERE  RAREROL EfER
Phoenix Satellite Television British Virgin Islands, British Virgin Investment 100% US$1
(B.V.1.) Holding Limited limited liability company Islands holding (EF
[Note a (i) EREUES - ERRARE REEK
BRGREEERAR BREEAT
(FiszEali)
Hong Kong Phoenix Weekly Hong Kong, Hong Kong Publishing and 77% HK$100
Magazine Limited limited liability company B circulation of 100/87T
BAEEETERAR & ARELAT periodicals
AR R E TR
Phoenix Satellite Television British Virgin Islands, Hong Kong Satellite 100% US$1
(InfoNews) Limited limited liability company EE television (ES
ERERERAERAR FBRIEE broadcasting
BREMEAT BEERER
Phoenix Film and Television The PRC, The PRC ~ Ancillary services 60% HK$10,000,000
(Shenzhen) Company Limited* limited liability company i for programme 10,000,00087C
BEZE (R) BRAR HE - EREFAR production
£ B REREMRT
Phoenix Satellite Television United States, The United  Broadcast media 100% US$1
(U.S)), Inc. limited liability company Statesof  production and (Ep
X8 AREELH America distribution
X RHEEERE
K&
Phoenix Satellite Television British Virgin Islands, Taiwan Programme 100% US$1
(Taiwan) Limited limited liability company =) production (EF
EREHERNARAH EREUES - A R(E
BREFAH
Hong Kong Phoenix Satellite Hong Kong, Hong Kong Investment 100% HK$2
Television Limited limited liability company B holding 2B
EREEERBRAR &E ARAEAF REEK
@ For identification purpose only E R

322



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

19 Subsidiaries (Continued)

(a)

e ISR

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

19 MEAR (F&)

The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at 31 (@) M2023F12A3MBEMEEZN
December 2023: (Continued) BARFBNT : (8)
Percentage
of equity Issued and fully
Place of incorporation Place of Principal interest held paid share capital/
Name and kind of legal entity operation activity by the Group registered capital
AR RE@BEN  ERORERRE/
&R WEREEERER EEHE TEXB  RAREZADW ZRER
Fenghuang On-line (Beijing) The PRC, The PRC Technical 54.68% US$43,850,000
Information Technology limited liability company s consulting 43,850,000 7T
Company Limited * HE - ERERAH Bl
(Note a (xi)
BEER (R) EERMERAT
(FitzEa (xi)
Hong Kong Phoenix Books Culture Hong Kong, The PRC Publication 100% HK$1
Publishing Company Limited limited liability company i HREDR 15T
AABBZERULRERAR & ERALAR
Phoenix Metropolis Media Hong Kong, The PRC Outdoor 100% HK$400
Holdings Limited limited liability company s media business 400%7T
BESTEEERERAR 4 BRAEAR PoMERET
Phoenix New Media Limited Cayman Islands, The PRC Investment 54.68% US$2,629,549
(Note a (i)} limited liability company i holding (Class A
BB EEERAR HEHS  EREALH REER Ordinary shares)
(FitzFa (xi) US$3,173,254
(Class B
Ordinary shares)
2,629, 549%TT
(ABERER)
3,173,264
(BELER)
Phoenix Pictures Limited Hong Kong, Hong Kong Investment 100% HK$1
BEFRIEBRAR limited liability company BB holding 18T
Bk BRAEAT REER
Phoenix Centre (Hong Kong) Hong Kong, Hong Kong  Property holding 100% HK$1
Limited limited liability company % NERE 187
EEHL (BE) BRAR &4 BRELAR
Green Lagoon Investments Limited ~ British Virgin Islands, The PRC  Property holding 100% US$1
EREBR AR limited liability company el EST 1%

HBRAHE  ARAALT

* For identification purpose only

o {EHER
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19 Subsidiaries (Continued) 19 BT (&)

72023412 A31 B H £ & [t
BRAFBOT - (8)

(@) The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at 31 (a)
December 2023: (Continued)

324

Percentage
of equity Issued and fully
Place of incorporation Place of Principal interest held paid share capital/
Name and kind of legal entity operation activity by the Group registered capital
i fzAvs REEREN  ERORBERE/
£ WHREEERER EEHE TERE  RAREROL EfER
Phoenix Metropolis Media The PRC, The PRC Outdoor 62.22% RMB154,000,000
Technology Company Limited company limited by share i media business AR 154,000,000 70
Note ali) mEl - RVBRAT POMEERT
BE#BTEERRRAERAT
(B i)
Phoenix Metropolis Media The PRC, The PRC Outdoor 62.22% RMB22,072,992
(Shanghai) Company Limited* limited liability company i media business AR%22,072,992 T
EEGRANER (H8) BRAR  HE ERELAA POMEERT
Phoenix Metropolis Media The PRC, The PRC Outdoor 62.22% RMB8,857320
(Hangzhou) Company Limited* limited liability company i media business AK%8 857320 T
BRGRANTER (M) BRAR  HE EREEAA POMEERT
Phoenix Metropolis Media The PRC, The PRC Outdoor 62.22% RMB35,000,000
(Shenzhen) Company Limited* limited liability company i media business AR 35,000,0007C
BE#TEEF (RY) FRAT mE - AREEAT POMEERT
Phoenix Metropolis Media The PRC, The PRC Outdoor 62.22% RMB3,000,000
(Guangzhou) Company Limited* limited liability company i media business AR 3,000,000
BE#TERF (BN) FRAT mE - AREEAT MRS
* For identification purpose only {7
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19 Subsidiaries (Continued)

(a)

19 MEAR (F&)

The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at 31 (a)
December 2023: (Continued)

72023412 A31 B H £ & [t
BRAFBOT - (8)

Percentage
of equity Issued and fully
Place of incorporation Place of Principal interest held paid share capital/
Name and kind of legal entity operation activity by the Group registered capital
AEER Y AEEREN  BRORBERE/
£ WHREEERER EENY IERE  RAEZEAIL afER
Jiangsu Phoenix Metropolis Media The PRC, The PRC Outdoor 62.22% RMB15,000,000
Company Limited* limited liability company i media business AR 15,000,0007
L EEATEEERAT hE - AREEAT POMEERET
Phoenix Metropolis Media The PRC, The PRC Outdoor 62.22% RMB8,795,328
(Sichuan) Company Limited* limited liability company i media business AR%8 795,328
BE#TEEF (1)) FRAF hE - AREEAT POMEERET
Phoenix Oriental (Beijing) The PRC, The PRC  Property holding 70% RMB300,000,000
Properties Company Limited* limited liability company i nERE AK%300,000,0007C
BERH () EXERAHA HE - BREEAR
PNACC Television (Canada) Inc. Canada, Vancouver, Satellite 100% CAD100
limited liability company British television 100 907C
MEX - ARALEAT Columbia, broadcasting
Canada  HESHEE
JIEYN
AR R
IRAET
Phoenix Metropolis Media Hong Kong, The PRC Outdoor 100% HK$10,000
Company Limited limited liability company i media business 10,000 57T
BESTEEERAR Bk BRAEAT PoMEERET
Phoenix Radio Limited Hong Kong, Hong Kong Investment holding 100% HK$1
BEEREBRAR limited liability company B REER 187
&k BRAEAT
* For identification purpose only [EHE7
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19 Subsidiaries (Continued) 19 BT (&)

(a) The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at 31 (a) H2023F 12831 B EZEK

326

December 2023: (Continued)

BARFEWT : (B

Percentage
of equity Issued and fully
Place of incorporation Place of Principal interest held paid share capital/
Name and kind of legal entity operation activity by the Group registered capital
MY REEEEAN  ERORERRA/
8 R EEERER EEHY TEXR  RAREAIM EfER
Phoenix Satellite Television (France) ~ France, France Satellite 100% EUR100,000
SAS (Note afiv)) limited liability company B television 100,000B(7T
(MizEalv) EB BREFAR broadcasting
FEERARR
Beijing Tianying Jiuzhou The PRC, The PRC Advertising, 54.68% RMB10,000,000
Network Technology limited liability company HEl  mobile value-add AK%10,000,0007T
Co., Ltd.* (Note afii)(xi)) HE - BERERAH services, games
FERRBEAMNBER BB AR production and
(Ftsxaliii) others
BERE
BEEERT -
BEBUEREf
Yifeng Lianhe (Beijing) Technology The PRC, The PRC  Mobile value-add 54.68% RMB10,000,000
Co., Ltd.* (Note afii)(xi)) limited liability company i services AK#10,000,0007
RE®A (L) BEEREARR  FE AREMEAA BEEERY
(= aliil(xi)
Beijing Quwu Technology Co., Ltd.*  The PRC, The PRC Technology 54.68% RMB1,000,000
(Note alii)(xi)) limited liability company # development ARH1,000,0007
rEmRsaRAE (fataliix) RE - EREELE i
Beijing Tianying Chuangzhi The PRC, The PRC Advertising 54.68% RMB5,000,000
Advertising Co., Ltd.* (Note afiiil(xi)) ~limited liability company i EE8E AR%5,000,0007T
FRREAIBEERRAR HE - BREAAR
GEE )
PSTV. LLC United States, The United  Property holding 100% US$5,000,000
limited liability company States of nERE 5,000,000% 7
X ARAEAA America
B
Phoenix Metropolis Communication  The PRC, The PRC Outdoor 100% RMB78,170,238
(Beijing) Co., Ltd.* limited liability company HE  media business AR%78,170,238 ¢
BRSO ES (LR) BRAR  HE - ERERRA FOMEERT

* For identification purpose only

* {EHER



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

19 Subsidiaries (Continued)

(a)

e ISR

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

19 MEAR (F&)

The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at 31 (a) H2023F 12831 B EZEK
December 2023: (Continued) BARFEBET : (8)
Percentage
of equity Issued and fully
Place of incorporation Place of Principal interest held paid share capital/
Name and kind of legal entity operation activity by the Group registered capital
AEER Y AEEEEN  ERORERRA/
8 R EEERER EEBE IEXE  RABRADL EHER
Phoenix Cultural Consult (Beijing) The PRC, The PRC Investment 100% RMB1,000,000
Co., Ltd.* limited liability company HE holding AK1,000,0007
BEME AR OtR) BRAE B - BREAEAA RAER
Beijing Phoenix Huibo Media The PRC, The PRC Television and 100% RMB19,000,000
Company Limited* limited liability company H media content AK%19,000,0007C
(Note afii) E - BRELAR production
tREREREEERAT ERREENR
(F&F afi) SiE
Phoenix (UK) Properties Hong Kong, Hong Kong  Property holding 100% HK$1
Company Limited limited liability company B NEEE 187
BB (RE) EXERAR FE  BREERR
Phoenix Satellite Television Hong Kong, Hong Kong Television 100% HK$1
(Hong Kong Channel) Limited limited liability company B broadcasting 18T
BERR (BAa) BRARA &k BRAEAT SREE
Phoenix New Media (Hong Kong) Hong Kong, Hong Kong Advertising 54.68% HK$1
Company Limited limited liability company Bk EL8E 18T
(Note alxil) % BRREAR
BEEE (%) BRAA
(Pt alxi)
Peak Apex Limited British Virgin Islands, Hong Kong Aircraft 100% US$1
FEER AT limited liability company &/ chartering services (ES
ERRARS A SIRT
BREFAR
Phoenix Research & Development British Virgin Islands, Hong Kong Research and 100% US$1
Limited limited liability company 36 development 1%7
EEHERERERAT EERAES G
ARELAR
* For identification purpose only & EHER
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19 Subsidiaries (Continued) 19 BT (&)

72023412 A31 B H £ & [t
BRAFBOT - (8)

(@) The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at 31 (a)
December 2023: (Continued)

328

Percentage
of equity Issued and fully
Place of incorporation Place of Principal interest held paid share capital/
Name and kind of legal entity operation activity by the Group registered capital
AL REEEEAN  ERORERRA/
£ R EEERER EENY TEXH  RARERSL EfER

Phoenix Industrial Development Hong Kong, Hong Kong Research and 100% HK$1
Centre Limited limited liability company BE development 181

BEEXERTLOERARA &E  BREMLAT HERFE

Phoenix Research Institute Limited Hong Kong, Hong Kong Research and 100% -

BEH%ERER AR company limited by B development

quarantee HERFARE
A BRERAR

Phoenix Culture Industrial Hong Kong, Hong Kong Investment 100% HK$1
Development Company Limited limited liability company B holding 181

BEXtEXERERARA & BREMLAT RAER

Phoenix Culture Creation Hong Kong, Hong Kong Cultural 100% HK$1
Development Company Limited limited liability company BE development 1381

BEXEIERERAR &4 ARALAR YR

Phoenix Culture Creation Hong Kong, Hong Kong Cultural 100% HK$1
Management Company Limited limited liability company BE development 1381

BEXEIERBRAR &4 ARALAR YR

Phoenix Culture Creation Industrial Hong Kong, Hong Kong Cultural 100% HK$1
investment Management limited liability company BE development 1381
Company Limited 7 BREMAH XEHE

BEXEESRAERERAT

Beijing Fenghuang Yutian The PRC, The PRC Software 54.68% RMB5,000,000
Software Technology Co., Ltd. * limited liability company i development ARE5,000,0007C
[Note alxil HE - EREAAR BfEE

I REERREERMBRAR
GEEN)

ERBRBEEEIERAR The PRC, The PRC Technical 54.68% RMB10,000,000
(Note al(i)(xi)) limited liability company i consulting AK#10,000,0007
(Bt alii) mE - AREERA i

* For identification purpose only {7



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

19 Subsidiaries (Continued)

(@) The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at 31

December 2023: (Continued)

e ISR

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

19 MEAR (F&)

(a) TA2023F12 A31 BT EHK
BRAFBOT - (8)

Percentage
of equity Issued and fully
Place of incorporation Place of Principal interest held paid share capital/
Name and kind of legal entity operation activity by the Group registered capital
AEER Y AEEEEN  ERORERRA/

8 R EEERER EEBE IEXE  RABRADL Bli-u

Phoenix Culture Industrial The PRC, The PRC Cultural 100% HK$25,000,000
Development (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.* limited liability company A development 25,000,000 7T

BEGRXEXER (1) hE - AREEAR (3
BRAF

Tianjin Fenghuang Mingdao The PRC, The PRC Advertising 54.68% RMB2,000,000
Culture Communication Co., Ltd. *  limited liability company i EERE AE%2,000,0007T
(Note aii) i) HE - BREEAR

AERESEUERERAT
(PR 2E afii) i)

Beijing Fenghuang Ronghe The PRC, The PRC Financial 54.68% RMB10,000,000
Investment Co. Ltd.* (Note afiij(x)) ~ limited liability company #E consulting services AR10,000,0007

tREERAREERAR HE - BREEAR SR ARS
(PR 2E afii) i)

Shanghai Miaogiu Information The PRC, The PRC Technical 54.68% RMB62,080,000
Technology Co., Ltd.* limited liability company HE consulting AR 62,080,000
(Note afii)(xi) HE - BREEAR R

ERREREINERAR
(PR 2E afii) i)

Phoenix Overseas Infonews Hong Kong, Hong Kong Investment 100% HK$1
Company Limited limited liability company B holding 15T

ERBNERBRAR 4 BERALAR RAER

Fenghuang Feiyang (Beijing) The PRC, The PRC Advertising 54.68% RMB200,000,000
New Media Information limited ligbility company # BERE ARE200,000,0007C

Technology Co., Ltd.*
(Note afxi)

BERE (hR) HEEES
BifERAR (HzEalx)

ME - BREAAA

* For identification purpose only

o {EHER
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e ISR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (BRIEHFRIEER - @ BB ITSIE)

19 Subsidiaries (Continued) 19 BT (&)

(a) The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at 31 (a) H2023F 12831 B EZEK
December 2023: (Continued) BARFBNT : (8)
Percentage
of equity Issued and fully
Place of incorporation Place of Principal interest held paid share capital/
Name and kind of legal entity operation activity by the Group registered capital
AL REEEEAN  ERORERRA/
£ R EEERER EENY TEXH  RARERSL EfER
Phoenix New Media (Hong Kong) Hong Kong, Hong Kong Investment 54.68% HK$1
information Technology limited liability company B holding 181
Company Limited 7 BREMAH REER
(Note a (xi))
BEHEE (B8) GERMERAT
GEEL)
Convergence Investment Co. Ltd Cayman Islands, The PRC Investment 54.68% US$0.01
limited liability company i consultancy 001 %1
FEHE REHN
BREFLF
Phoenix InfoNews Japan Limited* Japan, Japan Satellite television 100% JPY9,000,000
BEEARARRAR* limited liability company ) broadcasting 9,000,0008
BA - ERAMEATA BEERER
Shanghai Phoenix General The PRC, The PRC Cultural 100% RMB100,000,000
Nice Art Development Co. Ltd.* limited liability company i development AE#100,000,0007C
HERERRENERERAA mE - AREERA YR
Fread Limited Cayman Islands, Cayman Islands Investment 54.68% US$0.01
(Note a (xi) limited liability company RES holding 0.01%L
BRERAR FEHES - RAER
(MizFa (i) BREFLF
| Game (Hong Kong) Company Hong Kong, Hong Kong Investment 54.68% HK$1
Limited (Note a (i) limited liability company BE holding 18T
B (B%) BRAR (Mzka (xi) &4 ARELAR RERK
BE% (1) L BRERAR The PRC, The PRC Cultural 32.81% RMB10,000,000
(Note al(i)(xi)) limited liability company i development AK#10,000,0007
(B 2E afii)(xi) mE - AREERA YR
* For identification purpose only @ E R
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(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

19 Subsidiaries (Continued)

(a)

The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at 31

December 2023: (Continued)

e ISR

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

19 MEAR (F&)

(a) TA2023F12 A31 BT EHK
BRAFBOT - (8)

Percentage
of equity Issued and fully
Place of incorporation Place of Principal interest held paid share capital/
Name and kind of legal entity operation activity by the Group registered capital
AL FE@EEN  CRARERRE/
2R WEREEERER EEHE TEXH  RARERSL ERER
Beijing Huanyou Tianxia The PRC, The PRC Software 54.68% RMB10,000,000
Technology Co., Ltd.* (Note afiiij(xi)) ~ limited liability company H development AK#10,000,0007
FREER THBEERAF mEl - AREEAF HHRE
(B2 i) o)
Beijing Fenghuang Borui Software The PRC, The PRC Software 54.68% US$1,000,000
Technology Co. Ltd.* (Note a(xi)) limited liability company # development 1,000,000 7T
ITRBEEHBARMEREANR  FE  AREEAF BN
GEEN)
Phoenix Education Development Hong Kong, Hong Kong Investment 100% HK$1
Company Limited limited liability company 5& holding 18T
BEHRERARAR & AREAAR RERR
Phoenix Property Investment British Virgin Islands, British Investment 100% US$1
Holding Limited limited liability company  Virgin Islands holding 1%
BEEXRARRERAR] RERAHS - ERRAEE RERK
BREFAH
Phoenix Property Development Hong Kong, Hong Kong Property 100% HK$1
Limited limited liability company B development 15T
BEEXERERAT] % AREAAR nEER
Phoenix Cloud Technology Hong Kong, Hong Kong Investment 100% HK$1
Development Company Limited limited liability company Bb holding 18
BEEFRERERARAH &% BRAEMAT RAER
BEZEE (7)) BEERERAA  The PRC, The PRC Technical 100% RMB3,000,000
limited liability company i consulting AR%3,000,0007T
mEl - AREEAT i
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19 Subsidiaries (Continued)

332

(a)

The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at 31

December 2023: (Continued)

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

19 HWEAR (8

(a) TA2023F12 A31 BT EHK
BRAFBOT - (8)

Percentage
of equity Issued and fully
Place of incorporation Place of Principal interest held paid share capital/
Name and kind of legal entity operation activity by the Group registered capital
AL KEERAN BRIRARRE/
2R WEREEERER BENY TEXH  RARERSL ERER
FTRBERALEREERAR The PRC, The PRC Software 100% RMB10,000,000
(Note (vi)) limited liability company # development AR10,000,0007
i) HE - BREAAR HHRE
Phoenix Entertainment and Hong Kong, Hong Kong Investment 98.98% HK$985
Game Company Limited limited liability company BB holding 985 87T
BEREERERAR & BREMAT RAER
Phoenix Satellite Television Hong Kong, Hong Kong Investment 100% HK$1
investment Limited limited liability company B holding 15T
BEGRREERAR & ERAMLAT RER
Phoenix New Life Limited Hong Kong, Hong Kong Investment 100% HK$1
BEMEEEAERAT limited liability company B holding 18T
&% ARALAA REER
I RERRMERREERAR The PRC, The PRC Investment 98.98% RMB1,000,000
limited liability company e holding ARH1,000,0007C
HEl - BREAAF REER



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

19 Subsidiaries (Continued)

(a)

The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at 31

December 2023: (Continued)

e ISR

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

19 MEAR (F&)

(a) TA2023F12 A31 BT EHK
BRAFBOT - (8)

Percentage
of equity Issued and fully
Place of incorporation Place of Principal interest held paid share capital/
Name and kind of legal entity operation activity by the Group registered capital
AR RE@BEN  ERORERRE/
&R WEREEERER EEHE IEEH  RAERAESM ZRER
I REAGEREERAR The PRC, The PRC Game 98.98% RMB10,000,000
(Note aliii)) limited liability company i development AK%10,000,0007C
(BissZatii) mEl EREERA BERE
LERREEHRERAT The PRC, The PRC Game 98.98% RMB1,000,000
(Note aliii)) limited liability company H development AK% 1,000,000
(BissZatii) HEl EREERA BERE
Phoenix Hong Kong Television Hong Kong, Hong Kong Dormant 100% HK$1
Limited (Note alvil)) limited liability company Bt i3 57 18T
EREEERBRAT (MiEavi) &% BREEAR
BE&RX(LES(LE)BBAT  The PRC, The PRC Cultural 100% RMB20,000,000
limited liability company H development AR¥20,000,000 7
HEl EREERA TR
Phoenix Exhibitions Company Hong Kong, Hong Kong Exhibitions 100% HK$1
Limited limited liability company B business 17T
BEREERAR &4 BREMEAR REEHK
Sky Fame Business Limited British Virgin Islands, Hong Kong Investment 100% US$100
(Note a(viil) limited liability company B holding 100%7T
REEXARAT ERENES - RERK
(BizEalvii) BRELAR
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19 Subsidiaries (Continued)

(a)

334

The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at 31

December 2023: (Continued)

19 HWEAR (8

(a)

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

72023412 A31 B H £ & [t
BRAFBOT - (8)

Percentage
of equity Issued and fully
Place of incorporation Place of Principal interest held paid share capital/
Name and kind of legal entity operation activity by the Group registered capital
B RE@EEN  ERARERRE/
£ WEREEERER EEBE TEXH  RARERASL ERER
Shanghai Fengyu Shixun Technology ~ The PRC, The PRC Media 54.68% RMB50,000,000
Co., Ltd.* (Note alii)(xi) limited liability company # technology AK50,000,0007C
HEERRARSRERAR HE - ERERAH development
(Bt alii) BERITRE
I REEEFHBEERAR The PRC, The PRC Technical 7791% RMB14,618,900
limited liability company e consulting AR 14,618,900
mEl - AREERF e
TIUAZCER () BRAT  The PRC, The PRC Cultural 7791% RMB10,000,000
limited liability company i development AK%10,000,0007C
mEl - AREERF XHEE
Gongxi (Taiyuan) Cultural The PRC, The PRC Cultural 62.33% RMB500,000
Communication Co., Limited* limited liability company i development AR%500,0007C
BE (KR) X BRERAE mEl - AREERA MR
Beijiing Fengyue Culture The PRC, The PRC Media 54.68% RMB10,000,000
Technology Co., Ltd.* (Note afiiil(xi)) ~ limited liability company H technology AR#10,000,0007
IREEUE R EARAR HE - ERERAH development
(Bt aliie) BERITRE
Tianjin Fengying Hongda Culture The PRC, The PRC Cultural 54.68% RMB2,000,000
Communication Co., Ltd.* limited liability company HE development AR 2,000,0007C
[Note alxil E - BREAARA MR
REBRREERERAE
(GEE)
Phoenix Culture Property Hong Kong, Hong Kong Investment 100% HK$1
Investment Limited limited liability company 0 holding 18T
BEXCEXERAR &% BRAEMAT RAER
* For identification purpose only @ E R



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B HRRME

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

19 Subsidiaries (Continued)

(a)

The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at 31

December 2023: (Continued)

19 MEAR (F&)

(a)

72023412 A31 B H £ & [t
BRAFBOT - (8)

Percentage

of equity Issued and fully
Place of incorporation Place of Principal interest held paid share capital/
Name and kind of legal entity operation activity by the Group registered capital
AR RE@BEN  ERORERRE/
&R WEREEERER EEHE IERE  RAEEAIM ZRER
BEREXLAR (LR)BBAT  The PRC, The PRC Cultural 82.35% RMB2,000,000
limited liability company i development AK%2,000,0007T

HE - AREEAA XHEE
Lilita Financial Investment Limited British Virgin Islands, The PRC Investment 100% US$1
limited liability company A holding (%

EERAEE REER

ARELAR

FENGSHOWS LIMITED Hong Kong, The PRC Software 100% HK$1
BEFERAR limited liability company s application 18T

&5 BRELAR development

ENEER
BEZH (LR EEMRBERAT  The PRC, The PRC Technology 100% RMB1,000,000
limited liability company e development AK%1,000,0007T

HE - AREEAA R
Phoenix Overseas Investment Hong Kong, Hong Kong Investment 100% HK$1
Advisory Limited limited liability company B holding 18T

BEBMY AR ERAR 4 BRAEAR RERK
FERERERERUEREERAR  The PRC, The PRC Cultural 51% RMB10,526,300
limited liability company e development AEK#10,526,300 7

HE - AREEAA XHEE
BEEEMR(LR)EBAT  The PRC, The PRC Technology 51% RMB10,000,000
limited liability company e development AK%10,000,0007T

HE - AREEAA R
BEARE (LR BEARAR The PRC, The PRC Technology 30.60% RMB3,000,000
limited liability company i promotion AK%3,000,0007T

HE - AREEAA TR
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19 Subsidiaries (Continued) 19 BT (&)

72023412 A31 B H £ & [t
BRAFBOT - (8)

(@) The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at 31 (a)
December 2023: (Continued)

336

Percentage

of equity Issued and fully
Place of incorporation Place of Principal interest held paid share capital/
Name and kind of legal entity operation activity by the Group registered capital
B REERAN BRTRARRE/
28 WEREEERER BEHY TEXH  RARERASL HfMER
FRABENCERERRERAR  The PRC, The PRC Hotel 51% RMB3,000,000
limited liability company i management AK%3,000,0007T

HE - BREAARA BEER

Phoenix Radio U.S. Inc. United States, The United Radio 100% Us$1
(Note afix)) limited liability company States of broadcasting 1%
(i alix) B - BRAFAT America BREE

e

BEER (R BRAF Macau, Macau Satellte television 100% MOP25,000
limited liability company i programme P95 25,0007

B BRAEAT production

HEERHELE
BEEMEXRE(TE)BRAT  ThePRC, The PRC Investment 100% RMB10,000,000
limited liability company e management AK%10,000,0007C

HE - BREAARA RAER

Beijing Fenghuang Tianbo Network ~ The PRC, The PRC Technology 27.34% RMB1,960,000
Technology Co., Ltd.* (Note afiiil(xi)) ~ limited liability company H promotion AK#1,960,000

FRBEXERERITARAR mEl - AREERA R
(P afii (i)

IRERBRRENBRAR The PRC, The PRC Technology 27.34% RMB500,000
Note al(ii)xi)) limited liability company i development ARE500,0007C
(= aliixi) E - BREAARA R

EESREEFALR) BRAT  ThePRC, The PRC Advertising 2734% RMB1,000,000
[Note afii(xi) limited liability company i BERE AR 1,000,0007C
(= aliixi) HE - BREAARA

* For identification purpose only * {7



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B HRRME

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

19 Subsidiaries (Continued)

(a)

19 MEAR (F&)

The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at 31 (@) M2023F12A3MBEMEEZN
December 2023: (Continued) BARFBNT : (8)
Percentage
of equity Issued and fully
Place of incorporation Place of Principal interest held paid share capital/
Name and kind of legal entity operation activity by the Group registered capital
AR RE@BEN  ERORERRE/
&R WEREEERER EEHE TEXB  RAREZADW ZRER
Aifang (Tianjin) Internet The PRC, The PRC Internet 2734% RMB2,000,000
Technology Co., Ltd.* (Note afiiil(xi))  limited liability company i technology AK%2,000,0007T
ER (KE) ERERITERAR el BRELAR development
(Bitszalini) ERERRRE
ARERN A ERITBR AR The PRC, The PRC Internet 16.40% RMB2,000,000
(Note aliii) (xi)) limited liability company HE technology AK%2,000,0007T
(P &E afii) ) e BRELAR development
ER@RRRE
WRRAAZERBRIERAR] The PRC, The PRC Internet 2734% RMB1,500,000
(Note aliii) (xi)) limited liability company H technology AR% 1,600,000
(P& afii) ) e BRELAR development
ERERRRE
BB (TE) X ERERAR The PRC, The PRC Programme 100% RMB10,000,000
(Note aliii)) limited liability company i production AK%10,000,0007C
(Bt atii) HEl EREERA HARME
Beijing Phoenix Shangpin Culture The PRC, The PRC Cultural 50.50% RMB5,000,000
Communication Co., Limited* limited liability company HE development ARE5,000,0007
FRBEE R ERERAR mEl - BREEAR XHEE
ERmm (PR UL EEERAR  The PRC, The PRC Cultural 50.50% RMB5,000,000
limited liability company i development AR%5,000,0007T
HE - AREEAA XHEE
BE R (EM) ULEEERAT  ThePRC, The PRC Cultural 50.50% RMB10,000,000
limited liability company e development AK%10,000,0007T
HE - AREEAA XHEE

* For identification purpose only

o {EHER
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19 Subsidiaries (Continued)

(a)

338

The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at 31

December 2023: (Continued)

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

19 HWEAR (8

(a)

R 2023F 12 A

31BN EZH

BARFEWT : (B

Percentage
of equity Issued and fully
Place of incorporation Place of Principal interest held paid share capital/
Name and kind of legal entity operation activity by the Group registered capital
AL FE@EEN  CRARERRE/
2R WEREEERER EEHE TEER  RARBEAAIM ERER
Phoenix Odyssey Culture Hong Kong, Hong Kong Program 85% HK$10,000
Communications Co. Limited limited liability company B production 10,000 57T
BEETATERERARA &% ARERAR FARME
Phoenix Health Technology (HK) Hong Kong, Hong Kong Investment 100% HK$10,000
Limited (Note a(x)) limited liability company Bk holding 10,000%7T
BERRRE (5) FRAR % ARERAR RERK
(Fif3E atx)
BERTEl (LB EERAANKEE The PRC, The PRC Fund 70% RMB100,000,000
(BBEH) limited partnership HE investment AK#100,000,000 70
hEl - ERAR EeRE
BB (B LR AR AR The PRC, The PRC Advertising 100% RMB10,000,000
Note afii) limited liability company # BERtE ARK10,000,0007C
(BifsEatii)) mEl - AREARF
IEREEREAIBREARRE  The PRC, The PRC Cultural 100% RMB10,000,000
limited liability company i development AK%10,000,0007T
mEl - AREARF LR
Phoenix Cultural Media (Beijing) The PRC, The PRC Cultural 100% RMB20,000,000
Co., Limited* limited liability company i development AK%20,000,0007C
BRERCEE (kR) BRAR  HE EREALA LR
Phoenix Investment (Cayman Islands) ~ Cayman Islands, The PRC Fund 100% US$1
Limited limited liability company i investment (E
BE#%E (Hg) BRAR FEHE  BRAMAH EeRE

* For identification purpose only

* {EHER



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(@) The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at 31

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

19 Subsidiaries (Continued)

December 2023: (Continued)

e ISR

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

19 MEAR (F&)

(a)

72023412 A31 B H £ & [t
BRAFBOT - (8)

Percentage
of equity Issued and fully
Place of incorporation Place of Principal interest held paid share capital/
Name and kind of legal entity operation activity by the Group registered capital
AL FE@EEN  CRARERRE/
2R WEREEERER EEHE TEXH  RARERSL ERER

FRERAE U EEBRAR The PRC, The PRC Investment 100% RMB100,000
(Note afii) limited liability company H holding AK%100,0007T
(BissEati) HEl EREEAA RERK

BERD (BN) BB ERE The PRC, The PRC Advertising 54.68% RMB1,000,000
BRAT limited liability company HE BERE AK%1,000,0007T
[Note afii)xi) el BREAAH
(=R aliilxi)

Shanghai Huibo Hengxin Film and The PRC, The PRC  Movie production 100% RMB5,000,000
Television Cultural Development limited liability company # investment AR%5,000,0007T
Company Limited* el BREAAH TR

FEERESTYACERERAT

Phoenix Intelligent Media (Beijing) The PRC, The PRC Public relation 100% RMB2,000,000
Technology Cultural Company limited liability company # service AK%2,000,0007C
Limited* e BREEAR DR

BEEHE R B ERAR

Guangdong Yidai Media Advertising ~ The PRC, The PRC Advertising 70% RMB5,000,000
Company Limited* limited liability company H BERE ARH#5,000,0007

BR-REEEEERAR hEl  ERELAA

Shenzhen Phoenix Star Cultural The PRC, The PRC Advertising 100% RMB5,000,000
Industrial Company Limited* limited liability company i BERE AR%5,000,0007T

ATERE X EXERAR mEl  ERELAA

Notes: BT

(i) Phoenix Satellite Television (B.V.l.) Holding Limited is
directly held by the Company, while all other subsidiaries
are indirectly held by the Company through Phoenix

Satellite Television (B.V.I.) Holding Limited.

* For identification purpose only

i FEHEEEERIFHA
RAEERA  MABHEM
MEARBBARRZEBE
EEHREEER AR RS
5o

o {EHER
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19 Subsidiaries (Continued)

(a)

340

The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at 31
December 2023: (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

During the year, the Group’s equity interest in Phoenix
Metropolis Media Technology Company Limited increased
from 61.55% to 62.22% as a result of acquisiton of
additional interest.

The Group does not have any equity interest in Beijing
Tianying Jiuzhou Network Technology Co., Ltd.*, Beijing
Fenghuang Ronghe Investment Co. Ltd.*, 4t & & %A
BRRARAA and It FENEFE L EEERA A
and their respective subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as “VIE entities”). However, through entering into
various contractual arrangements with the registered
equity holders of VIE entities, the Group has rights to
variable returns from its involvement with these VIE
entities and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over them and is considered to control them.
Consequently, the Company regards VIE entities as indirect
subsidiaries under HKFRS. The Group has included the
financial position and results of these VIE entities in the
consolidated financial statements from date of acquisition
of control. The management of the Group is of the opinion
that these contractual arrangements are in compliance with
relevant PRC laws and regulations and are legally binding
and enforceable.

On 12 October 2023, the issued and fully paid share capital
of Phoenix Satellite Television (France) SAS was reduced
fromm EUR500,000 to EUR100,000.

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

19 HWEAR (8

(a) TA2023F12 A31 BT EHK
BRAFBOT - (8)

Bt - (88)

(i)  RFA - AWEEEIMER M
BYRAEERB BT EE
B M B R A B A IR AHE
5 61.55% 35 E 62.22% °

(i)  AEEIWLERIERKREN
MBEEMARAT -~ £
FEREKRERRAR
EREARGBRHEER AR
oAb R NS S A
PR A BA R 3% B BB B 1 R
(AT ENEER])
A EMERAER - A
BRET SN R E RN
BEHFAEATLEZNENR
BE - RSS2 SR 2
Uk AT b JEE R o
ARSI ETHEE L
BIZEZELH  WEH
PRI E AT E NS L o
it AR RRERBU B H
HEEARU SR E N E RE
REEMELR - AEHA
MSEHIE2 BRERS
TSR AT AL F A & R 2
ERZHBERRNEEE - K
SECERERR HER
DR RETRBEEER
ERAR BB EEHRI R
AR BIBTT -

(v M2023F10A128 -
Phoenix Satellite Television
(France) SASE 217 & B &
& B% 75 B3 500,000 B 7T R 4>
Z 100,000 BAJT ©



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e TR M EE

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

19 Subsidiaries (Continued)

(@) The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at 31
December 2023: (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(v)

On 6 September 2023, Phoenix International Education
Company Limited disposed all of the 60% equity interest
amounted to HK$7842,000, which mainly representing
accounts receivable, prepayments, deposits and other
receivables, accounts payable, other payables and accruals
and loan from non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries
at a consideration of RMB8,472,000 (equivalent to
HK$9,072,000) and net of cash and bank balances of
RMB2,649,000 (equivalent to HK$2,837.000) disposed, in
which RMB5,000,000 (equivalent to HK$6,222,000) was
received in 2023. A gain on disposal of HK$1,230,000
was recognised in the consolidated income statement.
Upon the completion of the aforesaid disposal, the Group
ceased to have interest in Phoenix International Education
Company Limited and its subsidiaries including /Bl 7 (&
INBERHZBER AR, BEFHE (LR)BERHRER
~HE], BESE UR)AEREERAT, BRBEXL
HEEEBRMER AR, BRBEEGER) UEEARA
7, BEBBEHAE R GER) AR AR, 5K IER R
BERHEABER AR and ER (LR EEFBAERAR.

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

19 MEAR (F&)

(a) TA2023F12 A31 BT EHK
BRAFBOT - (8)

BRE - ()

(v)

MR20239H6H - B E
BEEHBEERARIUKEA
R #8,472,0007T (8 & R
9,072,00077T) & T 60%
) 2 #B A% 7N 4 %5 7,842,000
B HEZ BREIRIER -
B FIE - e REAER
RIE  ERERER - HAaEN
RIA K FEETRIA - LA R KT
BARIEERBRRRERE
o AIBREHERS R
R 1T 4 88 A R %5 2,649,000
7T (&7 2,837000/7T)
H B A R %5000,0007C
(#8E 76,222,000 BT) B
R 2023 F WER - H & U 25
1,230,000/ 7T R 4R & W &5
% AEEREEBRESE
ERARKEEKBART (8
ERF ORI HBEREE
RAR - BEFES (tR)
HEREERAR  BE
HE (b R) HEREAR
AR BRERXEHEE
BRMERAR - FAEE
(IER) UEBEEER AR
BEBEEHER K (R
BRAR - BRAED) I EREH
EREARARRESR (4t
) EEZEHRNBRAF) T
BIEERAE -
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19 Subsidiaries (Continued)

(a)

342

The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at 31
December 2023: (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

(x)

(xi)

bR EER A EEEAR AR, a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, was dissolved on 19 July 2023.

Phoenix Hong Kong Television Limited became dormant
since 12 October 2017.

Sky Fame Business Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, was dissolved on 1 May 2023.

Phoenix Radio US, Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, was dissolved on 25 October 2023.

Phoenix Health Technology (HK) Limited, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, was dissolved on 1 March
2024.

Upon the expiry of the implementation period of the PNM
Repurchase Program on 27 February 2024, the Group's
equity interest in PNM and its subsidiaries were further
increased. For details, please refer to Note 37(a).

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

19 HWEAR (8

(a) TA2023F12 A31 BT EHK
BRAFBOT - (8)

BRE - ()

vi) AARZZEMBRAILR
RERECERERA
A B R2023F7R19H
FREL -

i) EBERBBERBR AR
2017F10A12B K BT &
E/NGI

(vii) ARRZEZEWBATRE
BEBRARF @+ BR20234F
581 BARRL °

ix ARRZE2EMBRF
Phoenix Radio US, Inc. * B
20234 10 A 25 RfRA °

(x) ARrRIZZ2ENBARBE
RERZ(ES)BRARF -
BN 20243 A1 BEEAR °

(xi)  FTEEEERE LT AN E R
202442 8278 B H 1% -
AN B A B R T AR 88 I EL A
BRER R A i — P
on - FEFLEMEES7() °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

19 Subsidiaries (Continued)

(b)

The Company has undertaken to provide the necessary
financial resources to support the future operations of the
subsidiaries within the Group. The Directors are of the
opinion that the underlying value of the subsidiaries was
not less than the carrying amount of the subsidiaries as at
31 December 2023.

Cash and short-term deposits of HK$1,531,295,000
(2022: HK$1,160,900,000) held in the PRC are subject to
local exchange control regulations. These local exchange
regulations provide for restrictions on exporting capital
from the country, other than through normal dividends.

Material non-controlling interests

The total non-controlling interests as at 31 December
2023 are HK$979,058,000 (2022: HK$1,020,462,000),
of which HK$211,178,000 (2022: HK$205,734,000) is
attributed to PMM Beijing and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as “"PMM Group”); HK$672,733,000
(2022: HK$719,205,000) is attributed to PNM and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “PNM Group”);
and HK$113,225,000 (2022: HK$117673,000) is attributed
to Phoenix Oriental (Beijing) Properties Company Limited
(“Phoenix Oriental”). The non-controlling interests in
respect of other subsidiaries in which the Group holds
less than 100% are not material.

Set out below are the summarised financial information
for PMM Group, PNM Group and Phoenix Oriental that
have non-controlling interests that are material to the
Group. See Note 37 for transactions with non-controlling
interests.

e B HRRME

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

19 MIEAF ()

(b)

(c)

ARBAEFREVDETEER
A HAREERK B AT R AR
REE - BEERAE - HIBAA
REBEETERNERRR
2023412 A 31 HAYERMEE -

B+ A 2 1,631,295,000 %8
7t (20224 : 1,160,900,000
T0) RE REHHFERAEST I
T3 SN B G o st it 5 Hh
B &5 ] 1% {91 BRR 7611 48 B P B 1
& HBBREEEREET
HBRAN

SRS

MR2023%F12 8318 2 3k #
Ji% % %5 48 %8 /5 979,058,000 78
7t (20224 : 1,020,462,000
BIT) B HA9211,178,000 78
JC (2022 : 205,734,000
J0) @RI B R T & E
M~ a (548 [ 4t =B R &R
™ & @) : 672,733,000 7T
(2022 % : 719,205,000/ 7T)
SEREENEENENBER
A (B B EMEEERE])
113,225,000 77T (2022 4F :
117,673,000 % 7T ) 55 /@ R Bl
BEF (R EXERAT
(TBE=RR5]) HAKEFE
D 100% B E A BT B A
A B BRI R FEE E -

TXHINEEUAEBREE
ZIE R S A I R B E
£E - REFKREELEE
RITNMIEERE - BIEE
Ptz R 5 H2HMEST -
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19

344

Subsidiaries (Continued)

(d)

Material non-controlling interests (Continued)

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

19 HWEAR (8

(d E2IFE

Ptz (48)

Summarised balance sheet EEEERHE
PMM Group PNM Group Phoenix Oriental
IRREFTEE BEFRERE BERA
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
ABE WNE 238 0028 ABE 10%
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T ThL T T T T
(restated) (restated)
(=5]) (&=3])
Current assets AR 663,426 696,168 1,588,693 1,802,785 202,292 176,540
Current labilties iiEEN (365,562) (445,370) (535,932) (697548) (1,316,339) (131337
Net current assets/ THEE/ (B 58
(liabilities) 297,864 250,798 1,052,761 1,105,237 (1,114,047) (1,136,834
Non-current assets FREEE 912,442 851423 281,423 346,573 1,610,133 1,665,124
Non-curent liabiities ~ FRBE(E (654,082) (570,104) (72,506) (92,149) (118,668) (126,047)
Net non-current assets ~ JEREIEEEE 258,360 281,319 208,917 254,424 1,491,465 1,529,077
Net assets BETHE 556,224 532,117 1,261,678 1,359,661 317418 392,243
Non-controliing IrERSTEE/
interests within BEsREsE/
PMM Group/PNM BER A
Group/Phoenix SHRES
Qriental - - 84,476 76,440 - -
Netassets attributable  tREEHHEE/
to owners of PMM BEHEEEE/
Group/PNM Group/ BERAREEA
Phoenix Oriental ElRAERE 556,224 532,117 1,346,154 1,436,101 377418 392,243
Non-controlling interests ~ FE2 R 21,178 205,734 672,733 719,206 113,225 117673
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(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

19 Subsidiaries (Continued)

(d)

Material non-controlling interests (Continued)

e ISR

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

19 MEAR (F&)

(d) EEFFRER (B)

Summarised income statement and statement of KaRREEBREREE
comprehensive income
PMM Group PNM Group Phoenix Oriental
LRBEHTEE EENEERE BEXA
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
2023% WNE ABE 10E 2023% 20025
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
ThT i T it Thr Fin
(restated) (restated)
(& E3]) (&=3])
Revenue WA 601,487 785,547 781,816 947966 58,057 70,604
Profitflloss) before BRFAE AT
income tax B/ (58) 25,302 108446 (109,960) (192,39) (34,708) 5,739
Income tax it
(credit)/expense (£%) /&R (8,242) (34851) (14,071) 6,950 8,220 1,633
Profitloss) after i
income tax B/ (58) 17560 73,595 (124,031) (185,448) (26,488) 737
Other comprehensive  Efi 2
income - = - - - -
Profitloss) and total ~ FE&R|/ (BE) &
comprehensive Eilerckd
income for the year 17560 73,595 (124,031) (185,448) (26,488) 1372
Total comprehensive L REEHTEE/
incomefor theyear  BEHEEEE/
attributable to BEZ AR
non-ontroling SERES
interests within EEEE2ENE
PMM Group/ %
PNM Group/
Phoenix Oriental - - 7460 19,782 - -
Total comprehensive 4 REBHTEE/
income/{expense) BEFEEEE/
for the year BERAMEAA
attributable toowners  EE(SFR2ENG
of PMM Group/ /(%) &8
PNM Group/
Phoenix Oriental 17560 73,595 (116,571) (165,666) (26,488) 1372
Total comprehensive A2 IEERIERR
(expense)/income 2 (F%) /i
allocated to @z
non-controling
interests (6,461) (41,206) 58,974 94.982 7946 (2,213
Dividends peid to BREA 3
non-controling &
interests - 73072 - = - -
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19 Subsidiaries (Continued)

19 HWEAR (8

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

(d) Material non-controlling interests (Continued) d EEIFERiER (B)
Summarised cash flows REREME
PMM Group PNM Group Phoenix Oriental
17EEdT%E BEHEESE BERA
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
ABE WNE 238 0028 ABE 10%
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
TEn Fhn Tin Thn Tn FhL
Cash flows from fEEREaN

operating activities ~ H&7iE
Cash generated from/  REZHHE/

(used in) operations (FrR) Be 189,460 284,450 (67,092) (373,240) 26,376 20,483
Income tax (paid)fcrecit  (Eff) /K& FEH (19,649) (39.278) 1,99 15,156 - -
Netcashgenerated ~ MEEKEIHNE/

from/{used in) (R A58

operating activities 169,81 25,172 (65,293) (358,084) 26,376 20483
Net cash (used in)/ REED (IR /

generated from fEReE

investing activities (25,644) (31,458) 517791 412,137 (1) (40)
Net cash used in HEEDMA

financing activities ResE (129,104) (292,175) (12,991) (33,958) - (16,115)
Net increase/ ReREESEER

(decrease)incash 34/ (HD)

and cash equivalents & 15,063 (78461) 439,507 20,095 26,259 4328
Cash and cash ERekRe%E

equivalents at 13H

beginning of year 323,667 463,047 103,756 230329 148,444 164,034
Netexchange gains/  ReREESEEE

{losses) on cash RER G/

andcashequivalents  (E518) ¥ 949 (50,919) 22,567 (146,668) 905 9,918)
Cash and cash FeRelAe

equivalents BB

at end of year 339,679 323,667 565,830 103,756 175,608 148,444

The information above is the amount before intercompany
eliminations.
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(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

20 Credit quality of financial assets

The credit quality of financial assets can be assessed by
reference to external credit ratings or historical information
about counterparty default rates.

e TR M EE

(BRIEFFRIZER - £FAETIIE)
MBEEZEEER

AR EEEETLEENRS

HFRINBEETRSENBENE
2B T AR

Accounts receivable & U BR X
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Counterparties without external ~ SWEIMNIEE TR FEF
credit rating
Group 1 451 288,628 344,491
Group 2 #5712 530,815 947547
819,443 1,292,038
Other receivables H b e W FIR
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET THT
Counterparties without external WEIIEMEETFRNR ZEF
credit rating
Group 1 #7511 17,637 5,680
Group 2 452 395,700 358,021
413,337 363,701
Amounts due from related companies JEW B BE:E N RIFIE
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 %
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET THT
Counterparties without external WEINBEETRNRZ S F
credit rating
Group 2 #7512 4,400 12,822

Group 1 — new customers/related parties (less than 6 months).

Group 2 - existing customers/related parties (more than 6

months).

AR - FEP/BREEAL (DR
NEH)

Apl2- RERF /EHEAL (Z
RNEA) -
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20 Credit quality of financial assets (Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

Ratings by rating agencies of banks at which cash and deposits

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

MBREEZFEER (&)

B kR eFHEAR

AHERBHHERE REFRNRITH

are held AR
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
AA- AA- 106,627 282,828
A+ A+ 3,959 15,887
A A 605,236 440,536
A- A 25,097 49,805
BBB+ BBB+ 716,990 494,487
BBB BBB - 449
BBB- BBB- 10,428 11,000
Others (Note a) HAb (FizEa) 80,722 79,820
1,549,059 1,374,812

Note a: Others represented cash held at banks without credit rating.

These banks are reputable banks with no defaults in the past.

Restricted cash

fiifa: HEmAARERFRNRT
FENRE  ZERITEE
REF - BESEARFE -

ZRHIRE

2023 2022
2023 2022 4

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHET

AA- AA- 219,620 =
A A 7,960 2,366
A A - 583
BBB+ BBB+ 3,879 8,173
231,459 11,122
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e B HRRME

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Note b: Balance represents investments in debt and equity securities
of private companies which credit ratings are not available.

None of the financial assets that are fully performing has been
renegotiated during the year (2022: Nil).

20 Credit quality of financial assets (Continued) 20 HIBEEZEFEEZ (&)

Bank deposits RITIFEN

2023 2022

2023 F 2022 F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FAT

AA- AA- - 111,555

A A 112,567 -

BBB+ BBB+ 40,273 103,660

BBB- BBB- 7,697 7663

160,537 222,878

Financial assets at fair value through profit or BATFESEBERGCREI

loss BEE

2023 2022

2023 F 2022 F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FAT

A A 123,517 -

AA- AA- 129,042 287071

BBB+ BBB+ 228,171 655,353

Others (Note b) Hit (M) 66,496 72,750

547,226 1,015,174

Mizkb : AHARRERE BRI
Z AR RINER REATES

FEZARBITHIT B EERFAL &
FAEFTER (20224 : £) °
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21 Accounts receivable, net

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

21 EWARKFE

2023 2022

2023 F 2022 %

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET THT

Accounts receivable FEUYBRFX 819,443 1,292,038
Less: Provision for impairment B OB (168,758) (392,256)
650,685 899,782

The carrying amounts of accounts receivable, net, approximate
their fair values.

The Group has appointed an advertising agent in the PRC
to promote the sales of the Group’s advertising airtime and
programme sponsorship and collect advertising revenues within
the PRC on behalf of the Group. The Group generally requires
its advertising customers to pay in advance. Customers of other
business segments are given credit terms of 30 to 180 days.

At 31 December 2023, the ageing analysis of the accounts
receivable from customers based on invoice date was as

YR FOFRER AR E (E SR E A FEAE

= o

AEBECDETEEE-—REERE
RABAEERTERAEEASE
MEERERIEE MR ED) - WUE
BEEBAN - AEE-REREEES
BRINFE - RMEBOBRNTS
B4 T30% 180 HMEEH

MR2023F 12 A31H @ [EREFER®
RIEEZ BHNERE ST

follows:
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FAT
0-30 days 0£30H 211,925 210,067
31-60 days 31260H 104,281 176,754
61-90 days 61290H 91,087 104,055
91-120 days 912 120H 81,310 89,477
Over 120 days 120 HEA £ 330,840 711,685
819,443 1,292,038
Less: Provision for impairment B RE RS (168,758) (392,256)
650,685 899,782
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(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

21 Accounts receivable, net (Continued) 21

The carrying amounts of the Group’s accounts receivable are
denominated in the following currencies:

e ISR

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

W ARRFEE (&)

A& ERYSRRHREEIA THIE%
AREL

2023 2022

2023 F 2022 %

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET TET

RMB AR 810,575 1,278,693
US$ £ 7,099 11,171
UK pound HgE 905 1,262
Other currencies Hih B 864 912
819,443 1,292,038

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to
measured expected credit losses which uses a lifetime
expected loss allowance for all accounts receivable. To measure
the expected credit losses using a provision matrix, accounts
receivable have been grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics and the invoice dates. As at 31 December 2023,
the gross carrying amount of the accounts receivable and the
loss allowance provision analysed by ageing band are set out

RNEBEER BB SRS ERE IR
M A AT EEEERE  §9
FLET A FEURBR UK A 2 HATE HA S 1R
- RIRAREERSEEHEES
B ANEBERBEERNERRRES
2L B AR FE AR D 48 - 722023
F12A8318  BKERRREBEE
BRRERE TR ERERAE R 4T - Wi

below. BN o
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F

Weighted Weighted
Gross Loss average Gross Loss average
carrying allowance expected carrying allowance  expected
amount provision loss rate amount  provision loss rate
hOREFi97E I8
REAE BERE HFEX KRESEE FERE HEEX

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000

THET THET TET THET
Up to 6 months 618 A A 488,603 9,444 2% 580,353 12,850 2%
Over 6 months to 1 year 6{HAZE 14 89,650 15,669 17% 163,568 18,077 1%
Over 1 year 1A E 241,190 143,645 60% 548,117 361,329 66%

819,443 168,758

1,292,038 392,256
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21 Accounts receivable, net (Continued) 21 FEWERFUEEE (&)

352

Movements on the Group's provision for impairment of
accounts receivable are as follows:

REBRKEFREREN SN
T

2023 2022

2023 2022 F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FE T FHET

At 1 January ®w1A1H 392,256 530,163

Disposal of a subsidiary HE—RKBAT (227) -

Provision for impairment B 18,072 38,467
Receivables written off during S S AT UL (2] A U SR B

the year as uncollectible (243,764) (58,722)

Reversal of provision for AR R

impairment (311) (66,919)

Currency translation differences ~ &#&itE =8 2,732 (50,733)

At 31 December #12 A318 168,758 392,256

The creation and release of provision for impaired accounts
receivables of approximately HK$18,072,000 (2022:
HK$38,467,000) and HK$311,000 (2022: HK$66,919,000)
respectively, have been included in “Selling, general and
administrative expenses” in the consolidated income statement.
The Group has written off approximately HK$243,764,000 (2022:
HK$58,722,000) of accounts receivable against the provision
for impairment of accounts receivable made in prior years
during the year because there is no expectation of recovering
additional cash.

There is no concentration of credit risk with respect to accounts
receivable because the Group has a large number of customers.

B R (B e W AR SR AT IR B R B
B & o Bl 918,072,000/ 7T (2022
£ : 38,467000/57T) A311,0008 7T
(20224 : 66,919,000/87C) * Bt A
mAEWERP [HE - —RERITEHE
FAIET - AERERAFEATBAE
G 2 1 ) B9 I LT AR SRR B 28 s il 85 A0
JfE UK B 3 #9 243,764,000 78 7T (2022
£ 158,722,000/ 7T)  REATBH
TR EFEINESE ©

HRAKERAARERF  RUEHF
BRMIEFHEESTRER
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22 Prepayments, deposits and other receivables

e B HRRME

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

22 FENFRIE - ZERHEMEW

FIE

2023 2022

2023 2022 &

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FAT

Prepayment and deposits AR RIES 122,815 127360
Other receivables H i fE Y 38 413,337 363,701
536,152 491,061

Less: Non-current portion R o FERNERSER (D (45,102) (45,536)
Current portion RNERZR{A 491,050 445,525

Included in other receivables is an amount of approximately
RMB300,067000 (HK$329,504,000) (2022: RMB200,073,000
(HK$217,864,000)) owing from an advertising agent, Shenzhou,
in the PRC. The amount represents advertising revenue
collected, net of expenses incurred by Shenzhou on behalf of
the Group.

Pursuant to a service agreement signed between Shenzhou
and the Group dated 29 December 2023, Shenzhou agreed
to deposit the advertising revenue it had collected prior to the
execution of that agreement and to be collected in the future
in one or more than one specific trust bank accounts in the
PRC, which would be held in trust on behalf of the Group and
handled according to the Group's instructions. No interest will
be charged by the Group on the balance.

The Trust Law in the PRC enacted in recent years has not
laid out specific detailed implementation rules applicable to
trust arrangements such as that of the Group with Shenzhou.
Therefore the extent of the enforceability of the arrangement
is still unclear. Although the management recognises that the
present arrangement is the only legally viable arrangement, the
management will continue to monitor and explore alternatives
to improve the situation.

HmERRERE —FE KT
EBESEREBNOREHDAR
300,067,000 7C (329,504,000%
JC) (2022 F : AKR¥ 200,073,000 7T
(217,864,000 7T) ) © Lth K18 A8 M
REASBRDOES A (BB
i) o

AR AN BA A £ B 74 2023 £ 12 A 29
BETH RS HE @ @NREEER
22T 1p B B MBI R 2R 2R A IR ER )
EWATFARBE— Bz — @A L2 5
TERITELRELA - BREREE N
EAFAEE  UIREBASEZ TR
BRI - AEEE TS HARIEER
FB o

B FREMANEFALEE HER
IR SR E B3 M S TE L BE P
MERAE - Bt - ReEBEZR LY
RREFOEHITIEE - BAREEER
FRERITRYETDER LE—AITTHR
B BEIR B E RR R TR
AfTHREA =R IR
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22

354

Prepayments, deposits and other receivables
(Continued)

The management of the Group is of the opinion that
the amount owing from Shenzhou of approximately
RMB300,067,000 (HK$329,504,000) as at 31 December 2023
(2022: approximately RMB200,073,000 (HK$217,864,000)) is
fully recoverable and no provision is required. The balance is
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

The carrying amounts of prepayments, deposits and other
receivables approximate their fair values.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s other receivables are
denominated in the following currencies:

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

22 FENRIE - - ZERHEMER

;A ()

AEBEBERERA  MR2023F12
A3MTBMEMERHREBEBLHARE
300,067,000 7T (329,504,000/%T.)
(20224 : ¥J AR¥ 200,073,000 7T
(217864,000%7T) ) # Al A2k E -
UL EHEME L B - SRR AR
G B NBIRENKEE -

BNRUR - RE REAM BT IRR R
E{EEE N FERE -

AR B H A R ORRORREETIA T
SIEHEDI(E -

2023 2022

2023 2022

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FABT

RMB AREE 401,285 345,978
US$ ET 1,624 210
HK$ BT 7,858 15,217
UK pound HgE 2,544 2,259
Other currencies HipEHs 26 37
413,337 363,701

As at 31 December 2023, other receivables of HK$55,121,000
(2022: HK$60,767.000) were impaired.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date
is the carrying value of the prepayment, deposits and other
receivables mentioned above. The Group does not hold any
collateral as security.

MN2023F12 A318 ' BREZ Hit
& U FX 38 455,121,000 JT (2022
£F 1 60,76700087T) ©

RS APMESNSRSEERRE
ERFTATEN TR - e MEMER
FIRR)RRMEE 285 B I\ R A
ERmERTER -
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(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

23 Inventories 23 FE&
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 %
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET THET
Merchandised goods HEME M 4,305 5,171
4,305 5,171

The cost of inventories sold of approximately HK$388,000 (2022:
HK$216,300) for the year ended 31 December 2023 is charged

to the consolidated income statement.

24 Amounts due from related companies

HE2023F 128318 EFE - 4
388,0007% 7T, (20224F : 216,300 7T)

MEEFEKRAERGES

©
S

24 BUREBRERXNANREA

Wz kM

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FAT
Amounts due from related el NG O]
companies
— Joint ventures (Note a) - 5EE (MiFta) 253 694
— Other related companies - BB RENT] 4,147 12,128
4,400 12,822
. N
(a) Amounts due from joint ventures (a) FEW S E{EFEIA
2023 2022
2023 2022 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Amounts due from joint ventures  FEULA &> EEFRIE 12,686 13,187
Less: Provision for impairment B BB (12,433) (12,493)
Amounts due from joint ventures, JEUTE &>
net 253 694
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24 Amounts due from related companies
(Continued)

BURERERF

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

;IR ()

(b) At 31 December 2023, the ageing analysis of the amounts (b) M2023% 128318 EWKE
due from related companies, were as follows: BE A RFIBRRE DT
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FHTT
Amounts due from related e RAE A RIFRIE
companies
0 - 90 days 0£290H 1,346 10,180
91 - 120 days 91&120H 253 94
Over 120 days 12084 E 15,234 15,041
16,833 25,315
(C) The amount due from related companies are unsecured, (c) mKEmBER Iﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ
non-interest bearing and repayable on demand. Other BN S &/E?E%I&/\ e
receivables from related parties are repayable in fh e 7l EAiE’JWgH&,
accordance with credit terms. BIRfEEHEE o
The carrying amounts of amounts due from related EEE’\HEEEZ%%]UEEE 3
companies approximate their fair values as the impact of HﬁlﬁﬁﬁL SR IE A BR (B B
discounting is not significant. :Ffﬁﬁ% °
The maximum exposure of amounts due from related Res BH - UG RIE R A
companies to credit risk at the reporting date is the FIAFTE ¥ R &R A B Rk Bl
carrying value mentioned above. il BREE -
(d) The carrying amounts of the Group’s amounts due from (d) rEmEREREATREYZ

related companies are denominated in RMB.
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26

e B HRRME

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

25 Financial assets at fair value through profit 25 RAVEZEBBERTERNG
or loss KEE
2023 2022
2023 2022 &
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHTT
Current assets RENEE
Trading equity securities BERLES 19,232 14,821
Convertible redeemable preferred  A]#2[% A] & [ 8 & A%
shares 339 331
Other investments HEig & 66,157 72,419
Structured deposits EEMETR 461,498 927603
547,226 1,015,174
Included in the financial assets at fair value through profit and BEATEEBRERSRENMKEE
loss is an amount of approximately HK$19,232,000 (2022: B & #919,232,0007 JT (2022 4F :
HK$14,821,000) representing the shares of HSBC. 14,821,000 % 7T) HVEZRAMD
These shares are held for trading. The fair value of these shares ZERODRFHEER - HERMHZA
is based on the current bid prices in an active market. As at TEEEENERMSARNEREA
31 December 2023, the closing price of the shares of HSBC B M2023F12H31H - R & E
listed in Hong Kong was HK$63 (2022: HK$48.6). If the price EHmZEERG 2T ERE3E T
of the shares of HSBC increased/decreased by 20% with all (20224 : 486%87L)c AU FEE
other variables held constant, post-tax profit for the year would BRAR I ERE LT T8 20% - MFrE
have been approximately HK$3,846,000 (2022: HK$2,964,000) H B uFre  BFAREREG
higher/lower. ) RE A0, %9 3,846,000 75 IT
(2022 £ : 2,964,000 7T) °
Fair value gain on financial assets at fair value through profit BEATEBBIERCENMBEEED
or loss of HK$4,291,000 (2022: loss of HK$29,063,000) are NF(EUYEE4,291,0007 7T (20224F -
recognised in “Other gains/(losses), net” in the consolidated 518 29,063,000/ 7T) Jhat AR A I
income statement (Note 6). wmRPr [ Hiabkas (EBE) F5E]
(FMizE6) °
Bank deposits 26 RITHFM
2023 2022
2023 2022 4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHTT
Short-term deposits (Note a) TR (fisEa) 160,537 222,878
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(a)

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

26 Bank deposits (Continued) 26 SRITHEM ()

Short-term bank deposits represents bank deposits with (a) RHRTEXEEFAZHE
a maturity date exceeding 90 days but not exceeding 1 FEIEEBIEHETNRE—F
year from the date of making the deposits. The carrying RIRITIE ° RITFAREEE

amounts of bank deposits are denominated in the A THIEHZIE -

following currencies:
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 %
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
RMB AR 125,849 149,233
uss Em 34,688 73,645
160,537 222,878
During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group () MEZ=2023F12A31HILF
recorded HK$55,246,000 interest income from cash and - AEEHFHEeRESE
cash equivalents, bank deposits and restricted cash (2022: BIEE « |RITERRZRGIZE
HK$56,260,000). © 2 7 B A 55,246,000%8 7T
(20224F : 56,260,0007%7T) °
Restricted cash 27 ZRFERE

27

358

Restricted cash represents funds pledged to banks to secure
banking guarantee and advance payment.

XRHEBERRERTFRITZEEMN
TERIRITERRIB A RAER o

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 4

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FAT

RMB AR 231,459 11,122

As at 31 December 2023, a bank deposit of approximately
HK$219,620,000 bearing a fixed interest rate of 1.7% per
annum, is pledged to a bank to secure a bank borrowing of
approximately HK$49,414,000 (Note 32(a)).

The fair value of the bank deposit approximates its carrying
amount.

M 2023F 12 A31 8 » HEFEFEH=R
1.7% 51 B 2 RITF R XY 219,620,000
BILEEE FRITERRITEELY
49,414,000/ 7T 2 #H3H (fizE32(a)) ©

RITEFO AP EEEREERS
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(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

28 Cash and cash equivalents

29

28 RERKRESEHEER

2023 2022

2023 F 2022 F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET THT

Cash at bank and on hand IRITRFEER S 1,252,572 965,348

Short-term bank deposits RESRTTIER 296,487 409,464

1,549,059 1,374,812

Maximum exposure to credit risk  FAEERE 1,548,312 1,374,025
Denominated in: AR E ¥ TIE :

- HK$ -7 14,626 28,843

- RMB - AR 1,431,014 1,110,716

- US$ -3£7T 96,176 227950

— Other currencies - Hih &% 7243 7.303

1,549,059 1,374,812

Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and on hand
and short-term bank deposits with an original maturity of three
months or less for the purpose of the consolidated statement

of cash flows.

REEARSRBRNS  HeRRS
AT A BERTAS RFAERS
RIREE R R =& A kAT 2 58 HAdR
Tk -

Share capital 29 WA
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
Number of Number of
shares Amount shares Amount
IRE B <8 RinEE G|
(Note 1) (Note 1)
(B=E1) (P=E1)
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Authorised: EE
Ordinary shares FREE0.1T
of $0.1 each 2 ERIR 10,000,000,000 1,000,000  10,000,000,000 1,000,000
Issued and fully paid: 2#TRAR
At 1 January and R1A1BR
31 December 12A31H 4,993,659,500 449,366 4,993,659,500 499,366
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29 Share capital (Continued)

Note:

1.

As a result of share consolidation which became effective on
20 February 2024, the authorised share capital remained at
HK$1,000,000,000 but divided into 1,000,000,000 shares of
HK$1.00 each, of which 499,365,950 shares were issued and
fully paid. For details, please refer to Note 43.

30 Share-based compensation

(a)

360

Share options of the Company

The Company has a share option scheme under which it
may grant options to employees of the Group (including
executive Directors of the Company) to subscribe
for shares of the Company. Options are granted and
exercisable in accordance with the terms set out in the
relevant scheme. The Group has no legal or constructive
obligation to repurchase or settle the options in cash.

Movements in the number of share options outstanding
and their related weighted average exercise prices are as
follows:

29

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

R ()

Wi

1.

BR KRB E B R20245F2
A208 £ 8 KA TEBRAXN%EF
#1,000,000,0007% t° 1B » A
1,000,000,000 % & %174 7 # A%
5 » Hrh 499,365,950 B AR AT 3
TTRBRE - FI5H2HME43

30 UM IREEE

(a)

ZA/NCIEE g

AREREBEREE  RE
ETRMARENESR (21
ARBNBITES) XTAR
BARARMOERE - B
REIR AT BIE S M IR IR &
1718 - AEE Y EAEFDEER
EEMRENRSE RS
FEARIE -

RITEEREHRENES R H
8 8 0 #E T 35 17 {6 B &K 51 1A
T

2023 2022
2023 F 2022
Average Average
exercise exercise
price in HK$ price in HK$
per share Options per share Options
LB hiE LAETTSIE
HER¥H B &R
1@ BB 17128 R
(Note 1) (Note 2)
GERD) (Mtzx2)
‘000 ‘000
T T
At 1 January M1B18 141 56,586 1.41 69,256
Lapsed BR 1.41 (19,020) 1.41 (12,670)
At 31 December A12831H 141 37,566 1.41 56,586

As at 31 December 2023, all of the (2022: all) outstanding
options were exercisable. No option was granted (2022:
Nil) and no option was exercised in 2023 (2022: Nil).

#®2023F 128318 * RAKRTT
FREREZES 23 (2022
F:2E) BRER FITE-
R2023F B &% L BE R
(2022 4 : 4&) RBTEREIRER
171 (20224 : )
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30 Share-based compensation (Continued)

(a)

Share options of the Company (Continued)

Note:

1. The average exercise price per share has been adjusted to
HK$14.1 as a result of share consolidation effective on 20
February 2024.

2. The number of outstanding share options as at 31

December 2023 has been adjusted to 3,756,600 as a result
of share consolidation effective on 20 February 2024.

Share options outstanding at the end of the year have the
following expiry dates and exercise prices:

Exercise price in

(a)

e B HRRME

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

30 BURGMREFEE (F)

ARriEkE (8)

1. AR & HF8 2024 2 A 20
B4k 8RTEHITERER
BEE1418TC °

2. EREDE HFH2 2024 F 2 A 20
H 4% 72023412 A 31
B ARITHEERES R AR
/43,756,600 % ©

RERRITEBRZENTHA
RATEEWT -

Expiry date HKS$ per share 2023 2022
ZI8 A LETSIENESRITEE 2023 F 2022 %
‘000 ‘000

T T4

20 March 2027 20273 H20H 1.41 37,566 56,586
37,566 56,586

Share options of PNM

PNM has two share option schemes under which it may
grant options to the executives, employees, directors,
consultants, advisers, agents, business partners, joint
venture partners, service providers and contractors
of PNM and/or its affiliates. Options are granted and
exercisable in accordance with terms set out in the
relevant share option schemes. PNM has no legal or
constructive obligation to repurchase or settle the options
in cash.

(b)

BB\ SRS 0 B e

LB\ £ 88 2R R 8 i s A T
g R F & A [ AR AR
BN SEEBRRNITERA
B -EE EF EHE &
A RE - XBBH . GER
- REEERMABERT
R EBRAERIZAME
PR ST 815 B0 IR R IR o 7T
o R HEY EAERDEE
ST MR ENR S EO A
HRBRE -

o
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30 Share-based compensation (Continued)

362

(b) Share options of PNM (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2016, PNM
implemented an option exchange program from 21
October 2016 to 1 November 2016, whereby PNM's
directors, employees and consultants exchanged options
to purchase 21,011,951 Class A ordinary shares of PNM
granted under PNM’'s 2008 Share Option Plan with
various exercise prices greater than US$0.4823 per share
(or US$3.8587 per ADS) for new options granted by
PNM under the same plan with a new exercise price of
US$0.4823 per share and a new vesting schedule that
generally adds 12 months to each original vesting date,
and the new options would vest no sooner than 1 May
2017.

Movement in the number of share options outstanding
and their related weighted average exercise prices are as
follows:

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

30 BURGMREFEE (F)

(b)

Rl 2\ 2% B2 RO B A
(#&)

REE2016512 8318 IEF
E - BEHHEER 2016 10 B
21BZE2016F 11 A1 BHHE
TEEREMETE - B B
EFEENES  EEREH
AR 4% B /2L 37 5 B8 2008 F g iR
HEFT B & & A] B8 A 21,011,951
RASEE BARRIEARE (FTB T
B1TE(E 5 = R &A% 0.4823
ET(EBREHBLERD
3.8587% L)) AU R | IE
B[R — AT 2B 2 e I
(1T E A ENR04823%E T
mTFEBRER —RESRET
SEBRHBEMERBA) M
FERESE RN 2017F5 A
1B58 -

HAITEBREREEH N E
BRANRETFHITEENT

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 %

Average Average

exercise exercise

price in US$ price in US$
per share Options per share Options

UERIE PASETTAIE

HERFH HERT
TEEE BB 111E(E e
‘000 ‘000
T i
At 1 January m1A1H 0.395403 41,475 0.403875 50,338
Lapsed B K 0.422059 (17,378) 0.443524 (8,863)
At 31 December R 12H31H 0.375803 24,097 0.395403 41,475
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30 Share-based compensation (Continued)

(b) Share options of PNM (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023, out of the 24,097,000 (2022:
41,475,000) outstanding options, 21,787,000 (2022:
32,491,000) were exercisable. No options were exercised
in 2022 and 2023.

Management estimates the fair values of options at
the grant dates. The fair values of the options were
determined using the Black-Scholes model. The key
assumptions used in the valuation of the fair value of the
options granted on respective dates are set out in the

e B HRRME

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

30 BURGMREFEE (F)

Rl 2\ 2% B2 RO B A
(#&)

720234612 A 31 B » #324,097000
1 (20224F : 41,47500017) & A&
FI{ERIRER A + 21,787,0001%
(2022 % : 32,491,00013) #J
F AT © 20224F & 2023 F L4
RERR AT T(E o

BEEEMABERERRLAS
ZAYE - B A FER
BRI hm-FRET K&
o HREBRERSEH
Bz A FEBEPRAZE

below table. ERBETINTE ©
Closing share
Fair value of priceat  Exercise price  Annual risk-free Expected life Expected
Date of grant share options grant date per share interest rate of options volatility
BRERN ik A ERR Rtk

RiiAH AYE RiphmE BRTEE Fr= 3] R
USs USs USs % years %
(%7 (%7) (*7) (%) () (%)
15 March 2013 13%3A 158 0.29895 0.5125 0.44593 154 6.16 58.10
23 May 2013 013557237 0.37349 061125 0.46565 160 6.16 5760
1 October 2013 13510418 0.9615 140625 0.7867 187 6.16 5820
17 October 2016 016F 104178 0.2342 045125 0.4734 155 6.16 55.30
21 Qctober 2016 016107218 0.17320.2193 0.4525 04823 130 3915639 50.67-55.65
14 September 2017 174595148 0.4648 0.7025 0.4149 188 6.16 55.99
24 November 2017 NTENR24A 0.6294 0.9338 0.5344 192 6.16 5706
5 July 2019 21947 A58 0.20m 0.39 0.4836 312 6.16 5709
20 July 2020 00%7A208 0.1154 0.2038 0.1925 143 6.16 5859
20 January 2021 01E1A208 0.1178 0.1975 0.2006 132 6.16 65.34
4 June 2021 01 %6A4A 01373 0.2188 0.2158 172 6.16 6845
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30 Share-based compensation (Continued)

364

(b) Share options of PNM (Continued)

Share options outstanding at the end of the year have the
following expiry dates and exercise prices:

Exercise price in

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

30 BURGMREFEE (F)

Rl 2\ 2% B2 RO B A
(#&)

RERRITEBRAZENTHA
RATEEWT

Expiry date US$ per share 2023 2022
)= BUETIHEN B RITEE 2023 2022 %
‘000 ‘000

T4 T1n

14 March 2023 202343 H14H 0.445925 - 1,200
22 May 2023 2023 5H22H 0.46565 - 2,900
30 September 2023 20239 H30H 0.7867 - 6
16 October 2026 20264 10 A 16 H 0.4734 200 1,220
20 October 2026 2026410 20 H 0.4823 2,916 10,083
13 September 2027 20279 H13H 0.4149 2,321 2,491
23 November 2027 2027411 A23H 0.5344 130 130
4 July 2029 20297 H4H 0.4836 9,365 11,715
19 July 2030 20307 H19H 0.1925 6,915 10,100
19 January 2031 203141 H19H 0.2006 250 330
3 June 2031 203146 H3H 0.2158 1,300 1,300
24,097 41,475
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31 Accounts payable, other payables and

(BRIEHES

IBE8E - £FAETTIIE)

31 ENRX - EMBEARER

accruals PEStTRIE

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Accounts payable FETBRTR 275,761 482,834
Other payables and accruals H b e F0E R EET A 769,636 718,429
1,045,397 1,201,263
Less: Non-financial liabilities B IERI S RE (6,908) (5,527)
1,038,489 1,195,736
At 31 December 2023, the ageing analysis of the accounts M 202312 A31 8 » ERERERBE

payable based on invoice date was as follows: ZEAHRE ST -
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
0-30 days 0£30H 146,884 210,244
31-60 days 31&260H 12,069 30,173
61-90 days 61290H 6,000 10,428
91-120 days 912120H 12,125 27994
Over 120 days 120 HA £ 98,683 203,995
275,761 482,834

The carrying amounts of accounts payable, other payables and
accruals approximate their fair values.

The carrying amounts of accounts payable, other payables and

FERTRRER - Eofth FE A 5RIR M B At 5RIR
ZIREERE A HERS -

FERTRRER - Eofth FE A5 5RIR M B A 5RIR

accruals are denominated in the following currencies: HIRREEA T3S IME ¢
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 %
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FHTT
HK$ BT 225,995 241,140
RMB AR 803,125 936,162
US$ ET 5,082 15,534
UK pound g 3,784 2,479
Other currencies HEtmE 503 421
1,038,489 1,195,736
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32 Borrowings 32 B8
2023 2022
2023 2022 £
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Bank borrowings (Note a) RITEE (Misa) 54,905 8,226
Loans from non-controlling B A A FEIE R AR SRR E
shareholders of subsidiaries (Fg5EDb)
(Note b) 151,506 176,877
206,411 185,103
. L= oy
(a) Bank borrowings (a) RITEE
2023 2022
2023 2022 £
HK$’000 HK$'000
TER T
Non-current IERED
Long-term secured bank REABHEIPRITEE
borrowings - 1,692
Current B
Short-term secured bank EEEHEARITEE
borrowings 49,414 6,534
Short-term unsecured bank R RR T E
borrowings 5,491 -
Total bank borrowings RITREHEE 54,905 8,226
2023 2022
2023 2022 &
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FABT
The bank borrowings are repayable #R1T{E EBIRIAT
as follows: RFEEE ¢
—Within one year - —FR 54,905 6,534
— More than five years - HBBAF - 1,692
Total bank borrowings RITREREE 54,905 8,226
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32 Borrowings (Continued)

(a)

Bank borrowings (Continued)

As at 31 December 2022, bank borrowing of HK$1,692,000
was secured by a property in the United States with
carrying value of approximately HK$2,562,000 recorded
in right-of-use assets and property, plant and equipment.
The bank borrowing was denominated in US dollar and
bears interest at an interest rate of 3.59% annually (2022:
Nil). The bank borrowing was fully repaid during the year
ended 31 December 2023.

As at 31 December 2023, bank deposit in the PRC of
approximately HK$219,620,000 included in “restricted
cash” (2022: Nil) was pledged with a bank to secure a
short-term bank borrowing of HK$49,414,000 (Note 27).
The bank borrowing bears interest at interest rate of
3.97% per annum.

As at 31 December 2023, the unsecured bank borrowing
of HK$5,491,000 (2022: Nil) was denominated in RMB
and bears interest at an interest rate of 2.25% annually
(2022: Nil).

As at 31 December 2023, the Group has undrawn banking
facilities of HK$239,201,000 (2022: HK$18,446,000).

e B HRRME

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

32 58 ()

(a)

RITIEE (&)

M2022F12A31H @ R 17 1&
51,692,000 0 T A —HER
MEERR EFERAEEEK
Y- BEERZERSHER
{E#9752,562,000/8 7T ° :%E 4R
TEEETTAE  WIRFEF
RIBIE:TE (20224 : £) o
HZE2023F 12 A31 HILFE -
EREEEBITEE -

MR 2023F 128318 » st A%
FRHIIRE | P BRI TEREY
219,620,000/ 7T (20224F : 4&)
BT IR TIARS R HAR I TE
B (Ft5E27) 49,414,000/ 7T ° 3%
RITEERFNEII7%ATE -

720235 12 A 318 » EHKIAE
1T E 5,491,000/8 7T (20224
) UAREKHE - WIEFEFIR
2.25[E 518 (202245 ) o

R2023F12A31H A& E
BAREEURTTEE 239,201,000
7 7T (20224 : 18,446,000
JC) °

Loans from non-controlling shareholders of (o) FYBAAIFEIERARER LR
subsidiaries HER
2023 2022
2023 2022 F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FATT
Non-current R E
Long-term loans from Bt A Bz FEFE AR AR R
non-controlling Rtz RHER
shareholders of subsidiaries 1,144 32,271
Current B
Short-term loans from )= NEI i
non-controlling IREFIRMGE 2 EEAE R
shareholders of
subsidiaries 140,362 144,606
Total loans from MDA T 2 IR AR
non-controlling Rtz ERBEE
shareholders
of subsidiaries 151,506 176,877
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32 Borrowings (Continued) 32 B8 (&)
(b) Loans from non-controlling shareholders of (b) BB FIZEIEIAR LT
subsidiaries (Continued) HER (8)
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FBT FAT
The loans from MR Az FEERR AR SRR 2
non-controlling BEFRIRA TRREERE

shareholders of
subsidiaries are
repayable as follows:

—Within one year -—%R 140,362 144,606
— More than one year but - —FRETBBRE
not exceeding two years 11,144 10,491

— More than five years - BRAF - 21,780
Total loans from MEBLARZFERRRREMRZ

non-controlling Bz

shareholders

of subsidiaries 151,506 176,877
The loans from non-controlling shareholders of ME Az FFERRR R 2
subsidiaries are denominated in RMB, unsecured BERABAARES|E - KM
and interest-free (2022: loans from non-controlling ReB (20224 : fBARZ
shareholders of subsidiaries are denominated in RMB, FEEBRBRBHERZERBUA
unsecured and interest-free). R¥3IE - SEAREE) o
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32 Borrowings (Continued) 32 B8 (&)
(c) The carrying amounts and fair values of the c) BEMNREELRATE
borrowings are as follows: NN
Group
b ]
Carrying amount Fair value
BREE AVE
2023 2022 2023 2022
2023F 20224 2023F 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT AL FHET F5T
Bank borrowings BITEE 54,905 8,226 54,905 8,226
Loans from non-controlling LiEPNSIE R
shareholders of subsidiaries RRIBHRER 151,506 176,877 151,506 176,877
206,411 185,103 206,411 185,103
The fair values of floating rate borrowings approximate FEFERMEEN N FEERLE
their carrying amounts. The fair values of fixed rate @@*E% EEFEEER
borrowings are based on cash flows discounted using a NEBEHERA—EER648E
rate based on the borrowing rate of 6.48% (2022: 6.48%) (20224 : 6.482) ZEEFI=
and are within level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. HFEBEIRNIREREETE -
RN AFESHANNE 24 -
33 Deferred income tax 33 EEZEFTBH
Deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities R eBERBRZBEEMGHERE
on the consolidated balance sheet are analysed as follows: )32 RIEFTBRBEITAT ¢
2023 2022
2023 2022 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHET FAT
(restated)
(gE5)
Deferred income tax assets LLﬁfr SMEE (103,220) (115,927)
Deferred income tax liabilities RIEFSHBE 143,571 136,255
40,351 20,328
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33

370

Deferred income tax (Continued)

The gross movements in the deferred income tax liabilities, net
are as follows:

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

ELEFTSH ()

BEFEHAEFREEHMT

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 %
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET T
(restated)
(&=E=51)
At 1 January ®w1A1H 20,328 24,087
Charged/(credited) to the FERAWERNR (%) (FiEE10)
consolidated income
statement (Note 10) 7,492 (3,267)
Acquisition of a subsidiary IWEE—RHI B A A (FizE42)
(Note 42) 12,680 -
Currency translation differences ~ &#ihE =% (149) (492)
At 31 December M12A31H 40,351 20,328

Deferred taxation for the year ended 31 December 2023 is
calculated in full on temporary differences under the liability
method using a principal taxation rate of 16.5% (2022: 16.5%).

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax loss
carryforwards to the extent that the realisation of the related
tax benefit through the future taxable profits is probable.
The Group did not recognise deferred income tax assets
of HK$826,955,000 (2022: HK$729,865,000) in respect
of unrecognised tax losses of HK$3,837,585,000 as at 31
December 2023 (2022: HK$3,438,544,000) that can be
carried forward against future taxable income. Approximately
HK$2,088,099,000 (2022: HK$1,974,305,000) of the
unrecognized tax losses have no expiry date and the remaining
balance will expire at various dates up to and including 2040.

As at 31 December 2023, deferred income tax liabilities of
HK$12,105,000 (2022: HK$7319,000) have not been recognised
for the withholding tax and other taxes that would be payable
on the unremitted earnings of HK$121,052,000 (2022:
HK$73,192,000) of certain PRC subsidiaries. Since the Directors
consider the timing for the reversal of the related temporary
differences can be controlled and such temporary differences
will not be reversed in the foreseeable future, no withholding
tax has been provided.

HZE 202312 A31 BILFERELE
MEDREEEZINEREEZE 1
* Z M %E16.5% (20224 : 16.5%)
E2HGTE -

EEFTS R EE DTSR IEER
TR+ MELAR] BB 3R R PR FE R B 7
SHEAEBEH AR - AEBEIW &
MR 2023412 A31 8 1] 4 & A LA
R R ER M AR ERTIIE
E5 83,837585,000/8 T (20224 :
3,438,544,0007% Jr) HERIELEFT5
i & FE 826,955,000 TT (2022 4 :
729,865,000 7T) « IRARFERK T
5187 - #72,088,099,000% 7T (2022
4 :1,974,305,000/%8 ) W & F| HA
B - MHBEAAREE2040F (BIEZ
F) NZEBHREIE -

R 20234128318 » WEERIZE
TR EK B AR Z 121,052,000/ 7T
(20224 : 73,192,000/ 7T) KIEH
BREN 2 BN R E A IBERER
12,105,000/ 7t (20224 : 7.319,000
BIL) ZELEMBRAR - E2RA
A LA 122 i) 75 [ B B 1 = B A B¢ [o) B
M ARTERE]TER KR ERS
FRES =2 - FE IR TE R
& o
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33 Deferred income tax (Continued)

33 EIEFTSH (M)

The movement in deferred tax income assets and liabilities
during the year without taking into consideration the offsetting
of balances within the same tax jurisdiction, is as follows:

Deferred income tax liabilities

RERNBLEMSHEENABED
(FEIRHH R — Bt [ M A5 82 AT 40

T

EEFBH AL

mht

\

~

Accelerated tax depreciation ~ Revaluation of assets Right-of-use assets Total
MEREHE EffEE FREEE @it
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
2023% WNE ABE ANE A28E 20025 A2 F 1225
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T Thr Tén i Thn ThL T ThL
(restated) (restated)
(m3)) (m3))
At 1 January RA1A (115) (115) 136,370 155,997 189,585 195,323 325,840 351,205
(Credited)/charged to the EANER
consolidated income statement (£8) /1% 3,038 - (8,220) (3,146 (30.201) 16,204 (35,383) 13,08
Acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 42)  WE—FHELA)
(Bise42) - - 12,680 - - = 12,680 =
Currency translation differences RHhEEE 92 = 2,857 (16,481) 1874 (21,942) 4,823 (38,423
At 31 December RM2A31H 3,015 (115) 143,687 136,370 161,258 189,585 307960 325,840
Deferred income tax assets BREFTSIEE
Tax losses Provisions Lease liabilities Total
HEES it HERE @it
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
2023% W0E A28 E ANE A2BE 20025 A28 F 1225
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T Thr Thn i T ThL T ThL
(restated) (restated)
(m3)) (m3))
At 1 January RA1A (9,107) (9,107) (95,612) (111,018) (200,793) (206,993) (305,512) (327118)
Charged)credited) to the fANER
consolidated income statement k/ (88) - - 16,453 637 26422 (16,962) 42875 (16,325)
Currency translation differences REHNEES - - (3,356) 14769 (1,616) 23162 (4972) 37931
At 31 December RM2A31A (9,107) (9,107) (82,515) (95,612) (175,987) (200,793) (267,609) (305,512)
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(BRIERFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

34 Leases 34 #HE
This note provides information for leases where the Group is a mAEEAEEA - AAKNEZHEE
lessee. RHER -
() Amounts recognised in the balance sheet (i) HMRREEEBXRNT
5]
The balance sheet shows the following amounts relating BEABREATRNATAEES
to leases: AR &5 -
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 £
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
BaE FET FAIT
Right-of-use assets FRAEEE
Properties LIES 88,134 120,552
Land b 1} a, b 168,054 172,967
LED screen LED & 581,333 667,844
837521 961,363
Lease liabilities HEEE
Current BNHA 148,932 168,431
Non-current JEBNER 578,616 671,197
727548 839,628
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34 Leases (Continued)

(i)

Amounts recognised in the balance sheet
(Continued)

(a)

Included in the right-of-use assets as of 31
December 2023 is an amount of HK$79,134,000
(as at 31 December 2022: HK$81,303,000) which
represents land use rights held by the Group for
a piece of land situated in Beijing for the Phoenix
International Media Centre.

Included in the right-of-use assets as of 31
December 2023 is an amount of HK$11,101,000 (as
at 31 December 2022: HK$11,506,000) which was
paid by the Group pursuant to notification from the
Shenzhen Municipal Bureau of Land Resources and
Housing Management (“Shenzhen Land Bureau”)
to the Shenzhen Land Bureau to obtain a title
certificate in the name of Phoenix Satellite Television
Company Limited (the “Phoenix Subsidiary”),
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group, for
the Group's upper ground space entitlement of
approximately 8,500 square metres in China Phoenix
Building in Shenzhen (“Shenzhen Building”). As of
31 December 2023, the Group was still awaiting
the issuance of the title certificate to the Phoenix
Subsidiary by the Shenzhen Municipal Government.
The Directors are of the opinion that the title
certificate of the Shenzhen Building will be issued in
the near future.

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

34 #HE (#&)

(i) HRNEERBEXRNE

7 (

(a)

==
&)

#HZ=2023412A31H
WERREER BE—
£ 5879,134,0008 T
(FA2022%12H8318:
81,303,000/7C) 7KIB °
HARAEE B R R
BEAOFE —RAAIL
PN Ol b e bz A =

M 2023128 31 BHIE
REEEZR  BREAS
BERBEFRINTEHLEEIR
MEEEER (R
T2 BBHMEERYE
T BEEFHE9 11,101,000/
TT(7 20224128318
11,506,000/ 7C) * AL
REBPFEIIPEBE
BEXE([FRIEF])
R A2 E 549 8,500
EIORKIFTERE - BAFIA
REEEEWEBEAR-B
BERaRAE ([ EREMH
BRI REELMNE
HEFE - 720234 12 A 31
B NEBDESFEY
TS R BRI B A 7%
HEEE - E2RAERY
BFHEEFTBRTAL
REEH o
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34 Leases (Continued)

(ii)

374

Amounts recognised in the income
statement

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

34 #HE (#&)

(i) HERRWARTOTER

The income statement shows the following amounts WeamRBRUATEESEEMN
relating to leases: S -
2023 2022
2023 2022 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTER FAT
Depreciation charge of FHEEERESEH
right-of-use assets
Properties LIES (36,515) (40,162)
Land T (5,620) (5,788)
LED screen LED F& (138,065) (166,136)
Radio channel and facility & & J8i8 M & - (13,063)
(180,200) (225,149)
Interest expense (included FISFZ (GAFIER)
in interest expense) (35,851) (41,452)
Expense relating to HEAREERERENAX
short-term and
low-value leases (18,507) (22,694)

The Group leases various properties, land, LED screens,
radio channel and facility. Rental contracts are typically
made for fixed periods of 2 to 11 years. Lease terms are
negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range
of different terms and conditions. The lease agreements
do not impose any covenants, but leased assets may not
be used as security for borrowing purposes.

Additions to the right-of-use assets during the year ended
31 December 2023 were approximately HK$89,626,000
(2022: HK$364,391,000).

During the year ended 31 December 2023, total cash
outflow for leases of approximately HK$161,956,000
(2022: HK$229,479,000).

AEBEESHEYSE - T LEDRE
B BRBEREE - BEAHNRE
22N EMEEHR AL - HE
MR DI ERIER Eim - YREE
BARA R RIGEHE - BERHETE
MEIMERRR S - EREEETSRE
EEMER -

HE2023F 12 A31BILFE  HAE
®) {5 R i & E 4 589,626,000 7 7T
(2022 £ : 364,391,000 7T) °

HE2023F12 831 HILFE  HE
KI8T 42 B8 49 2 161,956,000 75
7T (2022 £ : 229,479,000387T) °
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35 Deferred income

e B HRRME

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

35 IRIEWA

2023 2022

2023 F 2022 F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET Tt

Deferred income FEIEA 238,033 259,120

On fulfilment of its obligations, the deferred revenue is
recognized in revenue in the period when the performance
obligations are fulfilled. HK$161,701,000 was recognized as
revenue in 2023 (2022: HK$100,595,000) that was included in
the deferred income balance as at the beginning of the year.

(i)  Unsatisfied long-term fixed price contracts

The following tables includes revenue expected to
be recognised in the future related to performance
obligations that are unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied
as 31 December 2023. The Group does not disclose the
amount of the transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligations for contracts with an original
expected duration of one year or less.

EBRTEKR ETRATEEND
BHEBHHBMERBRA-
161,701,000 7 7T 2023 F 1R A UL
A (2022 % : 100,595,000 7T) © %
WA B S AF AR EEWARREE o

(i)

AETTHEIE B K
B

TR BIETEH S 7 R R AR R B
HE2023F12 A1 B K E
TR RBITHEHNELE
BRI A - NEE W ERE D
B T RTEHA A H — sk A T &Y
BHNHBTETEANRZE
TEEHE o

2023 2022

2023 F 2022 F

HK$'000 HK$'000

THERT AT

Within 1 year —FR 221,059 250,356
More than 1 year —F P 157,371 100,430
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36 Notes to consolidated statement of cash 36

flows

(a) Cash (used in)/generated from operations

Reconciliation of loss before income tax to cash (used in)/

generated from operations

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

e (PR /P

Sk kA

B P15 T A B3 18 62

(FR) /P8R HER

2023 2022
2023 2022
HK$000 HK$'000
TEx TR
Loss before income tax BRETSRATER (318,337) (417813)
Depreciation and amortisation WEREH 315,104 374,317
Impairment of intangible assets BYEERE - 1,204
Share-based compensation expense NRGEIFOEERS 4,137 9174
Provision for impairment of accounts receivable [E W BRTR B A 18,072 38,467
Reversal of provision for impairment of MRS R E R AR D
accounts receivable (311) (66,919)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment HENE  BEKREER 1,424 5,374
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment HEME « BERRERE (4,741) (18,602)
Gain on disposal of intangible assets HEERAENE (680) -
Gain on disposal of right-of-use assets HEFREEERS (24,900) (994)
Gain on bargain purchase HENR (12,947) =
Gain on disposal of joint venture HEAEMENE (441) =
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HERBA R4S (3,610) -
Share of profits less losses of joint ventures BLeatRarAEE 457 (1,430)
Share of profits less losses of associates BN RRFAEE 12,610 9,056
Fair value loss on investment properties RENENTEEE 34,285 6,276
Interest income FISWA (55,246) (56,260)
Interest expense HERAZ 37174 44,395
Investment income RERA (1,387) (2,917)
Fair value (gains)/losses on financial assets at EATEEBER RN BEEN
fair value through profit or loss ATE (Kas) /BB (4,291) 29,063
Reversal of tax provision for the disposal of financial & &R A T (A B8R0
assets and liabilities at fair value through BREERBENT ARG
profit or loss - (74,185)
Provision for impairment in other assets 2t ZERERE 28,694 11,739
Impairment of investment in associates R ER BRI ERE - 8,031
Decrease/(increase) in other long-term assets HiRHEERD,/ () 434 (17777)
Decrease in accounts receivable FEMERR D 210,105 166,001
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments, deposits and BB - e RAMEKZIE
other receivables (#m /Ed (133,799) 549,125
Decrease in inventories FERD 866 Ul
Decrease in amounts due from related companies G NG ) 8,422 7793
Decrease/(increase) in self-produced programmes BEEERD,/ (3Bh0) 7,839 (1,786)
Decrease in accounts payable, other payables ERER - EtEIFERE 7B
and accruals ViR (142,084) (391,939)
(Decrease)/increase in deferred income ETRA GRd) /2 (18,626) 95,694
Cash (used in)/generated from operations meEw (iR /08 E (41,777) 305,158
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36 Notes to consolidated statement of cash 36 LKEBHSRERMET (B)
flows (Continued)
(b) The reconciliation of liabilities arising from b) BMEEBELNABEY
financing activities is as follows: BRa0 T -
Loans from Loans from
non-controlling  non-controlling
Bank Bank  shareholdersof shareholders of
borrowings borrowings subsidiaries subsidiaries Lease
(current) (non-current) (current) (non-current) liabilities Total
KA HEAR
FERRR FERRR
#iTRE #ikE RIEH RUE
(R&) (#78) (R8) (#r8) HEER Eh
HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn T TEn TEn TEn TEn

Year ended 31 December 2023 HZ2023%

12A3ALFE
At1 January 2023 R2BE1A1H 6,534 1,692 144,606 3221 839,628 1,024,731
Cash flows ReiE
- inflow from financing -BEEDA
activities 59,717 - - - - 59,717
- outflow from financing -BEEIRL
activities 11,346) (1,692) (4,860) - (143,449) (161,347)
Nor-cash changes Fheg
- Accquisiton - leases -E-E - - - - 89,626 89,626
- Disposal and modification - BERET - - - - (68,520) (68520
- Disposal of subsidiaries - HENELR - - - (21,780) - (21,780)
- Currency translations - RihE - - 616 653 10,263 1153
At 31 December 2023 R2023E12A31H 54,905 - 140,362 11,144 727548 933,959
Year ended 31 December 2022 BZ202E
2R3 ALEE
At 1 January 2022 RNNE1A1H 140,078 1740 351,579 35491 820,747 1,349,635
Cash flows ReiE
- inflow from financing -REEBRA
activities 5,144 - - - - 5144
- outflow from financing -BEESRL
activities (143,155 (57) (16,115) = (206,785) (366,112)
Non-cash changes FReg
- Acquisiton - leases -hg-1g - - - - 364,391 364,391
- Currency translations - RihE 4,467 9 (37379) (3220) (93,859) (129,982)
- Other -4 = = = - (44,866) (44,866)
- Reclassification - B8 - - (163.479) - - (163.479)
At 31 December 2022 R202E12A31H 6,534 1,692 144,606 3221 839,628 1,024,731
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37 Transactions with non-controlling interests

378

(a)

As at 31 December 2023, the Group's equity interest
in PNM increased to 54.68% (as at 31 December
2022: 54.49%) as a result of the repurchase of 42,585
American Depositary Shares (“ADS" each representing
48 Class A ordinary shares of PNM) by PNM under
the PNM Repurchase Program. Upon the expiry of the
implementation period of the PNM Repurchase Program
on 27 February 2024, PNM completed the repurchase of
an aggregate of 120,981 ADS, whereby the Group's equity
interest in PNM was further increased to 55.04%.

In December 2022, two wholly-owned subsidiaries of the
Company have completed the acquisition of additional
24,658,370 shares of PMM Beijing, representing
16.01% equity interests in PMM Beijing, which resulted
a reduction in non-controlling interests amounting to
HK$73,100,000. PMM Beijing remained as a subsidiary
of the Company upon the completion of the acquisition,
with the Group's shareholding interest in PMM Beijing
increasing from 45.54% to approximately 61.55%.

During the year, the Group's equity interest in PMM
Beijing increased from 61.55% to 62.22% as a result of
acquisiton of additional interest.

In August 2022, the Group's equity interest in 1t /BIE
HFRBXBR AT increased from 52.25% to 77.91% as a
result of share transfer, which result an increase in non-
controlling interests amounting to HK$3,800,000. 4t
BEZHFRHETAR AR remained as a subsidiary of the
Company upon the completion of the share transfer.

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

37 HEIFEREZRZRXS

H 2£2023F 128318 B R
B2\ 57 158 B AR 5 o A B BE (Bl 5T
E108 5 42,585 & =R FEFEAR 7
([ERTEERG ] - FRRFK L8
REE B RS ASEERAR) - A
SERBEFEENRAERS
¥ £54.68% ( 1202212 A
31H :54.49%) - #IFEERE D
FrEIM B REHAN 2024 5 2 A 27
HE|E1e - BET R TR
Bl & 120,981 J% = B 78 5T iR
1 B R BRI R AR
i — 18 E55.04% ©

R2022F 128 WA &N A
AW 2 &M E A A 5 KEE
R BE# ™ 24,658,370 %
B (454t = BB &P i A%
16.01%) -+ B 3 IE 5 AR 1 2 Rk
4>73,100,0007 7 - 2 K 1t
REEE T EERETAE
ERBEREBTINABERR RN
oy =R PN S E T o g
75 FA45.54%1E N ZE 4961.55% ©

RERA - EREREIMER M E
B BN 3L R B R ER T A%
AHEZEH61.55%1%562.22% °

R2022F 8 H + FAREEZEM
BYAEERERBERETR
AR A 7 #) AR #E H52.25%
WET7791% + BHFEER RS
# 503,800,000/ 7T © BER
AR iEeE ek 1% - b B R
FREFEERARNABERAR
B AR o
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38 Commitments

(a)

Service charges

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had committed
service charges payable in relation to transponder and
transmission under various agreements as follows:

38
(a)

e B HRRME

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

R &

R2023F12A31H ' A&EHE
RIET R kA EE s ME
B2 RN EAEREEOT ¢

2023 2022

2023 F 2022 F

HK$'000 HK$'000

THET THETT

Not later than one year TER—5F 10,549 10,573
Later than one year and ER—FETNERASE

not later than five years 1,758 12,335

12,307 22,908

Operating leases as lessee

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had rental
commitments under various short- term and low-value
operating leases. Total future minimum lease payments
payable in respect of land and buildings, LED panels and
other equipment under non-cancellable operating leases

(b)

EREBEANEEHE

K2023F12A318 ' "B
BIEZ DG REEELEM
EEAERS - TrHELE
FEBE Nzt %iEF - LED
BN M E AR 2 R PRFEST

are as follows: RIEBSAEMNT ¢
2023 2022
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTERT FAT
Not later than one year TER—F 5,997 7.029

Later than one year and BN —FETERRSF

not later than five years 11,346 21,448
17,343 28,477
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38 Commitments (Continued) 38 &iE (/&)
(c) Operating leases as lessor (c) 1EREMBANKEHEE
As at 31 December 2023, the Group had contracted with M2023F12A318 ' A&
its tenants for future aggregate minimum lease rental B L E A P gt AR A
under non-cancellable operating leases as follows: HENREREHERSEE
FEREHWT
2023 2022
2023 2022 4
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHTT
Not later than one year TER—5F 10,786 7740
Later than one year and ER—FENERRE
not later than two years 11,692 7324
Later than two years and ERMEETERASE
not later than five years 18,036 18,235
40,514 33,299
(d) Capital commitments (d) BEAEIE
As at 31 December 2023, the Group had capital M2023F 128318 AEE
commitments as follows: B AAENAT ¢
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT

Contracted but not recognised as B J4ERERAEE
liabilities 722 -

380



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

38 Commitments (Continued)

(e)

39 Related party transactions

(i)

Other commitments (e)

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had other operating
commitments under various agreements as follows:

e ISR

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

38 A& (&)

H b AE

R2023F12A31H ' A&EHE

RIS sE H A R
T

2023 2022

2023 2022 4

HK$'000 HK$'000

THET THETT

Not later than one year TER—5F 16,225 35,075
Later than one year and BN —FETERRTF

not later than five years 37,690 14,050

53,915 49,125

In addition to those disclosed elsewhere in the financial (i)
statements, the Group had the following significant
transactions with the related parties as defined in HKAS

24 — Related Party Disclosures:

39 EREALRS

BB RREMEBOMKES
o AREEREABEAL
(ERR BB EFTEAE 245 —
BREALTRE) £17THE
ARG

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Kt FHT FAET
Service charges received/ RAESEBREEEERAR
receivable from the China (Ih%EEEEE]) &
Mobile Communication Group ~ EMIE AT (4iF8 45
Co., ("CMCC") and its [RBEEE]) WE,
subsidiaries (collectively FEUs ) R 7S B
"CMCC Group”) a, b 9,158 4,106
Service charges paid/payable M BEIEEY T, EMAER
to the CMCC Group BE a,c 3,660 5,889
Advertising sales to MABEEEETHNESHEE
the CMCC Group a, d 15,541 22,227
Key management compensation =Z&# A £ % i 17,292 26,737
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39 Related party transactions (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

382

(Continued)

Notes:

(@)  The CMCC Group, through a wholly-owned subsidiary of
China Mobile (Hong Kong) Group Limited, owns 19.68% of
the issued share capital of the Company.

(b)  Service charges received/receivable from CMCC Group
related to wireless income which are charged based on
terms specified in the agreements.

(c) Service charges paid/payable to CMCC Group related to
video cost which are charged based on terms specified in
the agreements.

(d)  Advertising sales to the CMCC Group are related to airtime

advertising and programme sponsoring on channels and
airtime advertising on giant sized light-emitting diode
panels operated by the Group.

Year end balances arising from related party transactions
as disclosed in Note 39(i) above were also disclosed in

(i)

(ii)

(&)
i3}

(a)

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

39 AREALRE (&)

TRBEEEETHEB S
(B8) EEARAFNEZE
MEB A RIEA AR RS ET
f&4519.68% 4 °

A5 B AR AR WA MR, 8 U
TR BEEN RGBT
TR E O AR ARUKER

SRSk AR SRS
hRBEEN RS E IR
R TE A0 GRS URER

AR BB REETTH RS
ENBEBAKEMKEIRE
FHEERRREGEESD

B LB EERER -

an b TR EE 39() B % 52 /9 A
HBALRPEENFRESRIT

Note 24. DEM 24 RIHE -
Key management compensation (i) EEZEBEAEMSE
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 £
HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT FAT
Salaries e 13,222 18,271
Discretionary bonuses BB B P AEAL 786 3,374
Housing allowance EEEEY 2,853 2,794
Pension costs RIRE R 1,217 1,506
Share-based compensation AR 15 SR (B B
expense (786) 792
17,292 26,737
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40 RRFRNEERBRRAR

40 Balance sheet and reserve movement of the

Company 2E
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 %
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
Assets BE
Non-current assets FRBEE
Interests in subsidiaries RETB AR RERS 157,292 157,292
Current assets REBEE
Cash and cash equivalents BEkEESEEER 170 15,835
Amounts due from subsidiaries A NG E e 1,970,011 1,970,011
1,970,181 1,985,846
Total assets HmEE 2,127473 2,143,138
Equity e
Equity attributable to owner EATEE AELER
of the Company
Share capital i@ 499,366 499,366
Reserves (Note (a)) i (MfzE (@) 965,944 969,034
Total equity mRE 1,465,310 1,468,400
Liabilities aE
Current liabilities REAE
Other payables and accruals Hth B~ 3018 K pE ST 7KIB 480 450
Amount due to a subsidiary JE A~ —FEIFfT BB A )R IE 661,683 674,288
Total liabilities HWEE 662,163 674,738
Total equity and liabilities HEZNEES 2,127,473 2,143,138
XU Wei SUN Yusheng
Director Director
E=a Ea
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40 Balance sheet and reserve movement of the
Company (Continued)

Note (a)

Movement in the reserves of the Company during the year was as

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

40 RRAFRNEERBERRAR

28 (&)
i (o

ARTRENOEBRBIT :

follows:
Employee
share-based
Share payment Retained
premium reserve earnings Total
EEURH
RAFH
BRORE MIERE REEF st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT AT FAT FAT
At 1 January 2022 "2022F1H1H 158,026 29,776 783,836 971,638
Lapse of share options R A O 2 5,795 (5,795) = =
Loss for the year FEEE - - (2,604) (2,604)
At 31 December 2022 and A2022%F12A31B K
1 January 2023 A2023F181H 163,821 23,981 781,232 969,034
Lapse of share options BENRAE IR AR 8,700 (8,700) - -
Loss for the year FEEE - - (3,090) (3,090)
At 31 December 2023 720235128310 172,521 15,281 778,142 965,944
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41 Benefits and interest of directors

Directors’ and senior management'’s
emoluments

e B RRME

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

41 EFEEFINRF=

The remuneration of every Director for the year ended 31

SEENEREEABNME

BZBEENEE2023F12 831 H1E

December 2023 is set out below: FEMMSIINAT
As director (note (i)
ERES (W)
Employer
contribution
Estimated toa
money value retirement As
Discretionary of other Housing benefit  management
Fees Salaries honus henefits allowance scheme (note ii]) Total
AfbEA Exm
HiEEH fhfkar BHEAGTE  fFREEE
he £ A SREE o (HEE i) E2h)
HKS'00! HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tin T Thn TiEn Thn Tin Thn Thn
1 XU Wei - - - - - - 3414 3414
2 SUN Yusheng - - - - - - 3410 3410
71k
3 HO Chiu King, Pansy Catiina - - - - - - - -
&g
4 SUN Guang - - - - - - - -
5 JIAN Qin (resigned on 29 June 2023) - - - - - - - -
%8 (R0BE6R29A%)
6 WANG Haixia - - - - - - - -
i
7 LEUNG Hok Lim 250 - - - - - - 250
8 Thaddeus Thomas BECZAK 250 - - - - - - 250
9 FANG Fenglei 250 - - - - - - 250
HEE
10 ZHOU Longshan 50 - - - = . - 250
R
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41 Benefits and interest of directors (Continued)

Directors’ and senior management'’s

emoluments (Continued)

The remuneration of every Director for the year ended

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

41 EEENRAE (&)

&

SEENMEREEA BB
(#%&)

BZBEFENEE2022F12 831 H1E

31 December 2022 is set out below: FEMMSIINAT
As director (note (i)
feaES (W)
Employer
contribution
Estimated toa
money value retirement As
Discretionary of other Housing benefit  management
Fees Salaries bonus Hb?ﬁ gfits allowance scheme (note (i) Total
i f
g e RITEAL 25 FE=H {Em (HzE (i) 3t
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Fin T Tin Tin B Tin Thn Thn
1 XUWei - - - - - - 3059 3,069
it
2 SUN Yusheng - - - - - - 3409 3409
Bik
3 HO Chiu King, Pansy Catiina - - - - - - - -
fis
4 SUN Guang - - - - - - - -
i
5 JIAN Qin - - - - - - - -
%9
6 WANG Haixia - - - - - - - -
148
7 LEUNG Hok Lim 250 - - - - - - 250
RER
8 Thaddeus Thomas BECZAK 250 - - - - - - 250
9 FANG Fenglei 250 - - - - - - 250
hRE
10 ZHOU Longshan 250 - - - - - - 250
ol
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41 Benefits and interest of directors (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

The amounts represented emoluments paid or receivable
in respect of a person's services as a director, whether of
the Company or its subsidiary undertakings.

The amounts represented emoluments paid or receivable
in respect of a person’s other services in connection
with the management of the affairs of the Company
or its subsidiary undertakings and included salaries,
discretionary bonuses, employer’s contributions to
retirement benefit schemes, housing allowance and
value of the share option. The value of the share options
granted to the directors of the Company under the share
option schemes of the Company represents the fair value
of these options charged to the consolidated income
statement for the year in accordance with HKFRS 2.

No director waived or agreed to waive any emoluments
during the year.

During the year, no emoluments, retirement benefits, payments
or benefits in respect of termination of directors’ services
were paid or made, directly or indirectly, to the directors; nor
are any payable (2022: Nil). No consideration was provided to
or receivable by third parties for making available directors’
services (2022: Nil). There are no loans, quasi-loans or other
dealings in favour of the directors, their controlled bodies
corporate and connected entities (2022: None).

e B HRRME

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

41 EEEMNRAZE (F)

) FHBERRAXAERESR
(TimRA R A RN B DR
BF) MRHORYE  XHT
ZARFB - HREARRZF
B4 i W B 0 37 B =

(il FHEARAXAEEER
ARR (HEMBLZE) OF
BEBENBER T RENEMD
R X TFRANEHBH - X
7% A P B % 55 AR 7 1T WO B 38
B YemRHs  BISERD
TEAL ~ R ERRRTE A &I
R BERRM  ARE
BRIENEE - REBEARRNE
BAEET IR T AR R EENE
PRHEMEE KRIEEBRE
REREM B REEAE25
RERGZEWER MR H R F
&

(i) BMEEENFAREXRFRBNR
REMME -

FRN - WEAEEEESMES R
EEBERARIEEEFRBOME - RIK
A~ ARk FIRS  INEE AR E
ERIE (20226 © &) - WERLER
HEERBE ML TE=—EARE=FA
PR E = R M UEA KB (2022
FHE) WERNEE ZIEEN
SERIREAEERE HEEBED
NERREUER  kBEZEAL
MEAMR S (20224 : ) o

387



Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited BIE#RRE (2R) BRAF

Annual Report 2023

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e T ERR MR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

42

388

Business Combination

Beijing Phoenix Huibo Media Company Limited* (formerly
known as Beijing Huibo Advertisement and Media Company
Limited*), an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of the Company
entered into equity transfer agreements and a supplemental
agreement with Shenzhou Television Company Limited* (f#/1{&
12ERAF]) (“Shenzhou”) and Beijing Erya Far East Advertising
Co., Ltd. to acquire 100% equity interests of Phoenix Intelligent
Media (Beijing) Technology Cultural Company Limited* (formerly
known as Beijing Huizhi Bozhong Public Relations Consultancy
Company Limited*) (“Phoenix Intelligent”), Shenzhen Phoenix
Star Cultural Industrial Company Limited* (“Phoenix Star”)
and Shanghai Huibo Hengxin Film and Television Cultural
Development Company Limited* (formerly known as Shanghai
Phoenix Shenzhou Film and Television Cultural Development
Company Limited*) (“Huibo Hengxin”), and 70% equity
interests of Guangdong Yidai Media Advertising Company
Limited* (“Guangdong Yidai”) at an aggregate consideration
of RMB15,500,000 (HK$17,733,000) and contingent tax
consideration of RMB18,944,000 (HK$21,802,000) (the
“Acquisition(s)”). Each of the Acquisitions has been completed
on 3 January 2023, 1 February 2023, 8 February 2023 and 8
March 2023 respectively.

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

42 ¥EKE6t

ARARREEZEN B QA=A
BEUEREEAR AR (A : 4L 50E
BESEEARAR) BN ERE
RAR ([M]) RIERBEfERRE
EHREMER AR LREEE &
Mt LWIREREE S & (4t
) B bERAE (A : b5
ESBRABEBEREERAR) ([EE
B ) RImERELEESR
ral([BRE]) REESERESY
BXALEREBR AR (FIFE : L/EE
BEREMNEE L ERBRAF])
([EHEIESE]) A100% A #E LA & &
R—REEEEERAA ([ER—
K1) B970% it - ERERBARE
15,500,000 7 (17733,0007 JT) M
A ISR E AR 18,944,000 7T
(21,802,00087T) ([WEEEIAE]) - &
WEEEEE H RN 2023F 1 A3H
202342 A1H 20232 A88H &
202343 A8 HREM °

Aggregate consideration of the acquisition transactions is as WIS ETEMARENT ¢
follows:

HK$'000

FAT

Cash consideration RERE 17,733
Contingent consideration (Note) HARAE (F3E) 21,802
Total 39,5635
Note: F3E

Pursuant to the supplemental agreement dated 23 December 2022, the
Group is required to bear taxation and fee arising from the Acquisition
which may be imposed by the tax authorities on Shenzhou. The
amount of contingent consideration is subject to assessment of the tax
authorities.

* For identification purpose only

1R B i /A20224E12 23 B Rt
7 52 [ 78 AR R TR A A A BT A [R) AR M B A
WEEEMEENBIERER - AANRE
SRR TISHLRERT (S -

* EHER
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42 Business Combination (Continued)

The recognized amounts of identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed as at the respective dates of such

e B HRRME

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

42 EHKE0 (B)

HESZFURENB S - P
B & B K P AHE B 8 O B R SR IR AN

acquisitions are as follow: N
Fair value
NEE
HK$'000
FAT
Investment property B 43,038
Property, plant and equipment Y - WE k& 13,811
Accounts receivable, prepayments, FEUWBRSR » TERRIR - e REALERGRIE
deposits and other receivables 6,923
Accounts payable, other payables FERTRRER ~ Eofth FE T3R8 K e+ &
and accruals (52,780)
Cash and cash equivalents Re kRS FEEE 50,473
Deferred income tax liabilities BLEEHAaRE (12,680)
Other assets and liabilities HiwEERAE 3,350
Net identifiable assets acquired P i ] 3 Bl B EE A 52,135
Add: non-controlling interest n o SRR RS 347
Less: gain on bargain purchase B RERE SR ER B WS
recognized in the consolidated income
statement (12,947)
Total #Et 39,535

(i)

Acquired receivables

The fair value of acquired accounts receivable is
HK$4,820,000. The gross contractual amount for accounts
receivable due is HK$6,577,000, with a loss allowance of
HK$1,757000 recognised on acquisition.

Accounting policy choice for non-controlling
interest

The Group recognises non-controlling interests in an
acquired entity either at fair value or at the non-controlling
interest’s proportionate share of the acquired entity's net
identifiable assets. This decision is made on an acquisition-
by-acquisition basis. For the non-controlling interest in
Guangdong Yidai, the Group elected to recognise the
non-controlling interest at its proportionate share of the
acquired net identifiable assets. See note 2(c)(i)(a) for the
Group’s accounting policies for business combinations.

(i) FrUEEEUKIR

Frik B ek IBE 2 R E A
4,820,0007% T o ZI| B JE H 5K
IH 2 & #) % /6,577000%8
T WERERZEERER
1,757000 78 7T °

(i) FEIERXIER

NEBIE A FESRIRIEE R E
moMH BB RN EE
FEMLLAIEREREER
RIS o REERT
BWEIEL - MER —RZIE
TR AEERERES
AT AT B EEFEM L
PlTERIEIE R - BEAARSE
BEBKEHZESTBRRBLHE
MIFE2(c)()a) °

GETHR
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42 Business Combination (Continued) 42 ¥BE0F ()
(i) Revenue and loss contribution (i) WA KEEEER
The acquired business contributed revenues of 202312 A31H Ik B A -
HK$59,276,000 and net loss of HK$5,682,000 to the Fri i 7% AR S B B BRI
Group for the period from the acquisition date to 31 59,276,000 7T K /&5 18 % %
December 2023. 5,682,000/8 T °
If the acquisition had occurred on 1 January 2023, fis W2 BE 8% A& pA20235F 1 A1
the pro-forma revenue and loss for the year ended 31 H Bl& £20234F12 A31H
December 2023 would have been HK$2,472,283,000 and IFFEMEZSRAREREK
HK$334,882,000 respectively. These amounts have been 2 Bl 52,472,283,0007% 7T &
calculated using the subsidiaries’ results and adjusting 334,882,000 T ° 2 E & ¥
them for: TIREH B AR EETES
W MR RE S IR TR
e  (differences in the accounting policies between the o AEE EKT B A RS
Group and the subsidiaries, and RZER R
. the additional depreciation that would has been . fR 5% B2023%1818
charged assuming the fair value adjustments to BRI - B KRR E
property, plant and equipment had applied from 1 RAATFERAE  BEAR
January 2023, together with the consequential tax SNITEE B R DA SR AB R R 75
effects. =7
Net cash inflow on acquisition of subsidiaries WEEEIB 2B SR AFRE
HK$'000
FAT
Cash consideration ReNRE 17,733
Less: cash and cash equivalent balances & : EEAIR S MRS SEEAB 5%
acquired (50,473)
Net cash inflow on acquisition of WHEETE 2 &M A TR
subsidiaries (32,740)
Acquisition-related costs Wi AR RARC A
Acquisition-related costs of HK$419,000 that were not directly WIEE H BN 1T < W B HE RS
attributable to the issue of shares are included in “selling, 75 419,000 8 LAt AR A Bz R P
general and administrative expenses” in the consolidated [$HE « —MRITBER] URGEER
income statement and in operating cash flows in the EMERIEEHERE -

consolidated statement of cash flows.
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Business Combination (Continued)

Gain on bargain purchase on acquisition of subsidiaries
amounting to HK$12,947.000 is recognized in the consolidated
income statement. Shenzhou has been appointed by the Group
as its non-exclusive agent in the PRC to provide services to the
Group as well as to conduct certain other non-core businesses
for and on behalf of the Group (such services and businesses
include, but are not limited to, advertising sale, TV programmes
and content production and those services and/or businesses
as provided or conducted by Phoenix Intelligent, Phoenix Star,
Huibo Hengxin and Guangdong Yidai (collectively, the “Acquired
Companies”)). When the businesses become mature and
stable, it will be more economical for the Group to conduct
the same on its own and therefore, the Group has decide to
terminate the appointment of Shenzhou in those fields. As
such, the Acquired Companies (together with the equipment,
assets and labour force thereunder) become redundant for
Shenzhou.

Shenzhou does not need to close down the Acquired
Companies and dispose of their equipment, assets and labour
force in a piecemeal fashion which may otherwise incur
considerable time and costs, which resulted a gain on bargain
purchase under the Acquisitions.

Subsequent event

On 15 December 2023, the Company proposed to implement
the Share Consolidation and the change in board lot size for
trading on the Stock Exchange from 2,000 then existing shares
to 1,000 Consolidated Shares.

On 6 February 2024, the Shareholders approved the Share
Consolidation at an extraordinary general meeting of the
Company and the Share Consolidation became effective on 20
February 2024.

Immediately after the Share Consolidation which became
effective on 20 February 2024, the authorized share capital
of the Company became HK$1,000,000,000 and was divided
into 1,000,000,000 Consolidated Shares of par value HK$1.00
each, of which 499,365,950 Consolidated Shares were in issue
as fully paid or credited as full paid and the board lot size for
trading on the Stock Exchange became 1,000 Consolidated
Shares.
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e B HRRME

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)
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AkBEEBEBELE2ZEKRE A
12,947.0007%8 7t B R 4r & W = K 7
R mMNEAEBRZEAENFPEEN
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REAEEFRES THMIEZOER
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BEE EELE - - EFESZENER—
R(GHEBWBLAT]) BEHEHRE
HIIRTS I /ST ) o B EEKARTE
% AEBETHRESHEFEK
SRS o PRI AN B [ R TE AR L S A
RZEBENEE - Atk - 2WER
A GERETHRE  BEREH )
S S B EE IR

1IN BRRRE W A R S B BT
METALERRE  BERSEH N
BRAIFTREERBEAERE LKA - I
BHELBEFTENRERE W -

HIRETE

MR2023% 128160 AR RIEZE
HERDEG  WERBRMEENS
FEEE(Ir 2,000 E IR A KD
B A& 1,000 A GERD ©

MN2024F2 A6 R RERARATMR
REFRIKE EHOERMD A G MDD
A 2024F2 A20 B4R -

Z MR DA FF R2024F2 820
BAERE  KRDRARZEEBRAD
X /41,000,000,000/8 JT° 9 A
1,000,000,000 A% & A% M & 1.00 7 7T
Z BB » E 499,365,950 A
HIRHBEET  UADEBERARE
IR MR XEENSFE
& BRI 1,000 IRA AR ©
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